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Preface

The Roman empress Galla Placidia witnessed the decline and fall of 
the Roman Empire. It was a horrible time to be alive. Born the daughter of 
emperor Theodosius I, she watched the barbarian king Alaric and his horde 
of Visigoth warriors sack the city of Rome. They were the first invaders to 
breach its walls in over five hundred years. The barbarians slaughtered many 
of the city’s inhabitants. Alaric departed with much of Rome’s treasure and 
many captives. Galla Placidia was his greatest prize. He took her as his hos-
tage; he planned to use her to force the Roman emperor to give the Visigoths 
a homeland in Europe. If the king refused to negotiate, Alaric could murder 
her. Unfortunately, her half-brother, then the ruler of the western half of the 
Roman Empire, abandoned her.

For six years, the Visigoths forced Galla Placidia to march with them 
throughout Europe. During her captivity, she watched Alaric’s men murder 
countless Romans and plunder numerous cities and villages. Then, after his 
death, she married the new Visigoth king. Her improbable rise from prisoner 
to barbarian royalty makes her among the most intriguing historical figures 
of the ancient world. This, however, is not the end of her story.

After the death of her barbarian spouse, Galla Placidia suffered greatly 
as the Visigoths refused to release her and nearly murdered her. After she 
regained her freedom, her half-brother, still the emperor, forced her to marry 
his leading general. Soon after her wedding, Galla Placidia helped her new 
husband became co-ruler of the Western Roman Empire. She assisted both 
monarchs in governing Europe and North Africa. Her powers were so un-
precedented that she helped resolve a papal schism when she played a major 
role in the selection of the pope. After her second spouse died, Galla Placidia 
successfully led an army on a campaign to defeat a usurper. She placed her 
six-year-old son on the throne and ruled the Western portion of the Roman 
Empire on his behalf for fourteen years. She was the only female to govern the 
Roman Empire alone. Despite her many unprecedented accomplishments, 
her greatest feat was perhaps reaching old age.

During her lifetime, Galla Placidia witnessed countless murders,  
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endured several sieges, survived numerous battles, nearly perished at sea 
three times, and faced starvation on several occasions. Domestic intrigue and 
family quarrels nearly took her life: her daughter threatened the Roman Em-
pire when she proposed to Attila the Hun. In her final years, Galla Placidia 
literally watched her society collapse. This book tells the remarkable story of 
her life and the decline and fall of one of history’s greatest empires through 
eyewitness accounts of those who, along with Galla Placidia, lived during this 
terrible period.

A Personal Reflection

I became interested in Galla Placidia’s amazing life and the tragic story 
of the Roman Empire’s decline and fall during my time in Cold War Berlin, 
where I was stationed as a soldier in the U.S. Army. Spending all my leave trav-
elling to the ancient sites of the Roman Empire and other civilizations in the 
Middle East and Europe, I decided to dedicate my life to the study of antiquity. 
Reading all the books on the Roman Empire I could find while living in An-
drews Barracks in Berlin, formerly occupied by the soldiers of Hitler’s body-
guard, the dreaded Schutzstaffel (“Protection Squadron,” commonly known by 
the abbreviation S.S.), I found a brief account of Galla Placidia’s life by chance 
in a book about the Roman Empire’s decline and fall. I could not put it down.

After my military service, I spent nearly two and one-half years travel-
ling full time to various sites of the ancient world. During that time, I also 
worked as an archaeologist in the Middle East and Europe. What particularly 
fascinated me were the ruins of the once great Roman cities and the poor 
quality of artifacts I excavated from sites of Galla Placidia’s lifetime. I decided 
that one day I would tell her story in a popular format so that anyone, not 
merely academics, could read about this amazing woman and the fascinating 
period in which she lived.

In this book, I have tried to avoid the often esoteric and boring scholarly 
debates that pervade the halls of contemporary academia. Instead, I prefer to 
let those who were there describe what it was like to live during the Roman 
Empire’s final years. Reconstructing Galla Placidia’s story has been difficult, 
for the male chroniclers of her age were reluctant to praise her or recount 
her accomplishments. Consequently, I had to use many fragments of ancient 
documents and biased depictions of her to reconstruct much of her life and 
her accomplishments. It was like trying to piece together a giant jigsaw puzzle 
in which most of the pieces are missing. Fortunately, I found many unknown 
treasures in my search.

Poring through countless dusty academic tomes and historical writings 
in ancient Latin and Greek, as well as several modern languages, my boredom 
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was occasionally broken by the joy of uncovering something new about Galla 
Placidia. What surprised me was not merely the extent to which she shaped 
her world, but the great degree to which she helped create ours as well. This 
is perhaps most evident in her faith. This book is the first to document in 
full how she shaped Christianity and in the process created the form of this 
religion practiced today.

Christianity was in its infancy as the official religion of the Roman Em-
pire during Galla Placidia’s lifetime. Its doctrines and teachings were still 
being defined. Readers will find its practices quite surprising as it was a reli-
gion permeated with pagan beliefs and rituals. Galla Placidia played a major 
and overlooked role in the creation of modern Christianity. She helped select 
a pope and strong-armed bishops to yield to her will. Prominent clerics and 
others, including men the Church still considers saints, sought her counsel. 
She even became regarded as a saint. Yet, tragically, today few know her name 
or much about her dangerous age.

An Ancient but Modern Story

Although the Roman Empire fell over 1,500 years ago, the story of its 
final century, when Galla Placidia lived, appears very modern. She dealt with 
problems that plague our contemporary world such as wars, immigration, 
racism, economic downturns, inept government officials, political corrup-
tion, changing values, religious violence, and sexism. The lesson of the late 
Roman Empire of Galla Placidia’s day is that any feeling of security is an illu-
sion; danger is always lurking around the corner waiting to pounce upon us. 
For this reason, the study of history helps us to understand our own time by 
showing that human nature has not changed. Leaders of each era continue 
to make the same mistakes as their predecessors while citizens all too often 
blindly follow them. Yet, on rare occasions, individuals emerge to alter the 
circumstances of their age. The late Roman Empire is one such period, when 
Galla Placidia overcame incredible odds to survive countless wars, captivity, 
and violence to take power and postpone the Roman Empire’s fall. She not 
only preserved her society, but she changed our present world. I hope you 
find as much pleasure reading this book about her remarkable and largely 
forgotten story as I have had in writing it.
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Introduction:  
A Remarkable Life

“Thrown to the dogs for food; many taken by animals and 
given up to the funeral pyre. Through rows of houses and 
villas, through the countryside and the marketplace, through 
all the regions, and on all the roads, virtually everywhere, 
there was death, anguish, destruction, burning, and mourn-
ing. All Gaul reeked like a funeral pyre.”

—Bishop Orientus of Auch describing the barbarian  
invasion of central Europe that began in 407 ce  

when Galla Placidia was fourteen years old1

Bishop Orientus’s graphic description of the barbarian invasions of Eu-
rope is shocking. He, like Galla Placidia, literally watched one of history’s 
most long-lasting and mightiest empires collapse and disappear. Those who 
were there found that mere words were insufficient to convey the horrors of 
what they had seen and experienced. Galla Placidia was among them. Al-
though she witnessed the Roman Empire’s decline and fall, she played a major 
role in postposing its demise and takeover by barbarian tribes. Politicians, 
soldiers, and ordinary citizens looked to her for leadership during this per-
ilous time. Few today know the name of this remarkable woman, once re-
garded as a saint, or the tragic story of how the Roman Empire ended.

Why Did the Roman Empire Decline and Fall?

Scholars have proposed over 200 theories to explain the decline and fall 
of the Roman Empire. While some are plausible, many are simply ridiculous. 
The most improbable are those that attribute its collapse to blood poisoning, 
culinary excess, degeneration of the intellect, the aging of its population, hu-
bris, inertia, lead poisoning, psychoses, and soil erosion. Some of the more 
probable hypotheses postulated for the Roman Empire’s decline and fall em-
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phasize the negative impacts of the barbarian invasions, frequent civil wars, 
rampant political corruption, and the increasing refusal of Roman citizens to 
serve in the military.2

Speculation over how such a great civilization ended is not new. It began 
immediately after Galla Placidia witnessed the barbarians sack the city of 
Rome in 410 ce. Her contemporary and acquaintance, Saint Augustine, wrote 
a monumental tome known as the City of God to answer this question. He 
tried to persuade Christians that God had decreed an end to all nations, in-
cluding the Roman Empire. Christians, he insisted, belonged to a new state: 
a heavenly city that God would soon create on earth. He and many of his 
contemporaries were convinced that the Visigoth sack of Rome and Galla 
Placidia’s captivity marked the beginning of God’s new kingdom, and Jesus’s 
imminent return.

Although modern scholars recognize the important role of religion in 
Roman society, and the frequent conflicts it spawned, they tend to look for 
more secular explanations to account for the Roman Empire’s decline and 
fall. The most influential book to explore this topic is the British historian Ed-
ward Gibbon’s multi-volume work, The History of the Decline and Fall of the 
Roman Empire.3 Gibbon believed the Roman Empire’s citizens had lost their 
civic values that had united them for centuries. He insisted that the barbarian 
invasions and the adoption of Christianity ultimately destroyed what was left 
of the Roman Empire.4

Many contemporary scholars have put forth a more positive interpre-
tation of Galla Placidia’s world than Gibbon’s dark, violent, and anti–Chris-
tian portrayal of life in the late Roman Empire. This effort has spawned the 
creation of a new field of academic study dubbed by its practitioners as “Late 
Antiquity.” This school of thought views the period from 200 ce to 800 ce—
including the early Islamic era—as an age that was characterized by a vibrant 
religious and cultural debate.5 It replaces words Gibbon used to describe this 
time like “decline” and “crisis” with innocuous terms such as “transition” and 
“change” to put a more positive spin on Galla Placidia’s era.

Many scholars now view the period of Late Antiquity as an age of grad-
ual transformation of Roman society in Europe where barbarians joined with 
the local Roman elites to control restive peasants and prevent further hos-
tile foreign incursions. According to this new perspective that pervades the 
halls of academia, the barbarians helped create a new world from the ashes of 
the Roman Empire. The civilization they fashioned laid the foundations for 
the creation of modern Europe and our contemporary world.6 If true, then 
should we praise the barbarians?

The explanation for the end of the Roman Empire offered by proponents 
of the Late Antiquity school of thought is perhaps more politically correct 
and comforting than the ancient and traditional view, which maintains that 
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chaos and decline characterized the final centuries of the Roman Empire. 
Yet, this radical new academic perspective ignores the facts of Galla Placid-
ia’s age, the period scholars refer to as the Late Roman Empire.7 During this 
period, from 250 ce to 476 ce, European society underwent great social and 
cultural changes that ultimately destroyed it. For those who lived during this 
turbulent era, life was harsh as the state could no longer protect its citizens or 
provide for them.

At the beginning of the fifth century ce, shortly after Galla Placidia’s 
birth, the Roman Empire possessed a massive army that likely exceeded 
200,000 men. In 476 ce—the traditional date for the end of the Roman Em-
pire when the barbarians deposed the last of its rulers, Romulus Augustu-
lus—the Roman army was effectively gone.8

It is true that much of the turmoil that plagued Galla Placida’s era was 
self-inflicted. The Romans brought a great deal of trouble upon themselves 
through their unjust treatment of the barbarians. Their decision to accept 
few barbarian immigrants and abuse them for centuries ultimately doomed 
the Roman Empire. By the time of Galla Placidia’s birth, the barbarian tribes 
were fighting back. They were determined to destroy European civilization to 
protect themselves from continued Roman efforts to exterminate them.

Although nearly a half-century of internal political and military decay 
and the mistreatment of the barbarians had greatly weakened the Roman 
Empire by the time Galla Placidia was born, the most negative effects came 
from beyond its borders during her lifetime. The impact of continuous bar-
barian migrations into the Roman Empire was overwhelmingly destructive. 
Galla Placidia knew this first-hand: she not only witnessed the Visigoths sack 
Rome, but she spent several years as their prisoner. The accounts of her con-
temporaries are quite frightening; everyone was scared and for good reason. 
Danger was literally everywhere. During her lifetime, Galla Placidia fought 
off a host of barbarian tribes with strange names, about whom we know little. 
She sent her armies to kill them when necessary. She also ordered the murder 
of some of her citizens who, having given up all hope, became bandits and 
preyed on the Roman Empire’s most weak and vulnerable residents.

Galla Placidia was fortunate to have survived to old age, although few 
today would envy her as she endured a lifetime of nearly constant suffering 
and conflict. Like today, immigration and foreign threats were the greatest 
problems she and her contemporaries faced. Her effort to bring peace and 
tolerance to her violent society has much to teach us.
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1

A Brutal Age

The history of humanity is the story of migration.1 This was especially 
true of Galla Placidia’s world. The Roman Empire of her day stretched from 
Scotland in northern Europe to Iraq in the East. It extended to Egypt and 
North Africa to the south, and the deserts of Arabia to the West. The Roman 
legions always experienced difficultly preventing immigrants from cross-
ing the Roman Empire’s borders. Many inhabitants of the lands beyond its 
frontier wanted to improve their lives by migrating to Europe and live in the 
Roman Empire. The Romans were often unwilling to allow them to stay.

The Romans collectively referred to the numerous groups of foreigners 
trying to enter the Roman Empire by the Greek word “barbarian” (barba-
rous). Writers such as Herodotus, Thucydides, Aeschylus, and Euripides used 
it to disparage those who spoke languages other than Greek and did not em-
brace Greek culture. It was an insult to call someone a barbarian. The Romans 
likewise used this moniker for those outside their borders who did not adopt 
the Greek or Roman lifestyles.2 The Romans of Galla Placidia’s time consid-
ered non–Romans as resources to conquer and use for the Roman Empire’s 
benefit.

The barbarians were not new to the Romans of Galla Placidia’s day. In 
the first and second centuries ce—when Christianity was struggling against 
paganism for imperial recognition—the Roman Empire faced an influx of 
nomadic Iranian speaking tribes known as the Sarmatians, as well as Ger-
manic invaders.3 The Romans largely managed to contain them. But the 
Goths were different. They were the first foreign group to enter the Roman 
Empire by force when, in 376 ce, they crossed the Danube River. They were 
not a unified civilization or race. Rather, they were an amalgam of tribes that 
sometimes banded together to face a larger enemy. They entered the Roman 
Empire in successive waves: as Goths beyond its borders heard tales of Rome’s 
riches and lavish lifestyle, they too wanted to move into Europe.

Of all the barbarian tribes the Romans collectively referred to as the 
Goths, the Visigoths were the deadliest. Galla Placidia knew this group quite 
well. In 410 ce they sacked the city of Rome and took her captive. She was 
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about seventeen years old at the time; she already had survived three sieges 
by the Visigoths. It took the Romans six years to obtain her freedom. Unable 
to prevent the Visigoths from crossing their borders; incapable of expelling 
them from their territory; often helpless against them in battle; powerless 
to stop them from taking their citizens hostage; in 419 ce, around the time 
Galla Placidia celebrated her twenty-sixth birthday, the Romans were forced 
to surrender much of western Gaul in present-day France to them. Yet, the 
Visigoths were not satisfied with such a small piece of land. Visigoths forcibly 
took large portions of south-west Gaul and nearly all of Spain: they were un-
stoppable. Unfortunately, they were the beginning of an unprecedented and 
overpowering wave of immigration that eventually destroyed the uniqueness 
of the Roman World and brought about the period often referred to as the 
Dark Ages.4 Galla Placidia was born during this brutal era. She watched bar-
barians destroy the Western Roman Empire and its capital of Rome, which 
the Romans had dubbed the “Eternal City.”5

Rome’s Lost Golden Age

Although the barbarians were the primary catalyst of the West’s down-
fall, we cannot place the blame for its demise solely upon them. Documents 
from the Roman Empire written in the mid-third century ce refer to the pe-
riod between 96 and 192 ce as an era of unprecedented prosperity, which 
scholars often call the “Golden Age.”6 The tragedy is that the Romans largely 
knew they were responsible for ending this era of tranquility and prosper-
ity. Society effectively had broken down. Government services we take for 
granted today did not exist. The state did not employ social workers or nurses 
to help those in distress. Police were virtually nonexistent; citizens increas-
ingly had to take up arms to protect their communities. Famine, malnutri-
tion, and infanticide were common.7 Many Romans suffered daily.

Violence was endemic in Galla Placidia’s society. Bishop Ambrose, 
whom she knew as a child, feared the widespread breakdown of the social in-
stitutions that had long held the Roman Empire together would adversely af-
fect his flock. Although he was among the elite, he was particularly concerned 
for the poor in his congregation. He recounts the time he witnessed an im-
poverished man forced to pay what he could not afford and then dragged to 
jail because some rich man’s table lacked wine.8 Such violence was rampant; 
penalties were excessively cruel. Citizens lost many of their former rights, 
especially the needy who, although freeborn Romans, were subject to beat-
ings by officials.9 The number of capital crimes had increased dramatically by 
Galla Placidia’s birth. Ammianus, a leading general of the late Roman Empire, 
records emperors routinely ordering tongues cut off, amputating limbs on the 
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spot, and burning men alive.10 Even Galla Placidia sanctioned the murder and 
mutilation of her foes. Rulers and bishops authorized violence against one 
another while both oppressed the common folk.11 There was often scarcely 
any difference between government officials, clergy, and criminals.

Emperors ignored the pleas of the poor: their sole focus was finding 
money to fund the Roman Empire and prevent it from financial collapse. 
Inflation was rampant; currency was routinely debased; and the government 
was often unable to pay troops in cash.12 Frequent barbarian incursions led 
much agricultural property to be withdrawn from production. Yet, in many 
areas, the excessive taxation of marginal properties forced farmers to aban-
don their fields. The fourth century ce rhetorician Libanius, the early fifth 
century ce historian Zosimus, and others, describe harrowing scenes of tax 
collectors torturing parents in front of their children to extract payment. 
They also document poor merchants responding in kind by threatening vio-
lence against imperial agents if touched.13

To prevent the reduction of taxpayers and maintain a constant flow of 
cash into the imperial treasury, Roman society, beginning in the fourth cen-
tury ce, became immobile. There were few opportunities for advancement. 
Farmers, municipal senators, civil servants, and the countless other jobs 
that any society requires to function became hereditary. A son could harbor 
no thoughts of social advancement or career fulfillment; he was required 
to follow his father’s profession. This government constraint also extended 
to the military. Sons who did not want to enlist in the imperial legion were 
required to become soldiers. Many potential recruits cut off their thumbs in 
a desperate bid to escape forced recruitment.14 To compound their misfor-
tune, military salaries and discipline declined. The only change was the tax 
rate, which continued to climb as barbarians seized portions of the Roman 
Empire. The military was powerless to stop them. No one cared; Romans of 
Galla Placidia’s day were unwilling to serve in the imperial legions to protect 
their homeland.

There is no doubt that the weakness of the Roman army in Galla Pla-
cidia’s day was largely due to the failure of the imperial authorities to enforce 
regular conscription to ensure that the legions were stocked with well-trained 
men. Military service had become so undesirable that the government largely 
ceased requiring sons of soldiers to follow in their fathers’ profession. Even-
tually the Romans stopped trying to convince men to join the armed forces. 
Galla Placidia’s son, the Emperor Valentinian III, issued an edict banning 
compulsory military service for Roman citizens. Soon afterwards, the Ro-
mans largely outsourced their military to the barbarians. The Romans ex-
pected these recruits to fight barbarians, sometimes from their own tribes to 
preserve the territorial integrity of the Roman Empire. This perplexing state 
of affairs led the Christian philosopher Synesius of Cyrene to plead that the 
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only thing that could save the Roman Empire was a nation in arms comprised 
of citizens and not hired foreign mercenaries.15

We can partly gauge the temper of Galla Placidia’s age by looking at the 
portraits of those in power. The sculptures of the rulers, who enforced Rome’s 
laws and had long provided the moral force to unify the empire, depict them 
looking quite haggard. Their grim visages show the stresses of the turbulent 
era in which they lived.16 There may be a reason for this decline in the quality 
of official statues. Usurpers were frequent and legitimate emperors were often 
assassinated. During the third century ce, so few men were able to retain 
power for long that the Roman Empire averaged an emperor per year for half 
a century. Many of these rulers died violent deaths by strangulation, dismem-
berment, and beheadings.17

Nobody was immune from violence in the Late Roman Empire. For 
this reason, rulers began to distance themselves from the common people. 
Emperors placed new companies of special guards between themselves and 
anyone seeking to approach them. Power, often left in the hands of the Senate 
and local bureaucrats, was increasing for sale. Little imperial revenue made 
its way to the common folk. Life was difficult for everyone, especially those 
entrusted with the protection of the Roman Empire’s citizens.

For men stationed along the borders of the Roman Empire adjacent 
to the barbarian tribes, or in the deserts of the Middle East in present-day 
Syria, Israel, Palestine, and Jordan, life was exceedingly harsh. Roman forts 
of Galla Placidia’s era look dismal compared to the structures her predeces-
sors had constructed.18 Archaeologists have uncovered evidence of soldiers 
cooking food in headquarter buildings, latrines in accounting and business 
offices, and storehouses remodeled for living. Civilians resided with soldiers 
as officers ignored the traditional ban against active duty military personnel 
marrying and raising families. As a cost cutting measure, emperors relocated 
legions close to cities.

After 250 ce, troops commonly wintered in towns. As one can imagine, 
these men behaved poorly. The Roman general Ammianus said that the army 
had a “lust for plunder.”19 Soldiers frequently bullied the peasants and took 
what they wanted from local citizens: towns had to supply garrisons and ab-
sorb any financial loss. Unit commanders frequently demanded special taxes 
from the locals. Violence was endemic; people in towns were afraid of those 
ostensibly sent there for their protection. The city of Dura in Syria on the Eu-
phrates River provides one example of what life was like for residents living 
on the Roman Empire’s frontier facing forced military occupation. Rental re-
cords show that military commanders brought mimes, actors, and prostitutes 
to barracks to entertain soldiers. Archaeologists’ even uncovered evidence of 
a murder in its garrison there.

As a way to maintain order and decrease the cost of the army, the Roman 
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Empire employed most of its soldiers as general contractors. This kept troops 
busy and out of trouble as well as provided cities with cheap labor. Soldiers 
built many of the aqueducts, roads, and public buildings still extant in cit-
ies throughout the Roman Empire.20 Soldiers, moreover, were also farmers. 
Tools archaeologists excavated in Roman army camps include scythes and 
sickles to produce food. This labor, which took away time from the training, 
was necessary for the Late Roman Empire as a single Roman legion, which 
on paper consisted of 5,500 men, consumed over 100 bushels of wheat each 
day.21 Such large amounts of foodstuffs were a great burden on the population 
in times of peace: during war, it was often impossible to feed both citizens 
and legionaries.

The Roman Army of Galla Placidia’s day had lost its professional edge 
because emperors used soldiers for purposes other than defense. Yet, the 
number of men-at-arms was considerable. Some scholars believe the fourth 
century ce Roman army was 50 percent, or even 100 percent, larger than it 
had been in the second century ce, the Roman Empire’s so-called Golden 
Age. In 425 ce, during Galla Placidia’s reign, a military roster known as Noti-
tia Dignitatum records that her army consisted of approximately 250,000 
men.22 For the year 400 ce, scholars suggest this inventory shows that the 
military included 435,266 soldiers; and for the year 375 ce 300,000 troops. 
Even if we accept the lowest figure for the size of the army in Galla Placidia’s 
day, it is still a sizable force. Nevertheless, the Western Roman Empire had a 
serious problem that rendered many of these armed men useless.

The combined troops of the entire Roman Empire likely numbered be-
tween 500,000 to 600,000 men. In contrast, the Visigoth king Alaric com-
manded a Gothic legion of some 40,000 warriors; the Vandal ruler Gaiseric 
led 20,000 soldiers; and the Alamanni tribe some 10,000 fighters.23 Never-
theless, the Roman Empire was so vast that it was impossible to protect it by 
deploying its legions to confront these considerably smaller invasion forces. 
By the time Galla Placidia led the Western Roman Empire, her army had 
been reorganized into frontier garrison troops known as the limitanei (sol-
diers stationed permanently on the borders) and mobile field forces called 
the comitatenses (the field army). Two-thirds of her army consisted of frontier 
troops, many of whom were second-rate in quality and fighting skills.24 When 
the Goths threatened Europe, these men were powerless to stop them.

The decision to reorganize the Roman military helped doom the Roman 
Empire. Unlike the past when the bulk of troops were simple legionaries 
armed with spear, shield, and sword, the late Roman army emphasized cav-
alry. Unfortunately, the infantry needed improvement in Galla Placidia’s time 
as barbarian forces were largely foot soldiers.

The book De Re Militari (“Concerning Military Matters”), written 
between 383 and 450 ce by the Latin writer Flavius Vegetius Renatus, is 
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among the most influential military treatises in Western history. He not only 
praises the Roman cavalry, but he also claims that it was competitive with 
barbarian-mounted troops. Nevertheless, weakness is the theme of his work: 
he urges the Roman Empire to preserve, and not expand, its territory. Vege-
tius writes of the decline in Roman infantry during the reign of the Roman 
Emperor Gratian (375–83 ce), a decade before Galla Placidia’s birth:

Because of negligence and laziness, military drills were largely abandoned, the cus-
tomary armor began to be seen as instruments of bitter sorrow: soldiers seldom wore 
it. Therefore, they asked the emperor to let them dispense with their breastplates, mail 
and helmets. Our soldiers fought the Goths without any protection for chest and head; 
they were often beaten by archers.25

Faced with such lack of discipline, poor training, and low morale, it was 
inevitable that the legions were unable to protect citizens. The Roman 
Empire was in an inevitable state of decline during Galla Placidia’s lifetime. 
Fourteen years before her birth, its army experienced its worst defeat at an 
obscure place known as Adrianople. Because we cannot understand her life 
without discussing what took place there, we must begin our story on a hot 
summer day when a fool marched the greatest military force of the time to 
certain death.
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Turbulent Times

A fourth century ce monk, historian, and theologian named Rufinius of 
Aquileia wrote that the barbarians’ victory over the Roman army at Adriano-
ple marked “the beginning of evils for the Roman Empire then and thereafter.” 
Contemporary historians have agreed with his judgment.1 Adrianople is near 
the modern Turkish city of Edirne, close to Greece and Bulgaria. It was the 
capital of the Roman province of Thrace. The famed battle there took place 
on August 9, 378 ce. The temperature was likely 100 degrees Fahrenheit (ap-
proximately 38 degrees Celsius); such heat is common to the region that time 
of the year.2 Having marched across rugged, barren, and rock-strewn hills 
towards Adrianople, the 30,000 to 40,000 battle-hardened infantry, cavalry, 
and support staff of the Roman army had meager provisions. Their emperor, 
Valens (364–378 ce), believed his highly trained Roman legionaries, armed 
with superior weapons, would easily defeat the advancing Visigoth warriors. 
This was because his scouts estimated that only 10,000 men were marching 
towards his Roman legions; most Visigoths had not arrived.3 If Valens had 
known more about the barbarians, he would have waited for reinforcements.

Historians divide the Goths into two major branches based on where 
they settled in Europe: the eastern Goths, known the Visigoths, and the west-
ern Goths, called the Ostrogoths. The Goths would have found this classifica-
tion quite perplexing because many other barbarian tribes lived among them. 
Some had intermarried with the Goths and adopted their culture. Conse-
quently, it is difficult to distinguish Gothic sites in the archaeological record 
from those of other ethnic groups such as the Germans.4 What is certain is 
that Valens was about to confront the deadliest of the Goths, the Visigoths.

The Visigoths and their allies were angry with Valens because he had 
spent nearly a decade trying to exterminate them. They wanted revenge. This 
would not have surprised Valens or any other Roman of the time, for the 
Romans had built and expanded their vast empire upon the bodies of many 
conquered peoples. Murder and plunder were not crimes in the Romans’ 
eyes as barbarians were merely resources to conquer for their benefit. But 
the Visigoths were different than all the previous races that Romans had sub-
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dued or annihilated. They wanted to live peacefully in Roman society. Valens, 
they were convinced, wanted to exterminate them. Divided, the Visigoths 
had no chance of defeating the Roman army on the battlefield. That is until 
the warlord Fritigern convinced the Visigoth chiefs to unite under his banner 
to fight the Romans.5 Unfortunately, for the Roman Empire’s citizens, Valens 
had underestimated Fritigern’s resolve. He was unprepared to meet the Visig-
oth leader in battle on that hot August day.

Valens: A Mediocre Man

Valens was among the least qualified rulers to lead the Roman Empire 
during its decline. Contemporary accounts describe him as a mediocre man 
whose appearance and demeanor did not inspire confidence in his soldiers 
or citizens. The pagan Roman general Ammianus Marcellinus says he was 
pot-bellied, bowlegged, and had a bad eye. He emphasizes that Valens lacked 
the qualifications to rule: he had no training in the arts of war and diploma-
cy.6 Many Romans thought God was against him. During his reign, a series of 
disasters had struck his realm: four earthquakes, a tsunami that killed thou-
sands, a destructive hailstorm in Constantinople, and two devastating fam-
ines. The soothsayers of the day thought these events were omens of doom 
for the Roman Empire.7

Valens came to the throne at a politically difficult time for the Roman 
Empire. The emperor Jovian (363–364 ce), a former pagan turned Christian, 
died of unknown causes at the age of thirty-three. Nobody appears to have 
recorded the circumstances of his passing. According to rumors, he either 
expired from inhaling noxious fumes or perished from a case of bad indi-
gestion. The army declared one of its commanders, Valentinian I, the new 
monarch (364–75 ce).8 He later married Galla Placidia’s grandmother.

Valentinian I realized it was impossible for a single person to govern a 
territory as vast as the Roman Empire. He followed the example of the em-
peror Diocletian (284–305 ce) and split it into two kingdoms: the Western 
Roman Empire and the Eastern Roman Empire.9 When historians refer to the 
decline and fall of the Roman Empire, they are referring to the Western half 
of the Roman Empire and the Italian city of Rome, which had been the capital 
of the united Roman Empire since its establishment in the late first century 
bce. After the barbarian tribes had destroyed Galla Placidia’s Western Roman 
Empire, the Eastern Roman Empire, and its capital in Constantinople, con-
tinued until 1453 ce. In that year, the Turks captured the city and renamed it 
Istanbul.10

Valentinian I chose to rule the Western Roman Empire, which included 
most of Europe and North Africa. He appointed his brother, Valens, as the 
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Eastern Roman Empire’s monarch. Although both siblings repelled frequent 
barbarian invasions, the situation was worse in the west. Valentinian I waged 
a war to prevent a tribe known as the Alemanni from crossing the Rhine 
River. In the north, he oversaw military action against the Picts and Scots 
near Hadrian’s Wall on the present-day Scottish border. Despite nearly con-
stant military action against invaders, Valentinian I was unable to halt the in-
cessant migrations of barbarian tribes into his territory. Recognizing he could 
not defeat them through military power, he decided to negotiate a truce. Un-
fortunately, he lacked the patience of a diplomat.

Valentinian I was prone to bouts of uncontrollable anger. While discuss-
ing peace with barbarian ambassadors along the Danube River in 375 ce, 
he became so enraged that he burst a blood vessel and died. The army pro-
claimed his sixteen-year-old son, Gratian (367–383 ce), his successor, and his 
four-year-old half-brother, Valentinian II (375–392 ce), his junior partner to 
help him rule the Western Roman Empire.11 Valens longed for a great military 
victory that could result in his promotion to sole ruler of both halves of the 
Roman Empire. He planned to accomplish his goal by travelling east and con-
quering Persia in today’s Iran; however, he had to abandon the expedition to 
deal with Visigoths overrunning his territory near Adrianople.

Upon hearing that his uncle, Valens, was marching towards Adriano-
ple, Gratian rushed there with his troops to help. Gratian could have saved 
the day if he had arrived in time. Valens refused to wait for him. He had no 
interest in sharing the glory of victory with his nephew, or the anticipated 
barbarian spoils. Even if Valens had defeated the Visigoths at Adrianople, it 
is doubtful that the Western Roman Empire could have survived. His racism 
had doomed it.

A Lost Opportunity for Peace

Two years before the Battle of Adrianople, in 376 ce, several Visigoth 
leaders begged Valens for a place to live. They wanted to reside peacefully 
within the Western Roman Empire’s borders. Valens feared barbarian tribes 
would overrun the rich agricultural province of Thrace. Consequently, he de-
cided to restrict immigration. After reviewing each tribe and its leaders, he 
decided the Tervingi tribe of Visigoths led by the warlord Fritigern—a con-
vert to Christianity—was the most powerful.12

Valens allowed Fritigern and several other Visigoth chiefs to settle 
in Thrace, providing they agree to serve as auxiliaries in the Roman army. 
Although ancient accounts claim that 200,000 Visigoths sought asylum at 
this time, modern historians estimate the number was likely in the tens of 
thousands.13 Nevertheless, this low figure would have taxed the economic 
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resources of a contemporary nation. To prevent trouble, Valens ordered all 
Visigoths to relinquish their weapons. Valens planned to send the strongest 
Visigoths to fight the Persians in present-day Iran and Iraq. He vowed to de-
stroy their empire because its monarch, Shapur II, thirteen years earlier, in 
363 ce, had killed the Roman emperor Julian (355–363 ce).14 Then, before 
Valens could set out for Persia, the Romans did something terrible to the 
barbarians that set into motion a series of events that eventually destroyed 
the Western Roman Empire.

The officials Valens had assigned to monitor the new immigrants, Lupic-
inus and Maximus, abused them. Although Roman commanders normally 
profited from their positions by skimming money from peasants, as was the 
accepted custom, Ammianus implies that both men were especially corrupt.15 
They confined the Visigoths in internment camps with no avenue of escape 
and meager provisions. Starvation loomed. Valens did nothing to alleviate 
their suffering. According to the Gothic historian Jordanes, many hungry 
Visigoth families sold their young in exchange for dog meat.16 Then, the Ro-
mans forced Fritigern and his Visigoths to march to Marcianople (present-day 
Devnja in Bulgaria), some 62 miles (approximately 100 kilometers) south of 
the Danube River. Many children, elderly, and infirm died attempting to walk 
this great distance. Once they arrived, Lupicinus invited Fritigern and other 
Visigoth leaders to a banquet. Assuming they would learn more about their 
new settlement at the meal, the chiefs accepted the invitation. It was a trap. 
Lupicinus tried to assassinate them. Fritigern and several barbarian leaders 
escaped.

Now convinced the barbarians could never live in peace with the Ro-
mans, Fritigern vowed to destroy the Roman Empire. Many Visigoths and 
other barbarian tribes responded to his call for revenge. They overwhelmed 
Lupicinus in battle and took many weapons from his fallen soldiers. Visigoths 
then fought the Roman generals Profuturus and Trajanus in the late summer 
of 377 ce at an unknown place in Eastern Europe known as “the Willow.”17 
The confrontation was a draw; both sides lost many men. Then, some Huns 
and Alans joined the Visigoths. This combined barbarian horde moved south 
into Thrace, towards Adrianople. Valens marched his army there to annihi-
late them.

Disaster at Adrianople

On August 8, 378 ce, Valens lined up his infantry and cavalry to fight 
the Visigoths and their allies. Fritigern sent a Christian priest with an offer of 
peace. Valens had no interest in turning the other cheek to fellow members 
of his faith (many barbarians like the Visigoths were Christians). His army 
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stood ready in the hot afternoon sun awaiting orders to attack Fritigern’s 
men.18 Then, to everyone’s surprise, the fighting began.

The Battle of Adrianople started by accident. Valens’s elite guard, the 
famed Scholae Palatinae (“Palatine Schools”), was so eager to shed blood 
that they rushed towards the Visigoths without orders. When the remaining 
Roman soldiers saw Visigoths and Alans heading towards them, they broke 
ranks and attacked like a disorganized mob. Before the generals on either side 
realized what happened, the killing had commenced. The Roman command-
ers were unable to restore order.

The phalanx—the formation of soldiers standing in rows elbow-to-elbow 
with their shields protecting them—was the secret of the Roman army. As 
the line of infantrymen slowly moved forward, the Roman legionaries gored 
the barbarians with their spears and swords while literally walking atop dead 
comrades and foes alike. The pressure of the men in the rear pushing the 
front-line troops forward made the phalanx an impenetrable wall of death. 
On this day, the famed Roman fighting formation quickly broke apart, leav-
ing Valens’s men vulnerable to barbarian attacks from all directions.

Ammianus, who likely interviewed many survivors from Valens’s army, 
describes the screams of men with severed limbs and the groans of the dying 
as Romans and Visigoths alike killed one another in hand to hand combat.19 
This closeness made this and all ancient warfare particularly traumatic, for 
men literally grabbed their enemies and looked them in the eye while plung-
ing swords, spears, and daggers into their faces and abdomens. The dust 
made it impossible for soldiers to help their companions or see what was hap-
pening. This chaos gave the Visigoths an advantage. They regrouped inside 
their makeshift fortification of encircled wagons and fired repeated volleys of 
arrows at the Roman soldiers.20 Valens’s imperial bodyguard panicked and 
fled the battlefield. A small group of men who had remained at their posts 
tried to protect him. It was too late; the barbarians had killed an estimated ten 
thousand Romans and captured an untold number of prisoners.21

Adrianople was the greatest defeat the Roman army had suffered since 
the 216 bce. Battle of Cannae when the general Hannibal, from the North 
African city of Carthage, had decimated the army of the Roman Republic. 
But that was centuries ago; they Romans thought they were invincible. Now, 
the Eastern Roman Empire had lost two-thirds of its army and its ruler 
in a single encounter. The famed Roman historian J.B. Bury wrote about 
the battle of Adrianople, “It was a disaster and disgrace that need not have 
occurred.”22

As the Romans treated their wounded and counted their dead, they real-
ized Valens was missing. We are uncertain what happened to him. The church 
historian Socrates of Constantinople claims some barbarians had set fire to 
a house into which he had fled. Nobody recognized his body because he had 
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cast off his imperial robe to avoid detection. His men presumably left his 
corpse among the ashes.23

The next morning, Fritigern marched to Adrianople to sack Valens’s 
treasury, armory, and supplies. The city’s defenders deployed catapults against 
him. Fritigern had to depart with the spoils he had stripped from the dead 
as his prize. Although he was unable to capture any Roman cities, he and his 
followers plundered towns at will.

The Aftermath

The Christian author Salvian described the anxiety that many felt over 
the perplexing rise of the barbarians at this time:

In the past we Romans were the most powerful nation; now we have no strength.
Everyone feared us; now we are afraid.
Barbarous nations paid tribute to us; now we pay tribute to them.24

The military loss at Adrianople meant that the Roman Empire needed to 
find over twenty thousand new troops to protect it from barbarian threats.25 
Unfortunately, it was too late.

Three decades after the Battle of Adrianople, the barbarians sacked 
Rome. The famed biblical scholar Jerome lamented, “the city which had taken 
the whole world was itself taken.”26 He heard what happened there from refu-
gees who had fled to the safety of the Middle East where he was living. Many 
of them told Jerome the Visigoth king Alaric had taken Galla Placidia as a 
hostage. The young Galla Placidia would endure nearly six years of almost 
constant terror; it is surprising she lived to see the fall of the Western Roman 
Empire. It is equally amazing that her father had survived this perilous era 
long enough to have married her mother.
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Murderous Rulers

Galla Placidia’s father has been called “the first of the Spanish inquisi-
tors.”1 His name was Theodosius. Born in 347 ce in the northwestern Spanish 
town of Cauca, he was a first-rate soldier who zealously sought to eliminate 
Christian heretics and pagan Visigoths from the Roman Empire. He had 
earned his moniker “the Great” for being a champion of Christianity when he 
had outlawed paganism. Yet, Galla Placidia realized in her youth that much 
of what people then, and now, believed about him was a lie. Her father was a 
hypocrite who supported pagans while claiming he was a devout Christian. 
Nevertheless, Theodosius remained popular long after his death because he 
had postponed the Western Roman Empire’s decline and fall.

An Unexpected Rise to Power

Theodosius (379–95 ce) came from a military family. His father, The-
odosius the Elder, had been given a special commission to fight the barbar-
ians throughout Europe. Unfortunately, his prominence and superior gifts of 
leadership aroused the envy of prominent officials. In 375 ce, Valentinian I, 
the emperor of the Western Roman Empire, for reasons unknown, accused 
Theodosius the Elder of treason and ordered his execution. Gratian, a son of 
Valentinian I, carried out the death sentence the following year. This unfor-
tunate event caused Theodosius to lose interest in imperial service. Retiring 
to his family’s Spanish estate, he planned to live in obscurity as the son of a 
disgraced officer. He would have died anonymously there if not for the disas-
ter at Adrianople.

Valentinian I passed away the same year he had accused Galla Placidia’s 
grandfather of sedition. His demise meant that Gratian shared leadership of 
the Western Roman Empire with his four-year-old half-brother, Valentinian 
II (375–92 ce). Gratian had been unable to stop barbarian hoards from plun-
dering Europe. Consequently, he pleaded with the thirty-two-year-old Theo-
dosius to help him save the Roman Empire.
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It is uncertain whether Theodosius accepted Gratian’s offer for per-
sonal glory, patriotism, or perhaps a combination of two. On January 19, 379 
ce, Gratian promoted Theodosius from the equivalent of a minor country 
squire in a backward province of Spain to the ruler of the Eastern Roman 
Empire.

For the next three years, Theodosius led a military campaign against 
the Visigoths to avenge the Roman losses at Adrianople. Despite his many 
successes on the battlefield, he faced a problem that kept him from defeating 
the Visigoths. He lacked sufficient troops. Because the Visigoths had killed so 
many Roman soldiers, he ordered a massive military conscription. Many citi-
zens refused to serve; some even cut off their thumbs to become ineligible for 
duty. Theodosius was so desperate to fill the depleted ranks of his legions that 
he ordered his recruiters to force towns to supply two additional recruits for 
each citizen found to have mutilated himself to avoid imperial service.2 Yet, 
even this desperate measure to fill the Roman legions’ depleted ranks proved 
insufficient. Out of desperation, Theodosius took an unprecedented step to 
ensure the Western Roman Empire’s survival that many believed sealed its 
doom.

Galla Placidia’s father, Theodosius the Great (top center, largest seated figure) 
presiding over a chariot race. Carving on the obelisk in the Hippodrome of Con-
stantinople (Gryffindor/Free-Images.com).



	 3. Murderous Rulers� 23

An Experiment in Multiculturalism

On October 382 ce, Theodosius announced that enemy barbarian chiefs 
and their followers could settle in lands south of the Danube River. In ex-
change for this ancient equivalent of permanent residency, Theodosius re-
quired them to provide soldiers and farmworkers for the Roman army. He 
was not the first ruler to have adopted this controversial policy. During the 
reign of the Emperor Probus (276–82 ce), many barbarians had served as 
soldiers in the Roman legions.3 Theodosius’s policy led many barbarians to 
seek out military recruiters and join Rome’s forces. In exchange, they received 
legal permission to remain in the Roman Empire as permanent and lawful 
residents. By 394 ce, over 20,000 Visigoths had volunteered for military ser-
vice.4 Many Romans resented Theodosius for allowing this great influx of im-
migrants to reside in the empire’s borders.

The rhetorician Themistius, the tutor to Galla Placidia’s half-brother, 
Arcadius, delivered a speech in defense of Theodosius’s controversial pol-
icy. He stated that if the emperor had tried to exterminate the Visigoths, he 
would have filled Thrace (a region in modern Greece, Bulgaria, and Turkey) 
with Roman corpses. Better, he argued, for Theodosius to convince his foes 
to turn their swords into hoes and cultivate the West’s lands rather than fight 
endless campaigns against them.5 Having ended the barbarian wars, Theo-
dosius prepared to eradicate what he and many Romans considered a greater 
enemy—paganism.

God Against the Gods

Galla Placidia lived in a strange world. Her father had declared Chris-
tianity the state religion of the Roman Empire. Although many today falsely 
believe Constantine the Great, who ruled from 306 to 312 ce, made Christi-
anity the Roman Empire’s sole faith, he merely granted religious tolerance to 
its inhabitants. Theodosius disagreed with this policy. He outlawed paganism. 
In 391 ce, he passed a law stating, “No person shall be granted the right to 
perform sacrifices; no person shall go around the temples; no person shall re-
vere the shrines.”6 This decree also forbade the veneration of household gods, 
the burning of incense to images, and hanging wreaths to honor dieties. Eight 
years later, Theodosius ordered the destruction of all temples in the country.7

Theodosius purportedly issued these decrees to eradicate the ancient re-
ligions of the Roman Empire. Yet, he undertook his anti-pagan measures to 
advance his political career rather than to promulgate the Christian faith. It 
is doubtful that he intended to ban paganism because non–Christians held 
many of the Roman Empire’s senior political and military offices. He needed 
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their support to rule; he also wanted them in his army.8 Paganism flourished 
during his reign.

In 393 ce, or perhaps early the following year, pagans restored the an-
cient temple of Hercules at Rome’s port of Ostia. Its dedicatory inscription 
names Theodosius and his son Arcadius as its benefactors.9 In Antioch, one 
of the largest Roman cities of the time, men and women bathed naked to-
gether in public baths beneath statues of the ancient gods while nude girls 
performed in its new water-theater. During the city’s festival to honor the 
goddess Flora, prostitutes likewise entertained large audiences stark naked 
on stage. Gladiatorial games and chariot racing—all violent pursuits rooted 
in paganism—remained immensely popular. Pagans and Christians alike 
throughout the Roman Empire attended them.10

Galla Placidia’s contemporary, Augustine, bishop of the North African 
town of Carthage and a future saint, lamented that the Romans still wor-
shipped the pagan gods.11 Although he refused to admit it, he knew that pa-
ganism thrived because many Christians practiced it. They were attracted to 
pagan culture. When Augustine lived in Italy, his best friend and fellow Chris-
tian, Alypius, became addicted to the gladiatorial games.12 Pagan culture and 
religion never ended in the Western Roman Empire. Gladiators continued 
to die; pagan temples remained open; priests performed pagan ceremonies 
throughout Europe, North Africa, and the Middle East during Galla Placidia’s 
lifetime.13 Pagans continued to conduct sacrifices as late as the sixth century 
ce, long after the fall of the Western Roman Empire.14

Some Christians opposed Theodosius’s policy of tolerance despite his 
anti-pagan decrees. Many locals desecrated pagan shrines; however, they did 
so without imperial sanction. Nevertheless, Theodosius did not stop them 
because some of Christianity’s most prominent figures encouraged it. Saint 
Martin in France set fire to many pagan shrines and ground their statues 
to dust. Bishop Theophilus in Egypt demolished the great temple of Serapis, 
which contained one of the greatest libraries of antiquity. One Greek pro-
fessor of the time wrote of this incident: “The dead used to leave the city 
alive behind them, but now the living carry the city to her grave.”15 Today’s 
great museums of antiquity bear witness to the damage Christians caused at 
this time: pagan statues defaced with their eyes gouged out, their noses cut 
off, and Christian crosses cut into their foreheads.16 Even the famed Bishop 
Augustine, the greatest Christian of Galla Placidia’s time, encouraged this 
wanton destruction. After telling his flock that God wanted them to demol-
ish Carthage’s pagan shrines, his parishioners killed some sixty pagans while 
reciting Scripture.

Pagans did not remain silent at the desecration of their most sacred 
temples and objects. Many complained to the emperor. Most notable among 
them was the famed pagan orator Symmachus, who sought to preserve pa-
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ganism despite Theodosius’s decrees. He urged Theodosius to allow differ-
ent religions to coexist alongside one another, stating that the pagans offer 
prayers and not battle.17 For now, his and the cries of the Roman Empire’s 
pagans for justice prevailed.

Theodosius never sent his troops to enforce his anti-pagan decrees; he 
knowingly allowed paganism to continue.18 He believed he had to allow pagan 
rituals to occur because the temples to the ancient Gods were major centers 
of commerce. They dotted the countryside and damaging them would have 
angered important officials and citizens whose families had worshipped at 
them for centuries.19 Fourth century ce military forts along the Rhine and 
Danube Rivers show that government officials tolerated paganism despite the 
demands of many Christians that they ban it.20 During Theodosius’s youth, an 
emperor had realized paganism’s importance and tried to prevent Christian-
ity from overtaking it. Theodosius knew his story quite well and decided not 
to follow his example of religious intolerance.

The Apostate: Hero of a Lost Cause

The Roman Emperor Julian (361–363 ce) had received the moniker 
“the Apostate” for his failed effort to restore paganism as the sole faith of 
the Roman Empire.21 He had lived with a Christian bishop during his youth. 
Although he appeared to be a God-fearing adherent of his faith, he pretended 
to be a Christian. He was secretly a pagan.

Julian abhorred the misdeeds of the Christians. He had good reason to 
feel revulsion towards Christianity. Members of this faith had killed and per-
secuted more Christians than pagans. When he became the Roman Emperor, 
he could openly practice paganism. He effectively declared war against Chris-
tianity for its persecution of pagans.

Julian tried to anger Christians by restoring the Jewish temple in Je-
rusalem, which the Romans had destroyed in 70 ce, and reviving animal 
sacrifice there.22 He did not propose to do this because of any fondness for 
Judaism. Rather, he wanted to rebuild the shrine because Jesus had predicted 
its destruction.23 Its reconstruction, he thought, would prove Jesus was a false 
prophet. This, he was convinced, would destroy the theological basis for the 
Christian faith and restore paganism as the Roman Empire’s dominant re-
ligion. The Jewish community in Jerusalem gathered building materials to 
re-erect their temple. An earthquake in 363 ce forced them to abandon the 
project. Jews subsequently gave up all hope of restoring animal sacrifice at the 
site; consequently, Judaism remains a religion based on written texts.

The Persians wounded Julian when he invaded their empire and attacked 
their capital of Ctesiphon, near present-day Baghdad, in Iraq. He and many 
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of his men perished trying to make it home. His soldiers buried him outside 
Tarsus, the hometown of the Apostle Paul (the author of much of the New 
Testament). The Romans later reinterred Julian’s body in Constantinople.

Julian was the last pagan to rule over both halves of the Roman Em-
pire. Because Christians reviled him, they overlooked his immense intellec-
tual gifts. Consequently, his numerous books, including a satire on himself 
called Misopogon (“the beard-hater”), are largely lost, forgotten, or survive in 
fragments.

Julian failed to recognize that he practiced a form of an ancient faith 
that largely had vanished from the Roman Empire. He likely first realized 
this when he visited the city of Daphne, now located in modern Turkey. To 
celebrate his arrival, he expected the local priests to conduct a large sacrifice 
of oxen. Not a single beast was available to offer on his behalf.24 Even the 
city of Rome had abolished such extravagant public rituals; the last recorded 
state-sponsored sacrifice took place there at the temple of Castor and Pol-
lux in its port of Ostia in 359 ce.25 Although pagans slaughtered animals in 
their worship ceremonies well into the sixth century ce, most of these rituals 
occurred in remote areas.26 Many pagans preferred to offer prayers, hymns, 
fruit, and vegetables to their ancient gods rather than gory bloody sacrifices.27 
Pagan cults that emphasized a personal relationship with a single powerful 
deity, who could guide them through this life and hopefully the next, were 
becoming immensely popular. Some were similar to Christianity.

No Roman ruler took up Julian’s cause to restore the empire’s ancient 
faiths or the Jewish sacrifices. By the time of Galla Placidia’s birth, many pa-
gans practiced a form of their faith that scholars have dubbed “pagan mono-
theism.”28 They worshiped one god or goddess to the exclusion of all others. 
In a letter to his friend Bishop Augustine, the pagan grammarian Maximus 
of Madauros acknowledged that pagans believe there is only one god, whom 
the faithful call by many names.29 Christianity was less tolerant. It banned the 
veneration of pagan gods; it required worship of Jesus alone. Although many 
Christian converts still practiced paganism, the ancient faith of the Romans 
was in a state of inexorable decline. Christian art had replaced pagan statues; 
the great reduction in the production of images of the ancient gods shows 
that that paganism was largely bankrupt. It had no chance of regaining its 
former status as the Roman Empire’s dominant religion.30 Theodosius made 
this clear when he agreed to the demand of a divorced woman that he wage 
the Roman Empire’s final war against the pagans before she would allow him 
to marry her daughter, Galla Placidia’s future mother.
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Christians Against Pagans

Theodosius loved Galla Placidia. Her mother had been his second wife. 
His first marriage was to a Spaniard named Aelia Flavia Flaccilla. The two 
wed sometime between 376 and 378 ce during his self-imposed exile after his  
father’s execution. When Theodosius became the eastern Roman emperor, the 
couple moved to Constantinople with their son, Arcadius, and their daughter, 
Pulcheria. Flaccilla was so praised during her lifetime that the Senate there 
placed her statue in its chambers. Theodosius honored her by including her 
portrait on many of his coins alongside her title Augusta: a royal epitaph he 
later bestowed upon Galla Placidia.1 Flaccilla gave birth to her third child, 
Honorius, on September 9, 384 ce.2 She died two years later. The Eastern 
Orthodox Church recognizes her as a saint; her feast day is September 14th.

A Complicated Relationship

Theodosius’s infatuation with Galla Placidia’s mother led to civil war. 
Her name was Galla; she was the daughter of a prominent woman named 
Justina. At the time Theodosius met Galla, Justina was facing the most dif-
ficult period of her life. She had divorced a violent Roman general named 
Magnus Maximus; the couple had no children. Justina then married the 
Roman emperor Valentinian I; he was also divorced, and the father of the 
Emperor Gratian (he had tried to save Valens at Adrianople).3 Valentinian 
I and Justina had one son, Valentinian II, and four daughters, Galla, Grata, 
and Justa. Eight years later, in 383 ce, after Valentinian I’s temper caused him 
to burst a blood vessel and die, Maximus took advantage of this unexpected 
event to murder Gratian and proclaim himself ruler of the Western Roman 
Empire. Fearful of her former spouse, Justina decided to make an alliance 
with him. Maximus became regent for her young son, Valentinian II. He as-
sumed she would order the boy to do as he wished. Four years later, Justina 
fled when she believed Maximus wanted to kill her child to take control of the 
Western Roman Empire.
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Justina managed to elude Maximus’s agents and reach Constantinople. 
There, she sought refuge with Theodosius. She proposed he wed her daughter, 
Galla. This union, she believed, would protect her and her family. He imme-
diately fell in love with Galla upon meeting her. Justina made him vow to do 
two things before she gave her consent to the marriage. First, he had to ac-
cept her son, Valentinian II, as the western Roman emperor. Second, Justina 
insisted Theodosius kill her former spouse, Maximus. Theodosius agreed to 
both of Justina’s demands.

Theodosius and Galla wed in the autumn of 387 ce. The ceremony took 
place in the northern-eastern Greek city of Salonica (present-day Thessalon-
ica). The couple remained there for the winter of 387–88 ce. Then, Theodo-
sius departed for Italy to fight Maximus.4

Theodosius’s Rivals

The combined forces of Theodosius and the supporters of Valentinian 
II defeated Maximus’s army at the Battle of the Save in present-day Croatia. 
Theodosius’s Hunnic equestrian mercenaries saved the day. They captured 
Maximus; Theodosius executed him. Rome’s Senate passed a decree of dam-
natio memoriae (“damnation of memory”) ordering his name be erased from 
all statues. The ninth century ce book known as the Historia Brittonum (“His-
tory of the Britains”), attributed to a Welsh monk named Nennius, claims that 
Maximus’s death marked the end of the Roman Empire in Britain.5 Soon after 
Theodosius’s victory, the Romans abandoned the island nation to barbarian 
tribes. Later legends claim the famed British King Arthur, who allegedly had 
searched for the Holy Grail, was Maximus’s descendant.6

Theodosius issued coins proclaiming his leadership over the entire 
Roman Empire. He placed a Frank named Arbogast as the top military com-
mander in the west and appointed him guardian of the teenage Valentinian 
II.7 The young sovereign resented having a barbarian watch his every move. 
He dismissed Arbogast from his post. Arbogast refused to relinquish his po-
sition since Theodosius had bestowed it upon him. This incident made it clear 
to all that Valentinian II had no power since he could not terminate one of 
his staff. Shortly afterwards, a palace employee found Valentinian II hanged 
in his quarters. Although Arbogast claimed he had committed suicide, many 
Romans rightfully suspected foul play.8

Bishop Ambrose held a public funeral for the young ruler in his cathe-
dral in Milan. It was a defiant act since church law prohibited anyone who 
had committed suicide from receiving a Christian burial. According to the 
prevailing theology of the time, Valentinian II’s soul was destined for Hell.9 
Yet Ambrose refused to accept that the young emperor had taken his life. 
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Consequently, the funeral was Ambrose’s public declaration he believed Ar-
bogast had murdered Valentinian II.

Because Arbogast was a Frank, one of the barbarian tribes, he knew he 
could not assume power. The Romans would not accept a barbarian ruler 
over their empire. On August 22, 392 ce, he proclaimed a Christian professor 
of rhetoric named Flavius Eugenius the Western Roman Emperor.10 It was a 
foolish act; Arbogast had exceeded his authority. Theodosius was angry his 
protégé had taken it upon himself to determine the royal succession. In Janu-
ary 393 ce, Theodosius proclaimed his eight-year-old son, Honorius, co-ruler 
of the Roman Empire in a ceremony at Constantinople. While these events 
were taking place, Justina gave birth to a daughter. Theodosius named her 
Galla Placidia after her mother. He had little time to enjoy the new addition 
to his family, for he had to leave Constantinople to kill Eugenius.

Although he was a Christian, Eugenius had many pagan supporters. 
Bishop Ambrose hated him because he tolerated paganism. Eugenius became 
so angry with him that he vowed to turn Ambrose’s’ cathedral into a stable 
and force his priests to become soldiers.11 This was no idle threat because 
Ambrose’s city of Milan was nearly half pagan. The looming civil war between 
Theodosius and Eugenius threatened to pit followers of paganism and Chris-
tianity against one another, and possibly destroy the Roman Empire at a time 
when barbarians threatened its frontiers.

As both sides prepared for the inevitable military conflict, Eugenius 
tried to convince the Western Roman Empire’s pagans to help him defeat 
Theodosius. He undertook several construction projects in the city of Rome 
to earn their support, including the rededication of the Temple of Venus and 
the restoration of the Altar of Victory in the Senate House. This latter mon-
ument held special symbolism for the city’s pagan population since the gov-
ernment had built it in 29 ce to commemorate the defeat of Mark Antony 
and Cleopatra at the Battle of Actium, which marked the end of the Roman 
Republic and the beginning of the Roman Empire.12

Pagans versus Christians

On September 5 and 6, 394 ce, the predominantly pagan armies of Eu-
genius and Arbogast fought Theodosius’s legions at the Frigidus River, on the 
border between modern Slovenia and Italy. It was an epic conflict because 
each side had over 100,000 soldiers.13 Arbogast and Eugenius had a strategic 
advantage; they occupied the high ground on the battlefield. In an account 
written a decade later, Rufinus of Aquileia mentions that both armies sought 
divine assistance. The pagans in Eugenius’s legions performed sacrifices while 
Theodosius prayed and fasted. Soothsayers told Eugenius that the shape of 
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the entrails they had removed from the sacrificial sheep guaranteed victory 
for him the next day.14 No comparable divine sign appeared to Theodosius’s 
Christian priests.

When the fighting began, Theodosius’s barbarian policy saved the 
day. His troops included a large number of Visigoths and Germans, many 
of whom he had allowed to settle in Thrace twelve years earlier. Theodosius 
ordered his barbarian Visigoth contingents to make a frontal assault against 
Arbogast’s forces so he could preserve his Roman units. By sunset, 10,000 
Visigoths in Theodosius’s army were dead. Eugenius celebrated, believing he 
had defeated his foe.

Theodosius’s men urged him to flee. He refused and spent the night in 
prayer. The next morning, he claimed that two of Jesus’ Apostles, Saint John 
the Evangelist and Saint Philip, had appeared to him in a vision urging him to 
attack.15 Like the famed Constantine the Great, who had purportedly received 
a similar heavenly sign before his battle against his pagan rival, Theodosius 
claimed God was on his side. Despite his confidence there would be a di-
vinely inspired victory the next day, the clash was a stalemate. Then, some-
thing remarkable occurred that convinced many Romans God had joined 
Theodosius in battle.

Cold air often moves quickly down the Alpine Passes from the Adri-
atic Sea. When it encounters warm air, the difference in pressure sometimes 
creates a wind gust known as a “Bora” (from Boreas, meaning north wind), 
which can reach 60, and, on occasion, 125 miles per hour (ca. 96 to 200 kilo-
meters).16 It blew in the direction of the Eugenius’s army that day and created 
a dust storm that blinded his soldiers. The force of the gale prevented them 
from discharging their javelins at Theodosius’s men. Veterans of the battle 
told Augustine that the wind had wrenched their weapons from their hands 
and flung them towards the enemy.17 If not for this atmospheric phenome-
non, it is doubtful Theodosius would have won.

Theodosius’s court poet Claudian later dedicated a poem to Galla Pla-
cidia’s half-brother, Honorius, describing the battle. He claimed her father 
had killed so many men that the River Frigidus had turned red with blood.18 
Arbogast was not among the slain warriors. He decided to commit suicide 
rather than experience the public humiliation and execution Romans in-
flicted upon losing generals. Eugenius met a less glorious end. Theodosius 
captured and decapitated him. He ordered Eugenius’s head placed atop a pole 
and displayed in front of his defeated troops.19 Then, Theodosius granted Eu-
genius’s men amnesty since he needed them to serve in the imperial forces.

If God was on Theodosius’s side at Frigidus, it was the God of war and 
vengeance and not the God of mercy and forgiveness. If God had helped The-
odosius, as the poet Claudian claimed, He quickly withdrew His divine favor. 
In January of 395 ce, Theodosius became ill in Milan. He summoned his 
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twelve-year-old son, Honorius, and his two-year-old daughter, Galla Placidia, 
to his bedside.20 The children’s adopted niece, Serena, presumably brought 
them from Constantinople to the imperial residence in Milan to see their 
father for the last time.21 On January 17, 395 ce, Theodosius succumbed to the 
effects of dropsy (a.k.a. edema; swelling caused by an accumulation of blood 
beneath the skin and in the various body cavities).22

Ambrose presided over Theodosius’s funeral service forty days later. In 
his eulogy, he praised Galla Placidia’s father as the great Christian opponent 
of paganism. Seeking to justify his many atrocities, Ambrose compared his 
deeds with those of the violent Old Testament prophet Elisha, whose mira-
cles Jesus sought to replicate.23 Ambrose assured the mourners that Theodo-
sius was in heaven enjoying perpetual tranquility while his pagan opponents, 
Maximus and Eugenius, were suffering eternal torment in Hell. Galla Pla-
cidia likely understood little of Ambrose’s sermon or the consequences of 
her father’s death. Fortunately, just before his passing, Theodosius had a pre-
monition he would not survive long. Convinced of his impending death, he 
became obsessed with protecting the young Galla Placidia. He was not afraid 
barbarians would harm her. Rather, he feared his eldest son would murder 
her.
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An Unhappy Childhood

Galla Placidia had a miserable childhood. Her earliest memories, how-
ever, were happy ones. When her father returned to Constantinople after de-
feating the usurper Maximus, she and her two half-siblings rode in a chariot 
alongside him during the triumphal parade. As a member of the royal family, 
she wore a golden robe and a crown.1 Everyone treated her well because she 
was the emperor’s daughter. Having been the most favored young girl in the 
entire Roman Empire, her happiness abruptly ended when her father died.

Before his passing, Theodosius did something unusual to protect his 
daughter. He gave Galla Placidia the imperial rank of nobilissima puella, a 
royal title meaning “most noble girl.”2 A small bronze plaque recognizing her 
imperial rank is still extant in Rome, where officials had placed it in a shrine 
or public building to honor her.3 Although her new status made her one of 
the most important persons in the Roman Empire, we know little about Galla 
Placidia’s childhood. Scholars are even uncertain when she was born and how 
many siblings she had.4

Galla Placidia’s Lost Siblings

Galla Placidia grew up in a blended family. Her father, Theodosius, and 
his first spouse, Flaccilla, had two sons and a daughter. They named the boys 
Arcadius and Honorius: the two later respectively ruled the Eastern and the 
Western Roman Empires. The couple’s third child, a daughter named Pulche-
ria, died just before Flaccilla.5 The extant sources briefly mention that Theo-
dosius had two other sons, Gratian and John. Scholars are uncertain whether 
they were Galla Placidia’s full siblings or her half-brothers. Largely overlooked 
decorations in a church Galla Placidia later built in Ravenna, Italy, and some 
obscure documents provide the answer to this longstanding debate.

When Galla Placidia was an adult, she and her children almost per-
ished when their ship encountered a storm in the Adriatic Sea. According 
to the ninth century ce Christian writer Andreas Angellus, she prayed to 
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Saint John, the purported author of the New Testament Gospel that bears his 
name, for protection.6 Galla Placidia later built a church known as Saint John 
the Evangelist in Ravenna to fulfill her vow. Unfortunately, an aerial bom-
bardment during World War II destroyed it. Most of the present edifice is a 
reconstruction. Nevertheless, archaeologists have uncovered much artwork 
and several inscriptions from the original sanctuary.

Galla Placidia commissioned a mosaic for her church that depicted 
her with her children in a ship with Saint John watching over them. We are 
uncertain what happened to it. An Italian named Girolamo Rossi is the last 
person to have mentioned it in his 1572 guidebook of Ravenna.7 Two anon-
ymous thirteenth century ce sermons, as well as books about Italian tourist 

Miniature portrait in the 14th century C.E. Codex of Rainaldus in Ravenna, Italy. 
It depicts the lost mosaic Galla Placidia commissioned in her church of Saint 
John the Evangelist in Ravenna to fulfill the vow she made to the saint for saving 
her life at sea. The right ship depicts the storm in progress. Galla Placidia is in 
the center with her hands folded in prayer. Her son Valentinian III is to her right 
and her daughter Justa Honoria is to her left. The figures at the two ends of the 
ship with halos depict Saint John. The left ship: The storm is over, and the figures 
are all in the same positions but relieved that the storm has ended (from Julius 
Kurth, Die mosaiken der christlichen Ära 1: Die Wandmosaiken von Ravenna, 
Leipzig: Deutsche bibelgesellschaft, 1901).
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sites written during the fourteenth and fifteenth centuries ce, also contain de-
scriptions of Galla Placidia’s church and the artistic treasures she had placed 
in it.8 Fortunately, an overlooked miniature portrait in a fourteenth century 
ce manuscript of a chronicle in Ravenna, known as the Codex of Rainaldus, 
preserves a drawing of her now-lost mosaic.9 Our extant sources also repro-
duce its accompanying inscription that listed her ancestors. This information 
reveals that she had two half-brothers, Arcadius and Honorius, and two full 
siblings, Gratian and John.10

Gratian and John disappear after the death of Theodosius. A close look 
at all the evidence may offer a reason why. The math is a bit complicated, 
and most would find a discussion of all the dated references in the historical 
sources boring, but the following brief summary of the evidence offers the 
most plausible reconstruction of their short lives.11

Galla Placidia’s mother, Galla, married Theodosius in late 387 ce in the 
northern Greek town of Salonica. She was pregnant with Gratian when The-
odosius left her there to fight Maximus. In late 388 or 389 ce, after Theodo-
sius had defeated Maximus, Galla gave birth to Gratian in Constantinople. 
Theodosius returned to the city in November of 391 ce. The year of Galla 
Placidia’s birth is uncertain, but it was likely the following year or 393 ce. It 
was followed by a great tragedy; the four-year-old Gratian died of unknown 
causes. Shortly afterward, Galla perished giving birth to her third child, John, 
in April of 394 ce. The infant also did not survive. This left Galla Placidia the 
only living offspring from Theodosius’s second marriage.

Theodosius’s children by his first wife, Arcadius and Honorius, were un-
happy their father had remarried. Shortly after Galla gave birth to Gratian, 
Arcadius expelled her from the royal palace while his father was in Italy fight-
ing Maximus.12 When Theodosius returned home, he was greatly concerned 
about their safety. After Galla Placidia’s birth, he took an unusual action to 
protect her from Arcadius. He set up a household for her, which was the 
ancient equivalent of a trust. This made her financially independent for the 
rest of her life. Galla Placidia’s estates included at least three properties in 
Constantinople; one had belonged to a former high-ranking Roman official.13 
Because they were legally hers, no one could evict her from them. Yet, Theo-
dosius took one other unusual measure that suggests he feared for her safety 
in Constantinople.

Two years before he died, Theodosius divided the Roman Empire be-
tween his two sons. He planned to remain in Constantinople and rule with 
Arcadius; he moved the young Honorius to Rome to govern the Western 
Roman Empire from there when he reached adulthood. Theodosius sent 
Galla Placidia to live with Honorius, apparently to keep her away from Ar-
cadius. Theodosius appointed a Roman citizen of barbarian ancestry named 
Stilicho as the legal guardian of Galla Placidia and Honorius. It was a contro-
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versial decision since it made Stilicho the de facto ruler of the Western Roman 
Empire until Honorius was old enough to assume power.14

A Misunderstood Roman
Stilicho is perhaps the most misunderstood and tragic figure of the Late 

Roman Empire. His talents had earned him Theodosius’s confidence. Yet, de-
spite the numerous accolades he had received during his distinguished career, 
the upper echelons of Roman society despised him because he was the son of 
a Vandal. The Christian bishop Jerome had even called him a “half-barbarian 
traitor.”15 This insult was not true. Stilicho was a Roman citizen from birth; he 
considered himself a loyal soldier of the Roman Empire like his father, who 

Ivory diptych of Stilicho (right panel) with his wife, Serena (left panel), and their 
son, Eucherius (far left figure) (Wikimedia Commons).
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had commanded Vandal units for Theodosius at the battle of Adrianople.16 
He was also a Christian. Theodosius so trusted Stilicho that he allowed him 
to marry a member of the imperial household. Yet, likely because of Stilicho’s 
barbarian ancestry, Theodosius had taken measures to prevent him from be-
coming emperor.

Around 384 ce, Theodosius allowed Stilicho to marry Serena.17 Al-
though the Romans referred to her as Theodosius’s adopted daughter, she 
was his niece. Theodosius did not go through a formal legal process to make 
Serena one of his children. He had good reason not to do so—a valid adop-
tion could have placed her and her future husband in the line of succession. 
Nevertheless, the union made Stilicho one of the most powerful men in the 
Roman Empire.

Theodosius likely allowed Stilicho to wed Serena as a reward for his dip-
lomatic service: he had completed a successful peace mission with the Per-
sian king Shapur III in Ctesiphon, in present-day Iraq. Theodosius may have 
wanted to unite this rising political star to his family to guarantee Stilicho’s 
loyalty. Stilicho’s close relationship with Theodosius made him a trusted of-
ficial and a member of the imperial elite.18 Upon Theodosius’s death, Stilicho 
became the legal guardian of Galla Placidia and Honorius and the temporary 
ruler of the Western Roman Empire.

Under the Shadow of a Half-Barbarian

Galla Placidia was likely two years old when Stilicho became her guard-
ian; he was approximately thirty-three. Many of her earliest childhood mem-
ories were of him and his wife, Serena. She had attended Bishop Ambrose’s 
funeral mass for her father with Honorius and her new guardians. Neither 
she nor her half-brother had accompanied Theodosius’s body to Constanti-
nople for the internment in the church Constantine the Great had built there. 
Galla Placidia and Honorius had stayed in Stilicho’s home under the care of 
his servants, likely the family’s nurse Elpidia. Serena had accompanied Theo-
dosius’s body with her children: a son, Eucherius, and two daughters, Maria 
and Thermantia. When they returned to Rome, Serena assumed her new role 
as the stepmother of Galla Placidia and Honorius.19

Stilicho was famous before Galla Placidia became part of his family. The 
Romans had elected him twice as one of the Roman Empire’s two consuls: 
only the emperor held a higher office than Stilicho did. Rome’s Senate had 
twice honored Stilicho with silver statues in the city’s public square known as 
the Forum, where all major civic and religious activities occurred. Part of the 
inscription from the base of one of them survives; it documents his military 
honors.20 Galla Placidia certainly grew up marveling at it.
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The extant sources suggest that many of Rome’s elites had become 
alarmed that Stilicho was raising Honorius and ruling the Western Roman 
Empire. In his funeral oration for Theodosius, Ambrose said that Honorius 
and Arcadius had the backing of God and the army.21 This was a dangerous 
statement because it implied that Stilicho lacked divine sanction for his ap-
pointment as the Honorius’s guardian; Ambrose’s sermon also insinuated that 
Theodosius had defied God’s wish by placing the future emperor under the 
care of a barbarian. Ambrose thought his position as bishop gave him some 
influence over Honorius. The prominent cleric died two years after Theodo-
sius had passed away, leaving Stilicho in charge of the West’s future ruler.

Stilicho must have been a man of great ambition, considerable talents, 
and a charming personality to have gained Theodosius’s trust. Nevertheless, 
many throughout the Eastern and the Western Roman Empires believed he 
was a liar. This was because he had claimed Theodosius had appointed him 
parens principum (“father of the emperors”) as he was dying. If true, then 
Stilicho was the legal guardian of Galla Placidia, Honorius, Arcadius, and the 
lawful regent of the entire Roman Empire. Few believed Stilicho’s claim that 
Theodosius had given him custody of Arcadius and Honorius. This was be-
cause Stilicho said that Theodosius had told him this in secret. Arcadius and 
his officials were convinced Stilicho had fabricated the story.22

Stilicho’s Effort to Take over the Roman Empire

Stilicho had an insatiable lust for power. After ruling the Western Em-
pire for Honorius for thirteen years, he realized he would soon have to allow 
the youth to govern alone. Yet, Stilicho and many others believed Galla Pla-
cidia’s half-brother was not ready to assume power. In the opinion of one 
prominent historian, Honorius mentally and physically remained a child.23 
He and his brother, Arcadius, were the first sovereigns of the Roman Empire 
deemed rois fainéants (literally “do-nothing kings”).24 Neither proved worthy 
custodians of the offices they held. Although siblings, they hardly knew one 
another. Geography kept them apart: Honorius was the ruler of the West-
ern Roman Empire living in Rome while Arcadius was the monarch of the 
Eastern Roman Empire residing in Constantinople. Yet, they were leaders in 
name only. Stilicho in the West and an influential minister in Constantinople 
named Rufinus largely governed on behalf of their respective emperors. Un-
fortunately, Rufinus’s desire for absolute power was as insatiable as Stilicho’s 
was.25

Rufinus wanted Arcadius to marry his daughter. He thought the union 
would allow him to dominate the young ruler. Unfortunately for Rufinus, 
he did not control affairs in Constantinople to the extent that Stilicho did in 
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Rome. A eunuch named Eutropius actually had more legislative power. The 
problem for the eastern court was that Eutropius hated Rufinus. Further com-
plicating the political situation of each capital was that Eutropius and Rufinus 
were determined to destroy the other regardless of the cost.

On April 27, 395 ce, while Rufinus was in Antioch, Eutropius married 
Arcadius to a woman named Aelia Eudoxia. According to one account, Eu-
tropius arranged for Arcadius to see her portrait, hoping he would fall in love 
with her. His plan worked; Arcadius immediately consented to the union.26

Many of Eudoxia’s contemporaries were unkind to her because they 
despised her father’s barbarian ancestry. He was a Romanized Frank who 
had formerly held the title of magister militum (“Master of the Soldiers”) 
during Theodosius’s reign. The Christian historian Philostorgius, who lived 
in Constantinople during Arcadius’s tenure, wrote one of the few favorable 
descriptions of Eudoxia. Yet, he remarked that she was “not an idiot like her 
husband” and criticized her barbarian manners.27 Despite considerable pub-
lic opposition to her new role, she proved an effective empress consort and a 
fervent supporter of Christianity.28 Her future son, Theodosius II, later played 
an important role in Galla Placidia’s life when she ruled the Western Roman 
Empire.

An Indistinct Reflection

Although we have no accounts of Galla Placidia at this time, we know 
that she had a privileged upbringing. Money was no concern. Royal children 
were nicknamed “purple-born,” which referred to the color of royalty. As one 
of these privileged few, she did not have to labor in the fields or shops like 
most young boys and girls. Affluent families had slaves—likely eunuchs as 
was the custom—to tend to their needs. Servants combed Galla Placidia’s 
hair, held basins for her to wash, and performed the myriad chores we take 
for granted to get through the day. Like other rich girls, she was educated at 
home, likely by a slave tutor with the ancient equivalent of a college degree.29

A letter written by Galla Placidia’s contemporary, the famed Christian 
scholar Jerome, dated to 405 ce when she was thirteen years old, describes 
the education wealthy women like her received at this time.30 Jerome wrote it 
at the request of a monk from Gaul who had visited him in Bethlehem. The 
holy man’s widowed mother and virgin sister had each moved in with a monk; 
ostensibly for their spiritual instruction, but actually for sex. Enraged at their 
conduct, Jerome wrote a letter castigating both women for their unseemly 
behavior. He reminded the daughter of the tasks her mother had taught her 
in her youth, namely how to wash clothes, care for the sick, and Christian 
virtues. Although it may seem unlikely that a future princess and member 
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of the royal family engaged in such domestic tasks, the poet Claudian men-
tions that Galla Placidia helped Serena weave straps for Honorius’s saddle. 
Although this may appear surprising, even women from royal families had to 
perform some routine household tasks; all females were expected to sew.31 As 
a child, Galla Placidia also had to learn countless rules of etiquette and rituals 
of the royal court. Her training in court protocol began quite young when she 
received her first royal title.

When Theodosius elevated Galla Placidia to the status of nobilissima 
puella, he held a public ceremony to mark her new rank; every prominent 
person would have attended. A carving in Vienna known as the “Empress 
Ivory” shows the clothing worn by a young woman of this rank: an elabo-
rate headdress in the shape of a crown with two elegant rows of pearls and 
a green robe decorated with gold roses. A similar ivory in Florence depicts 
a young woman wearing a purple and brownish veil attached to the top of 
her head, which drapes behind her ears and over her shoulders. Although 
scholars believe these artifacts are likely portraits of the Roman Empress Ari-
adne (ca. 457–515 ce), they depict the type of dress Galla Placidia would have 
worn.32 Fortunately, there are a few possible depictions of our queen that help 
us imagine what she looked like during her youth.

A stone statue in Milan bears a striking resemblance to the portraits of 
herself that Galla Placidia later placed on her coins. It portrays a woman wear-
ing an elaborate headdress covered by a cloth and a diadem with three jew-
els hanging from it.33 Two other similar representations of influential Roman 
women in museums in Berlin and Rome depict them wearing an identical 
headdress, showing that it was standard attire for the elite.34 Although we 
cannot definitively identify any of these items as depictions of Galla Placidia, 
they nevertheless provide the best images of what she looked like when she 
was young. Yet, when it comes to her appearance as an adult, many scholars 
unknowingly continue to mislead the public.

The most famous and widely reproduced picture of Galla Placidia, which 
adorns the covers of several books and is found in many works on the Late 
Roman Empire, comes from the so-called “Cross of Desiderius” in the San 
Salvatore and Santa Giulia Monastery in Brescia, Italy. The object purport-
edly belonged to Desiderius, the last ruler of the Lombard (Germanic) king-
dom of north Italy (756–774 ce). Charlemagne, the great Christian monarch 
and founder of the Holy Roman Empire, had married Desiderius’s daughter 
and then usurped his realm. Desiderius had given this cross to the monks to 
carry in religious processions. Today, the monastery is a museum and this 
item is its most treasured relic. Yet, few have noticed that its purported image 
of Galla Placidia is bizarre.

The Cross of Desiderius contains 212 precious gems. Most were taken 
from works of art that date from the first century bce to the seventeenth 
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century ce. The supposed depiction of Galla Placidia on this relic is in a 
glass medallion, approximately 23/8 inches (approximately 5 × 1 centimeters)  
in diameter. The woman 
commonly misidentified 
as Galla Placidia sits along-
side a young man with a 
young woman standing 
behind them. This man 
is identified as her son, 
Valentinian III, and the 
female as her daughter, 
Honoria. Yet, those who 
believe the slightly older 
woman is Galla Placidia 
ignore the gem’s baffling 
inscription.

The Greek words 
“BOUNNERI KERAMI” 
appear above the three fig-
ures. Nobody has been able 
to decipher this inscrip-
tion. One proposal is that 
it is actually this epitaph is 
not Greek, but the ancient 
Egyptian Coptic language 
that uses an adaptation of 
the Greek alphabet.35 An-
other suggestion is that it 
is the name “Vonnerius 
Ceramus.” This is merely 
an educated guess; no 
known person or family 
had such an unusual name. 
The proposed translation 
“Bounnereus the potter” is 
unlikely since it is doubt-
ful an artist would have placed his name in such a prominent location on a 
portrait of three obviously wealthy persons. Although the inscription on this 
medallion is indecipherable, it is not the object’s most unusual feature.

The women commonly identified as Galla Placidia’s daughter, Hono-
ria, looks androgynous. She also has no jewelry, which is surprising for a 
royal female. The unusually large knot that holds her coarse garment together  

A miniature painting on gilded glass on the 
Cross of Desiderius now in the Museo Civico 
dell’Eta Cristiana in Brescia, Italy. The mean-
ing of the caption in Greek letters, “BOUNNERI 
KERAMI,” is unknown. Long believed to depict 
Galla Placidia (right figure) along with her son  
(Valentinian III) and daughter (Justa Grata Hon-
oria), it is now dated nearly a century before her 
birth (Museo Civico dell’Eta Christiana/Scala/
Art Resource, NY).
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appears on robes worn by worshippers of the pagan goddess Isis, whose 
popular cult the Romans imported from Egypt. It could also represent the 
binding of Hercules that Roman brides placed on their tunics to ward off 
misfortune. Although both suggestions are plausible, her presence may have 
an otherworldly explanation.

The mysterious androgynous woman of this medallion is likely a guard-
ian spirit. This would explain her somewhat demonic features. Her hairstyle, 
clothing, and jewelry, moreover, are similar to portraits of the second century 
ce empress Julia Domna. This suggests the image likely dates to the reign of 
the Roman emperor Alexander Severus (222–234 ce), over a century before 
Galla Placidia’s birth.36 Because there is no evidence the “Cross of Desiderius” 
depicts Galla Placidia, it has no bearing on our story of her life despite its fre-
quent identification with her, and its reproduction in many books about her.

Our best surviving depiction of Galla Placidia is a large gold medallion 
in the Bibliothèque Nationale in Paris, which she had manufactured during 
her lifetime. We also have a drawing of her from the mosaic she commis-
sioned depicting Saint John the Evangelist saving her during a storm at sea.37 
These images reveal that Galla Placidia had a bulbous nose, large eyes, and 
small chin. She was by no means ugly. Yet, because she shared these features 
with other members of her family, these portrayals of her are certainly accu-
rate.38 Her portraits and those of her royal contemporaries show that the im-
perial women of her family wore elaborate hair designs and a crown studded 
with precious stones and other jewelry to indicate their status.39 Yet, Galla 
Placidia’s royal birth would not have given her complete protection from 
harm. Members of the emperor’s family too experienced violence and mis-
treatment, as the young Galla Placidia found out when the Visigoths besieged 
her in the city of Rome three times, took her captive, and then nearly killed 
her while her family did nothing to help her.
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Barbarian Terrors

The barbarian king Alaric trapped Galla Placidia inside the city of Rome 
when he besieged it twice. Although he was a Visigoth, he and his follow-
ers had served in Theodosius’s army. Galla Placidia’s father had sacrificed 
many of Alaric’s barbarian troops at the battle of Frigidus to spare Roman 
lives. Alaric vowed to destroy the Western Roman Empire because of the Ro-
mans’ continued unjust treatment of the Visigoths. By the time Galla Pla-
cidia reached her teenage years, Alaric and other tribes were ravaging cities 
and towns throughout Europe. Honorius and Stilicho were powerless to stop 
them. By her fifteenth birthday, many thought the end was near. When she 
turned seventeenth or eighteen, Alaric besieged Rome for the third time and 
sacked it, effectively destroying the Western Roman Empire. She lived in ter-
ror for the next six years.

Enemies Within

The Visigoths never planned to destroy the Roman Empire. Rather, they 
had no choice. Despite their military service in the Roman army, the West’s 
rulers, officials, and generals continued to betray them. The Visigoths hoped 
that choosing a single leader would guarantee their survival and help them 
attain their goal of creating a barbarian homeland in Europe. Alaric was the 
man the Visigoths appointed as their first king to save them. He vowed to 
establish a Visigoth kingdom inside the Western Roman Empire preferably 
through cooperation, but by force if necessary. Stilicho swore to stop him. He 
was on the verge of annihilating Alaric’s army when he received a message 
from the Eastern Roman Empire.

Rufinus sent Stilicho a letter on behalf of the Emperor Arcadius ordering 
him to return some auxiliary units in his army to Constantinople. These sol-
diers were from the Eastern Roman Empire; they had fought with Theodosius 
at Frigidus. Still in Italy at the time of his death, they were waiting for orders 
to return home. With the Roman Empire now divided, they legally belonged 
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to Arcadius. Rufinus knew that Stilicho could not defeat Alaric without them. 
Yet, he so hated Stilicho that he decided to recall them; he knew that doing so 
would allow the Visigoths to plunder Europe and kill many innocent Romans 
there.

Stilicho appointed a general of Gothic extraction named Gainas to re-
turn the Eastern Roman Empire’s units to Constantinople. When Rufinus 
went outside the city to meet them, they murdered him in the presence of 
Arcadius. A court eunuch named Eutropius immediately took Rufinus’s place 
as the emperor’s chief counsel.1

Alaric’s Wrath

After abandoning his pursuit of Alaric, Stilicho returned to Italy. He 
tried to secure the Rhine frontier to create a stable territory between the two 
halves of the Roman Empire. Stilicho also hoped bringing peace to this vio-
lent area would help him become the regent of the Eastern Roman Empire. 
Then, in 387 ce, Alaric took advantage of the feud between Stilicho and his 
eastern counterpart by invading Greece. The fifth century ce Greek philoso-
pher and historian Eunapius surprisingly blamed the clergy for Alaric’s dep-
redations there; he believed God was punishing the Roman Empire because 
its monks had sinned.2 With no one able to stop them, the Visigoths were 
ready to invade Italy and destroy the Roman Empire.

Stilicho wanted to attack Alaric in Greece before to prevent the Visigoths 
from reaching Italy. Unfortunately, a legal issue prevented him from doing 
so. The Eastern Roman Empire claimed jurisdiction over the waters through 
which his fleet had to navigate. Unwilling to seek permission from Arcadius 
and Eutropius, Stilicho decided to risk starting a civil war and confront Ala-
ric. He sailed to Greece and fought the Visigoths near the site of the Olympic 
Games. Once again, luck was on Alaric’s side. Stilicho’s undisciplined troops 
stopped their pursuit of Alaric to plunder his camp. Alaric was now free to 
march north and head towards Rome or Constantinople. Stilicho decided to 
follow him into the Eastern Roman Empire.

Stilicho’s pursuit of Alaric worsened matters for the Western Roman 
Empire. Eutropius refused to believe that Stilicho was in Greece to fight the 
Visigoths. Rather, he thought Stilicho was there to assert his claim that The-
odosius had appointed him regent for both of his sons. Eutropius persuaded 
Arcadius to declare Stilicho a public enemy for his unauthorized expedi-
tion into the Eastern Roman Empire. Then, Eutropius appointed Alaric to a 
high-ranking command position, which may have been the post of magister 
militum (“Masters of the Soldiers”), over the disputed province of Illyricum.

Alaric’s new rank placed him under Arcadius’s protection. The Visigoth 
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leader now had the legal right to request supplies from the civilian govern-
ment in Greece to use against the Western Roman army.3 Because Stilicho 
could not risk war with the Eastern Roman Empire by attacking one of its 
officials, he abandoned his pursuit of Alaric. There was another reason he 
had to leave Greece. Stilicho received news that civil unrest in North Africa 
threatened Italy’s grain supply.4 The Western Roman Empire faced imminent 
starvation.

The Corn Dole in Peril

Farmers dominated Galla Placidia’s world. Those who cultivated the land 
comprised over eighty percent of the Roman Empire’s population. They pro-
duced over sixty percent of its wealth. These tillers of the soil often paid their 
taxes in produce, which emperors and their wealthy bureaucrats hoarded in 
massive granaries. This allowed them to manipulate commodity markets by 
moving agricultural goods throughout the Roman Empire to take advantage 
of fluctuating prices. By 370 ce, more than two decades before Galla Placid-
ia’s birth, Rome was the largest city in the West. Its population numbered 
between half a million and more than one million. Foremost among the em-
peror’s many tasks was finding a way to feed its inhabitants.

Corn—the Roman word for wheat—kept the citizens of the Western 
Roman Empire alive. The problem facing the Romans in Galla Placidia’s 
day was that the technological limitations of the time prevented Europe 
from growing sufficient grain for Italy’s residents. Feeding the city of 
Rome’s population proved difficult; this was especially true for its most 
impoverished citizens. Between 120,000 and 200,000 of its poor inhabi-
tants depended on regular shipments of over 175,000 tons of wheat from 
North Africa to Rome’s port at nearby Ostia.5 To ensure the uninterrupted 
harvest, acquisition, and transport of this food to Italy, the Western Roman 
Empire stationed a vast array of bureaucrats and soldiers throughout North 
Africa. Peasants there had to toil on the same piece of land from genera-
tion to generation to feed Italy’s population; the government banned them 
from changing occupations. Life was harsh: tax collectors were brutal; sol-
diers were violent; the Romans had an insatiable appetite for North Africa’s 
grain.6

Once the shipments of food arrived in Rome’s port at Ostia, soldiers 
accompanied the cargo to the imperial warehouses for distribution. The state 
sold this wheat, known as the annona civica, the grain levy for citizens of 
Rome, at a fixed low price.7 Residents had to carry passports made of lead that 
recorded their entitlement to this ration, which also included pork and wine. 
This ancient form of welfare was a costly expenditure for the state in peace-
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time; it was difficult to maintain during periods of civil unrest; and everyone 
knew it would end when Alaric attacked the city and blockaded its port.

Galla Placidia’s contemporary Symmachus, a prominent Roman official 
and former governor of a North African province, described how Rome’s in-
habitants panicked when rumors spread through the city that the imperial 
warehouses were running out of grain.8 He reveals that the poor, the sick, and 
the young were not alone in facing starvation: Galla Placidia and the rich had 
little food as well. The threat of famine and civil unrest compelled Stilicho to 
abandon his pursuit of Alaric and return to Italy, leaving the residents of the 
countryside unprotected.9 Once home, Stilicho quickly realized he could do 
little to alleviate the city’s suffering because the Eastern Roman Empire was 
responsible for Italy’s plight.

Eutropius had encouraged the province of Mauretania, in today’s Mo-
rocco, to starve the Western Roman Empire. Gildo, the Berber son of its king, 
Nubel, responded to his request and halted all grain shipments to Italy.10 The-
odosius had placed him in charge of the region; he had quelled a rebellion of 
African tribes led by his brother, Firmus. Gildo had received the prestigious 
titles of comes Africae (the official responsible for the defense of North Africa) 
and magister utriusque militia per Africam (supreme military commander of 
the continent) for his loyalty. He had fulfilled his major responsibility of guar-
anteeing the regular delivery of grain to the city of Rome. Now, he was in 
league with Eutropius to destroy the Western Roman Empire.

One of Galla Placidia’s earliest memories was undoubtedly the autumn 
of 397 ce when she was between four and five years old. In that year, she 
watched as panic spread throughout the city of Rome after the imperial ware-
houses had run out of food. Officials feared the growing unrest would lead to 
violence. The Senate declared Gildo an “enemy of the state” and authorized 
war against him. Stilicho had no choice but to invade North Africa. Unfortu-
nately, he feared that Arcadius or Alaric would take advantage of his absence 
to attack Italy, and possibly the city of Rome as well. Stilicho likely used this 
potential threat to Italy’s security as a pretext to remain home, thereby avoid-
ing the dangerous Mediterranean crossing. Instead, he sent a barbarian to 
save the Western Roman Empire.

Like most rulers of the day, Gildo had many jealous members of his 
court and a bevy of discontented siblings. Earlier, he had a falling out with his 
brother, Mascezel. Fearing Gildo would murder him, Mascezel fled to Hon-
orius’s court. Gildo retaliated by killing his two nephews. Honorius decided 
to place Mascezel in charge of his army and send him to Africa to kill Gildo. 
According to one account, Mascezel had divine blessing for his new appoint-
ment; Bishop Ambrose purportedly appeared to him in a dream assuring him 
he would defeat his brother.11

Gildo’s army was larger than the invasion force. Nevertheless, Masce-
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zel and his retinue of Gallic veterans annihilated Gildo’s legions. Somehow, 
Gildo managed to flee the battlefield and embark on a ship for the East-
ern Roman Empire, where he planned to seek refuge with Arcadius. Winds 
drove his craft back to the shore; locals captured him. He committed suicide 
in prison.

Although he had literally saved the Western Roman Empire, Mascezel 
received no credit for his achievement. The poet Claudian immortalized the 
invasion of North African in a work he titled “The War Against Gildo” (De 
Bello Gildonico). It is a fictional piece of propaganda written to extol Stili-
cho. According to Claudian, Stilicho, not Mascezel, led the most famous 
regiments in Rome’s army to North Africa and defeated Gildo. Honorius 
also ignored Mascezel’s achievement and claimed that he and Stilicho had 
vanquished Gildo. Stilicho arranged Mascezel’s murder shortly after he re-
turned to Italy.12 Honorius certainly knew in advance of the crime; if not, 
he likely did not care when he received the news that Stilicho had ordered 
Mascezel’s assassination.

While Honorius’s generals were fighting to save the Western Roman 
Empire, the Huns invaded the Eastern Roman Empire. Eutropius success-
fully led troops against them. In 399 ce, the victorious Eutropius prepared 
to become consul. Many at Arcadius’s court were angry at his rapid political 
rise because he was a eunuch. Claudian, who was always ready to pen a verse 
to praise Stilicho, wrote an entire poem denouncing Eutropius. He laments 
over Eutropius’s elevation to high office: “every portent pales before our eu-
nuch consul; heaven and earth are shamed!”13 Eutropius’s numerous enemies 
conspired against him. Arcadius’s wife, Aelia Eudoxia, was among them. She 
made an alliance with Gainas, the military commander who had murdered 
Rufinus.

Realizing his end was near, Eutropius sought sanctuary in a church. De-
spite being under the protection of the law and God—churches were sanc-
tuaries where citizens could not be harmed—Gainas ordered his soldiers to 
drag him from the building. The great Christian cleric John Chrysostom in-
tervened and had Gainas’s men swear an oath not to harm Eutropius. After 
leaving the building under the belief he would not be executed, Eutropius 
stepped outside and was promptly arrested. Gainas sent him with an armed 
guard to the island of Cyprus. After confiscating his property, Gainas took 
measures to destroy his credibility and erase him from history. He issued a 
decree denouncing Eutropius and proclaiming that he had saved the consul-
ship, which had been “befouled and defiled by a filthy monster.” All images 
and portraits of Eutropius, whether in public building or private homes, were 
to be destroyed. Despite pleas from Chrysostom to spare his life, Gainas had 
Eutropius put to death.14 Gainas was now the most powerful man in the royal 
court. Or so he thought.
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Gainas: A Rebel in the East
Gainas had joined the Roman army as a common soldier. He had 

helped Theodosius fight the usurper Eugenius. Because of his military ex-
ploits, Gainas had expected Arcadius to give him a senior military posi-
tion for his loyal service. Eutropius had blocked his promotion because he 
was a Goth. In addition to his barbarian heritage, Eutropius did not trust 
him because he had failed to put down an invasion led by the Ostrogothic 
chieftain, Tribigild, in Asia Minor. Because the empress had asked him to 
murder Eutropius, Gainas believed he was now the most influential man in 
the Eastern court despite his past indiscretions. But he failed to realize there 
was a problem.

Roman monarchs did not like their senior officials assassinated unless 
they consented in advance. Rome’s emperors also did not want their family 
members to engage in politics without their knowledge. Arcadius’s wife ap-
parently did not tell her spouse of her plan to eliminate Eutropius. It nearly 
destroyed the Eastern Roman Empire.

In April 400 ce, Gainas brought Gothic troops to Constantinople and 
ruled the city for several months; Arcadius was powerless to stop him. During 
Gainas’s reign of terror, he removed all officials unfriendly to the Goths 
from their civic positions. Only the intervention of the future saint, John 
Chrysostom, stopped Gainas’s political assassinations. John had been given 
the nickname Chrysostom (“golden-mouthed”) because of his charismatic or-
atory. He was not merely known for his rhetorical eloquence, but also widely 
feared for his violent temperament. He led a zealous band of monks, funded 
by women in his congregation, who terrorized pagans and destroyed their 
shrines.15

Riots erupted between the city’s Romans and barbarians. A mob killed 
7,000 Goths. Residents set fire to churches where Gothic civilians, many of 
whom were Christians, had sought sanctuary. Then, a Gothic commander 
loyal to Arcadius named Fravittas arrived, forcing Gainas from the city. 
Gainas, realizing he lacked imperial approval for his actions, fled. He took 
the remnants of his army north of the Danube where he attempted to create 
his own kingdom. The Hunnic chief Uldin killed him and sent his head to 
Arcadius in Constantinople.16 Eudocia emerged from this period with her 
reputation intact: presumably, she successfully kept her involvement in Eu-
tropius’s execution from her husband.

On January 9, 400 ce, Arcadius celebrated Gainas’s defeat by giving 
his wife, Eudocia, the title Augusta. This honor allowed her to wear a purple 
cloak like the emperor. She minted coins that depict her emerging from a 
cloud driving off the barbarian leader who “had fled from God.” Arcadius 
began construction of a monumental triumphal column that depicted Gain-
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as’s defeat in lavish reliefs. His son and successor, Theodosius II, completed 
it. It later became unstable; municipal authorities demolished it around 1500 
ce. Only its red granite base, located on a busy street corner of present-day 
Istanbul, and a sixteenth century ce drawing of its lost reliefs survives.17

The revolt of Gainas greatly increased Eodocia’s power at the imperial 
court of the Eastern Roman Empire. Unfortunately, it adversely affected rela-
tions between the Romans and the Visigoths in the Western Roman Empire. 
Gainas had been a first-generation immigrant. Many Goths in the West now 
feared the government there wanted to emulate the mobs in Constantinople 
and kill them. This ethnic hatred increased when Alaric moved his forces to-
wards Italy. Some of Rome’s citizens feared the Goths in the city were secretly 
in league with the invaders. Stilicho, with considerable public support, un-
dertook an aggressive campaign against the Visigoths. He defeated Alaric in 
two battles, forcing him to retreat to his base in the Balkans. Now, Alaric was 
an outlaw in both halves of the Roman Empire; consequently, many Roman 
citizens considered all the Gothic tribes who had settled legally in the Roman 
Empire their common enemy. Alaric vowed to destroy the city of Rome and 
protect the barbarians.18 Galla Placidia, now seven or eight years old, would 
soon face the most dangerous period of her life.

Alaric on the March

In 401 ce, Alaric and his followers marched towards the northern Italian 
city of Milan. Stilicho was in the northeast, in the Alpine province of Raetia. 
He was there fighting to prevent several barbarian tribes from entering the 
Western Roman Empire: the Suebi, the Alans, and the Vandals. When Stili-
cho received news that Alaric was nearby, he panicked.

Stilicho undertook a drastic act to save Italy that was literally a death 
sentence for many Romans. He summoned legions from Gaul and Britain 
to Italy. Barbarians there took advantage of the departure of these imperial 
troops to seize most of these regions. Fearing he still lacked sufficient men 
to repel Alaric’s forces, Stilicho recruited Vandal and Alan mercenaries. This 
action made it clear to many Romans that the Western Roman Empire could 
only defeat barbarian invaders by relying upon other barbarians. Two men of 
barbarian ancestry leading armies comprised of other barbarians now deter-
mined the future of Galla Placidia’s West: Stilicho and Alaric.19

Despite Stilicho’s unprecedented action to ward off Alaric, the Romans 
had no confidence in their soldiers. With so many barbarians entering the 
Western Roman Empire, Stilicho could not recruit enough men-at-arms to 
deal with the continued threats to Europe’s security. Landowners were no 
longer willing to allow the government to impress their peasants into military 
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service. Through bribery and force, they kept their workers on their lands 
both for their profit and for their protection. Stilicho had no choice but to 
decrease the number of Italians in the Roman army and instead rely upon 
more barbarians. If this was not a dire enough situation, the imperial coffers 
were insufficient to pay the army. Then, Alaric began to approach Italy: his 
ultimate goal was the city of Rome.

Stilicho and Arcadius panicked. They decided to fortify the city of 
Rome’s walls. In the meanwhile, Alaric besieged Milan. The young Galla Pla-
cidia cowered behind Rome’s ramparts, hoping they would hold when Alaric 
attacked them.20 Stilicho persuaded Honorius and his court to trust in Milan’s 
defenses until he arrived with imperial forces. Roman legions attacked Alaric 
at night there, forcing the Visigoths to abandon their quest to take the city. 
The two armies then fought one another on Easter Day, 402 ce. Although 
Alaric repulsed the Roman cavalry, he was unable to defeat Stilicho’s infantry 
and barbarian reserves. Roman troops captured Alaric’s camp and retrieved 
a portion of the booty the Visigoths had stolen from the Romans after their 
disastrous defeat at Adrianople. They also took Alaric’s wife, children, and 
several barbarian nobles as hostages. In July or August of 402 ce, Stilicho 
fought Alaric near Verona. The battle was indecisive. Alaric retreated to his 
base in the Balkans and remained there for the next three years. During that 
time, he took control of Illyricum to block movement between both halves of 
the Roman Empire.

Stilicho so feared Alaric that he decided to employ Arcadius’s strategy 
and offer him the senior military position of magister militum (“Master of the 
Soldiers”). This title meant that Alaric now worked for the Western Roman 
Empire and could requisition provisions from its supply system. Although it 
may look like a concession made from a position of weakness, Stilicho had a 
good reason for allowing Alaric and his Visigoths to become part of his army. 
He hoped this alliance would help him seize the disputed territory of Illyri-
cum from the Eastern Roman Empire.

Although Stilicho and Arcadius realized the Visigoths constituted a 
threat to both halves of the Roman Empire, they were unwilling to cooper-
ate to protect their homelands from impending barbarian incursions.21 Of 
the two kingdoms, the Western Roman Empire was in the worse situation. 
The imperial court had moved from Milan to the coastal city of Ravenna 
because the Romans erroneously believed invading armies could not traverse 
its marshes.22 Despite its extensive wetlands and fortifications, military forces 
captured Ravenna several times during the fifth and sixth centuries ce.23 Nev-
ertheless; it had one strategic advantage for the emperor. Unlike Rome, it was 
located on the Adriatic Sea. Should Alaric capture it, Honorius could quickly 
sail to Constantinople. Although he had a viable avenue of escape, Galla Pla-
cidia did not. He had left her in Rome to face the barbarian onslaught alone. 
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While Rome’s citizens prepared for Alaric’s attack, a new foe arrived seeking 
to destroy the Western Roman Empire.

Dangers All Around: Barbarians and Romans  
Invade the West

From late 405 ce to the first half of 406 ce, a stranger from the east 
threatened Italy. His name was Radagaisus; he was a pagan Ostrogoth king.24 
The Huns had pushed him and his tribe into Europe. Because he did not pass 
through the Balkans when he attacked Italy, he likely approached from the 
Great Hungarian Plain, west of the Carpathian Mountains.25	

It is difficult to determine the size of Radagaisus’s army. The historian 
Zosimus provides the rather implausible number of 400,000 soldiers; mod-
ern estimates offer the more likely figure of 20,000 warriors. Because many 
families and other noncombatants accompanied his force, Radagaisus likely 
had at least 100,000 armed men. His followers quickly depleted local food 
supplies as they marched through Italy, making life difficult for its inhabi-
tants. Archaeologists have discovered treasure hidden in homes that Romans 
likely fleeing from Radagaisus had left behind. They were unable to retrieve 
their possessions because they were dead or chose not to return because of 
continued barbarian threats.26

Stilicho lacked sufficient men to confront Radagaisus. His forces were so 
scattered throughout the Western Roman Empire that it took him six months 
to assemble them. In the meanwhile, Radagaisus plundered northern Italy. 
Stilicho eventually mobilized thirty regiments, which technically consisted of 
15,000 troops. He also summoned Alan and Hun auxiliaries.

Stilicho’s army defeated Radagaisus at Florentia (modern Florence). 
Radagaisus attempted to escape; Stilicho captured and executed him. The Ro-
mans were so desperate to fill their ever-shrinking forces that Stilicho drafted 
12,000 of Radagaisus’s men into his army; he enslaved the rest.27 Then, an-
other threat emerged from the north. This time it was not barbarians, but 
Roman citizens.

While Stilicho was fighting Radagaisus, the British army proclaimed a 
series of usurpers as their emperor. They undertook this treasonous action 
because they were unhappy with Honorius and Stilicho for failing to pro-
tect their island from barbarian invaders. Two pretenders there met untimely 
ends. The first, Marcus, refused to consent to the demands of his troops. His 
soldiers murdered him and replaced him with an equally undistinguished 
man named Gratian. They quickly became discontented with their new mon-
arch and executed him four months later. As his successor, the legions ap-
pointed a soldier named Constantine. Because he was likely an illegitimate 
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son of Constantine the Great, historians refer to him as Constantine III to 
distinguish him from the many other important Romans with that name.28

Constantine III was not content to rule Britain alone. Rather, he wanted 
to seize Honorius’s kingdom. He crossed the English Channel, captured much 
of Gaul, and occupied a portion of a Spain. Constantine III and his men then 
fought hostile Vandals and other barbarians in the region. He also made trea-
ties with several barbarian tribes to increase his territory. The Roman inhab-
itants of Gaul supported him because they felt Stilicho and Honorius had 
abandoned them.

Stilicho now feared the usurper Constantine III more than Alaric. He 
sent a Gothic officer named Sarus to fight him. The army of Constantine III 
overwhelmed Sarus’s men, forcing him to flee to the Alps. Constantine III 
declared Arles, located on today’s southern French coast, his capital. From 
there, he governed a portion of the Western Empire from 407 to 411 ce. As he 
expanded his realm, he made treaties with several Germanic bands along the 
Rhine frontier: the Alamanni, the Franks, and the Burgundians. This secured 
his position in Europe and made it nearly impossible for Honorius to remove 
him from power. Then, while Constantine III was threatening the Western 
Roman Empire, another unexpected event put the teenage Galla Placidia in 
danger.29

The Downfall of Stilicho

On May 1, 408 ce, Arcadius died of what the ancients presumed were 
natural causes. He was thirty-one years old; he left behind three daughters 
and a seven-year-old son, Theodosius II (408–50 ce).30 Appointed by his fa-
ther as Augustus after his first birthday, the young Theodosius II was legally 
the ruler of the Eastern Roman Empire. Stilicho wanted to travel to Constan-
tinople to represent the Western Roman Empire’s interests before the new 
monarch. The problem was that Honorius planned to go there to congratulate 
his eastern counterpart. Serena urged her spouse not to oppose the emper-
or’s wish and remain home. Stilicho insisted on representing Honorius at the 
court. Honorius relented and allowed him to travel to Constantinople in his 
place.

Stilicho’s decision to draft 12,000 Goths into the Roman army had caused 
many Romans to mistrust him. His distractors claimed he was a traitor since 
had made Alaric a military commander in the Western Roman army and 
had employed his own elite bodyguard of Huns. His Vandal ancestry did not 
encourage many to rise to his defense when prominent Romans spread trea-
sonous rumors about him. Olympius, a senior official, was among them. He 
convinced Honorius that Stilicho wanted to go to the Eastern Roman Empire 
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to place his son, Eucherius, on the Western throne. Although this rumor was 
false, discrimination against barbarians residing in the Western Roman Em-
pire was now so widespread that many were willing to believe it. In an age 
when close advisors, especially soldiers, murdered rulers, Honorius had good 
reason to fear Stilicho was preparing to remove him from power.

On August 13, 408 ce, the Western army assembled at its main head-
quarters in the northern Italian town of Pavia (Ticinum). Stilicho was nearby 
at Bologna. When Honorius appeared to review the troops, his soldiers killed 
many of Stilicho’s supporters—both Roman and German—in the city. After 
Stilicho realized Honorius had betrayed him, his barbarian partisans—12,000 
of whom had formerly followed Radagaisus—urged him to retaliate.31 Stilicho 
refused; these men deserted him.

Honorius declared Stilicho a public enemy and ordered his arrest. 
Stilicho fled to Ravenna where he sought sanctuary in a church. Olympius 
promised to protect him if he appeared before the emperor to defend him-
self. When Stilicho ignored the advice of his friends and left the building, an 
officer named Heraclian cut off his head. Stilicho had led the Western Roman 
Empire for thirteen years; he was forty-nine years old.

Honorius and Olympius confiscated Stilicho’s property and killed many 
of his supporters. The previous year, Stilicho had pressured Honorius to 
marry his daughter, Thermantia. She was reportedly still a virgin; however, 
there were widespread rumors about Honorius’s virility.32 Honorius sent her 
back to her mother; she died in obscurity in the summer of 415 ce. Her family 
likely gave her a royal burial in Saint Peter’s Basilica in Rome since she had 
been the emperor’s spouse.33

Some of Stilicho’s barbarian troops fled with his son, Eucherius, to the 
suburbs of Rome. They took refuge in a church, which they used as a base 
to connect with other Goths to plunder the countryside. Imperial agents 
tracked down and captured Eucherius. Honorius executed him in Rome on 
the charge of treason a few months after Stilicho’s murder. Stilicho’s rapid 
downfall put Galla Placidia in a difficult situation because he had planned 
to marry her to Eucherius. She was fifteen or sixteen years old, an age con-
sidered old by the standards of the time for a woman to be single. Although 
none of our sources explains why, Stilicho must have forced her to remain 
unmarried so she could wed his son. He clearly expected Eucherius to be-
come emperor.34

The death of Stilicho and his son created great political instability in the 
Western Roman Empire. Olympius assumed the senior bureaucratic post of 
magister officiorum (“Master of Offices”). His incompetence made many long 
for Stilicho, whom Claudian had extolled as the “one hope of salvation” for 
the Western Roman Empire.35 The West’s situation worsened when Olympius 
reversed Stilicho’s policy of accommodation with the Visigoths. Roman sol-
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diers throughout Italy massacred barbarians serving in the Roman legions, 
along with their families. Nearly thirty thousand barbarians fled north to join 
Alaric.

The Aftermath of Stilicho’s Death

The Western Roman Empire now faced two enemies: Alaric and Con-
stantine III. Realizing Honorius’s precarious situation, Alaric decided to 
pressure him to negotiate. He offered to withdraw from Pannonia in eastern 
Europe in exchange for 4,000 pounds of gold and Roman hostages. Honorius’s 
envoy, Olympius, refused. Historians debate whether Olympius doomed the 
Western Roman Empire when he rejected Alaric’s offer of peace, or whether 
it was already beyond saving. However, no one can be blamed for its fall. The 
Western Roman Empire was declining so rapidly that it is doubtful anyone 
could have prevented Alaric from destroying it.36

As Alaric’s army moved south, Rome’s officials distributed weapons to 
its citizens, along with some rudimentary instructions how to use them. With 
the Visigoths between Rome and Ravenna, there was no one to halt Alaric’s 
advance. According to Zosimus, Alaric sauntered to the city of Rome ridicul-
ing Honorius’ preparations to stop him.37 Its terrified citizens had only one 
member of the royal family to turn to for help—Galla Placidia.
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The Sack of Rome

Galla Placidia watched in horror as starvation spread throughout Rome. 
Corpses littered its streets because the attacking Visigoths refused to allow 
anyone to bury their dead in the cemeteries outside its walls.1 Citizens had 
to defy Roman law and custom and inter rotting bodies in the city to stop 
the pervasive stench. Rich and poor alike suffered. Galla Placidia, fifteen or 
sixteen years old at the time, was among them. Her half-brother, the emperor 
Honorius, preferred to see Rome destroyed rather than allow barbarians to 
settle in the Western Roman Empire. He apparently did not care that his de-
cision could result in her death.

The First Siege of Rome (408 ce): Galla Placidia’s  
Great Shortcoming

In September of 408 ce, Alaric’s army arrived. His followers quickly 
surrounded Rome, blocking all communication with Ravenna. The grain 
warehouses of Ostia were now under his control. Only the defensive wall the 
emperors Aurelian and Probus had built between 271 and 275 ce separated 
the city’s helpless population from Alaric’s angry Visigoths. It was twelve 
miles (nineteen kilometers) in length and fifty-two feet (fifteen meters) in 
height.2 Fortunately, the Visigoths lacked the battering rams and catapults 
necessary to destroy this massive edifice. Nevertheless, time was on Alaric’s 
side.

With a hostile army waiting to pillage Rome, and no salvation in sight, 
many residents succumbed to their baser instincts. Everyone looked for 
someone to blame for their plight. They found the perfect person in their 
midst—Stilicho’s wife, Serena. A rumor quickly spread throughout the city 
that she had helped the Visigoths. Although this allegation was baseless, 
many of Rome’s desperate residents believed it.3 Facing the possibility of a 
hostile and starving citizenry assaulting them, the senators relented to public 
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pressure and unanimously voted for Serena’s execution.4 The problem was 
they were reluctant to carry out the sentence.

Serena was the niece and foster daughter of Galla Placidia’s late father 
and the cousin and foster mother of Western Roman Emperor Honorius. 
Because Honorius had allowed Serena to remain in Rome after Stilicho’s as-
sassination, the senators were afraid to kill her without their ruler’s permis-
sion. Rome’s politicians wanted royal support to justify their actions. Only the 
teenage Galla Placidia could sanction Serena’s murder.5

As the half-sister of the Eastern and the Western Roman emperors and 
the sole member of the imperial family in Rome, Galla Placidia’s loyalty to 
both halves of the Roman Empire was never in doubt. She supported those 
demanding Serena’s death. None of the extant accounts offers an explanation 
why. Serena had been trapped inside Rome with Galla Placidia. Clearly, she 
had no opportunity to communicate with the Visigoths either to betray the 
city or for her protection. However, a close study of what the surviving docu-
ments of this time do not record may offer an explanation why Galla Placidia 
essentially murdered her stepmother.

Galla Placidia is largely absent from the literature until this time. The 
court poet Claudian did not mention her in his account of her brother Hon-
orius’s triumphal procession in Rome. She was there and likely sat alongside 
her sibling in the royal chariot. Claudian does refer to her in his later poem 
praising Stilicho’s consulship. In this composition, he expressed his hope that 
Galla Placidia would marry Stilicho’s son, Eucherius, and become an Au-
gusta: the highest title an emperor could bestow upon a woman. The poet 
also predicted that Stilicho’s daughter, Maria, would bear a future emperor. 
Although Claudian shows that Stilicho intended to marry his son to Galla 
Placidia in 400 ce, four years later he apparently had abandoned his plan. We 
can only speculate why.

Given Stilicho’s desire to govern the Western Roman Empire, it is prob-
able that his daughter’s failure to produce an heir for Honorius had weakened 
his position at the royal court. A union between his son and Galla Placidia 
would have been problematic: many would have viewed it as his effort to take 
power through her royal bloodline. Instead of mentioning, her, Claudian now 
chose to leave her out of his writings and simply portray his patron, Stilicho, 
as the sole hope of the Western Roman Empire’s salvation. Because Galla Pla-
cidia could potentially produce an heir to her brother’s throne, Stilicho and 
Honorius apparently did not want her to wed anyone. She appears to have 
become an outcast in her family and a virtual prisoner of Serena and Stilicho. 
When archaeologists found Maria’s sarcophagus in Rome, she was still wear-
ing a golden locket. It names all the members of the imperial family except 
Galla Placidia.6

It is probable that the young Galla Placidia resented Serena and Stili-
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cho. Now that the latter was dead, she was happy to see her former guard-
ian meet an unfortunate end. Given that Honorius was making no effort to 
protect Rome, her survival was uncertain. With no hope of salvation, she 
gladly approved the Senate’s request to execute Serena on the charge of trea-
son. According to the Roman historian Zosimus, who likely read the official 
decree, the sentence was unjust. It is doubtful that Galla Placidia attended the 
deliberation in the Senate building, known as the Curia Julia.7 Because the 
Senate was an all-male institution, some of its prominent members likely met 
at her home to discuss the case and obtain her permission to carry out the 
sentence.8 She presumably affixed her signature to some official document 
authorizing Serena’s execution. In case the decision backfired, the politicians 
could blame her. According to Zosimus:

When Alaric reached Rome and was besieging its inhabitants, the Senate accused 
Serena of bringing the barbarians to their city. The entire Senate along with Galla 
Placidia, who had the same father as the emperor (Honorius) but a different mother, 
agreed to execute her because of the present calamity. They hoped that Alaric, upon 
hearing of Serena’s death, would depart from the city since there would be no one left 
there to betray it into his hands. The accusation against Serena had no basis in fact. 
However, she deserved her suffering because of her disrespect of the gods.9

What made this affair particularly cruel is that Galla Placidia knew Sere-
na’s death would be horrible and slow. The Romans preferred lingering and 
gruesome public executions for anyone deemed an enemy of the state.10 In 
keeping with this tradition, the Senate, after receiving Galla Placidia’s per-
mission, ordered Serena to be strangled.11

Rome’s pagan population did not blame Galla Placidia or the Senate for 
Serena’s execution because they believed the gods had wanted her dead. Zo-
simus tells us why. Ten years earlier, Serena had stolen a necklace from the 
statue of the goddess Rea Silvia. This deity was important in the Roman pan-
theon because she was the mother of the city’s legendary founders, the twins 
Romulus and Remus, both of whom had purportedly been raised by a wolf.12 
No one tried to stop her except an elderly Vestal Virgin; Serena abused her. 
This act, many Romans believed, was more disrespectful to the gods than the 
theft of the sacred jewelry.

Of all the women in the Roman Empire, none held a high status than 
the Vestal Virgins. They were a celibate order of priestesses who protected 
the Roman goddess of the hearth, Vesta. Their task was to keep the sacred 
flame burning at all times. They were among the most respected members 
of Roman society; they were close to the emperor and under his protection. 
Serena had abused the elderly Vestal who had tried to prevent her from 
desecrating the sacred statue. This outraged the Romans because harming 
a Vestal was a great crime. Following her violation of the Vestal, Serena 
further shocked many citizens when she wore the sacred necklace in pub-
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lic.13 The pagans were not the only Romans who feared angering the ancient 
gods.

Many Christians of Galla Placidia’s time wondered whether they had 
chosen the wrong faith; they worried the deities that had protected the city of 
Rome for thousands of years had sent Alaric to punish them for abandoning 
paganism. Although Christianity was the Roman Empire’s dominant religion, 
it bore little resemblance to the faith practiced today. It was a new belief for 
many Romans; few pagan converts to Christianity knew much about it. Priests 
were largely illiterate; copies of the Bible were scarce; most Christians (Galla 
Placidia among them) believed in demons.14 Even Saint Augustine, the most 
famous bishop of the era and an associate of Galla Placidia, feared evil spir-
its. He wrote that demons had created paganism and all pagans were under 
their powers.15 The famed Christian teacher Tertullian agreed. Demons, he 
taught, had created paganism so that humans could provide their sustenance: 
the sacrifices offered in temples were the gods’ spiritual food necessary for 
their well-being.16 Some prominent Christians believed these divine beings 
rejoiced whenever a Christian abandoned the God of the Bible. With death 
imminent, many of Rome’s Christians were prepared to forsake their faith 
and return to the ancient rites. Now that the Senate’s execution of Serena 
had failed to repel the Visigoths, the city’s officials realized they had to find 
another way to save Rome. The Senate decided to surrender.

Alaric demanded all the gold and silver in the city. He also ordered 
the Romans to free their slaves. Alaric delivered his celebrated retort when 
Rome’s officials begged him for mercy, “the thicker the grass, the easier it is 
mowed!” When a Roman ambassador asked Alaric what he intended to leave 
behind, he purportedly replied, “your lives.”17 With no army willing to help 
them and insufficient money to pay Alaric’s ransom, many pagans and Chris-
tians turned to the gods of old to save them.

According to Zosimus, some visiting Etruscan priests were among those 
trapped in the city with Galla Placidia.18 These men were descendants of 
the race that had ruled Rome before the Italian tribes had overthrown their 
monarchy to create the Roman Republic.19 They still practiced the ancient 
pagan faith of their ancestors. The Etruscans told Rome’s pagan urban prefect, 
Gabinius Barbarus Pompeianus, that Etruscan prayers and rituals had once 
freed a besieged city called Narnia from its enemies.20 If the same rite took 
place in Rome, they claimed, the gods would send sacred thunder to drive 
Alaric away from the city. Although many believed their ritual would work, 
the Senate was reluctant to perform it because its members feared Honorius’s 
wrath should they survive Alaric’s siege.

Galla Placidia’s father, the emperor Theodosius the Great, had banned 
the public observance of pagan rituals; Honorius had renewed the prohibi-
tion. Yet, according to pagan custom, public rituals performed for the benefit 
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of the people had to be conducted at public expense. Consequently, the Etrus-
cans would not relent and insisted that they perform their sacred rite before 
all of Rome’s trapped citizens. Fearful of the emperor’s wrath should they sur-
vive, the Senate would not defy the royal ban. Yet, Pompeianus also wanted 
the Etruscans to perform their ritual in public. Nevertheless, he realized he 
needed the backing of the Senate before he could authorize the ceremony. 
Because the Senators still refused to sanction a pagan rite, he turned to the 
most powerful institution in the Roman Empire other than the emperor for 
support—the Church.21

Pope Innocent I agreed to allow the Etruscan priests to hold their pagan 
ceremony to save the city. Yet, despite his position as head of the church, he 
also lacked the authority to deify Honorius’s prohibition because popes had 
limited powers in the Roman Empire.22 Innocent I proposed the Etruscans 
conduct their ritual in secret to avoid angering Honorius. Because pagans 
believed such observances were effective only when performed in public, the 
Etruscans insisted the ceremony take place in the Forum, the town square, 
near the Senate building.23 Now that the city of Rome was under attack for 
the first time in eight hundred years, many Christians shared the Pope’s des-
peration. They wanted to conduct the Etruscan ceremony. Should it fail, they 
could always ask God for forgiveness.

Despite a papal blessing, few officials were willing to allow the Etruscans 
to conduct a pagan sacrifice in the Forum. They feared harmful repercussions 
should they survive; although God may forgive them, they were not as certain 
about Honorius. Consequently, it never took place. With no help expected 
from Honorius, pagan deities, or the Christian God, the Senate—both pagan 
and Christian members alike—decided to meet Alaric’s demand.

The Senate agreed to send the Visigoths all the city’s wealth along with 
several aristocratic children as hostages.24 There was one problem: how to 
obtain the promised sum. The Senate sent a man named Palladius to col-
lect contributions from prominent Romans. He failed to obtain the needed 
amount; Rome’s nobles were selfish and, despite the gravity of their situation, 
refused to part with their assets. Then, the Senate thought it found a solution. 
Its members heard that a prominent Christian couple named Pinianus and 
Melania had recently acquired a substantial sum of money.

A Rich Young Couple

Pinianus and Melania were super-rich by the standards of their time. 
They had inherited large estates in Italy, Spain, Sicily, and North Africa. 
Raised pagans, they had converted to Christianity in their teens. They were 
famous because they practiced a strict ascetic lifestyle and had donated a con-
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siderable portion of their wealth to the poor.25 Rich Romans scorned them for 
their generosity. Even Augustine told Melania she and her husband should 
give away less. Augustine said this because he and other prominent clergy 
feared their philanthropy set a bad example: it implied that God wanted the 
rich, including many bishops, to relinquish a substantial portion of their 
money.26 Many affluent and powerful Romans were also angry that she and 
her spouse had found a clever way to exploit the tax system just before Ala-
ric’s arrival.

Pinianus and Melania owned much land in Rome’s suburbs. They sold 
the produce they grew there in the urban market for a substantial profit. Slaves 
worked most of their estates; they and other wealthy citizens used forced 
labor to avoid paying wages to poor Roman citizens in need of employment.27 
Pinianus and Melania apparently felt this did not save them enough money. 
With real estate prices for their property at a premium, they decided to sell. In 
408 ce, shortly before Alaric reached Rome, they approached Serena for help 
in obtaining the ancient equivalent of tax-exempt status for their suburban 
farms.

Serena arranged for Pinianus and Melania to receive an imperial edict 
that placed their property under the state’s authority. This legal fiction 
meant that the emperor had confiscated their properties. Government of-
ficials now had to sell their lands at public auction. Under normal circum-
stances, the proceeds of the sale would go into the imperial coffers. In this 
instance, because of Serena’s legal ruse, Pinianus and Melania would receive 
all the money. Many Romans were livid Serena had protected their wealth 
and allowed them to profit from the transaction by not paying taxes. This 
was not the only reason Rome’s affluent and influential citizens were upset 
with them.

When Pinianus and Melania sold their land, they freed their eight thou-
sand slaves who farmed it. Although their trade in human chattel is repulsive 
by modern standards, many Christians in the Roman Empire owned slaves. 
Pinianus and Melania merely followed the New Testament’s injunction that 
slavery was acceptable if Christian owners did not abuse their human prop-
erty.28 The Bishops at the 342 ce Council of Gangra had excommunicated one 
of their own, Eustathius and his followers, for encouraging slaves to flee their 
masters and live as Christian ascetics in the desert.29 Because of the Bible’s 
support of slavery, few Christians at the time would have condemned Pin-
ianus and Melania for engaging in the buying and selling of humans. Unfor-
tunately, manumitting so many slaves raises some disturbing questions about 
their treatment of these unfortunate individuals.

It is difficult to imagine any circumstance in which slavery would be 
more desirable than freedom. Galla Placidia’s time was one such period; some 
of her poor contemporaries preferred a life of servitude rather than liberty 
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simply to avoid starvation. It is doubtful that Pinianus and Melania gave their 
slaves much money upon their release. Because slaves could not become citi-
zens, they were ineligible for any public welfare. Now Pinanus’s and Melania’s 
former slaves faced starvation as they too were trapped in the city during 
Alaric’s siege. With their survival uncertain, they begged the couple to restore 
them to their former state of bondage and feed them. They refused. Pinanus’s 
brother, Severus, purchased many of them at reduced prices. He planned to 
resell his newly acquired human property for a substantial profit once the 
siege was over. Convinced he had made a shrewd business deal, Severus un-
doubtedly wept when Rome’s officials ordered the expulsion of all slaves from 
the city to avoid feeding them.

The plight of the former slaves of Pinianus and Melania was tragic not 
merely because they willingly begged to return to their former state of bond-
age to avoid starvation, but because many of them had once been Roman 
citizens. The barbarian king Radagaisus had captured and enslaved them four 
years earlier when he had sacked their cities and towns. Pinianus and Melania 
and many influential Romans had taken advantage of their misfortune for 
financial gain and had purchased them at reduced prices in Italy’s slave mar-
ket.30 Now expelled from the city, Rome’s former slaves had no option other 
than to join Alaric’s forces. The Visigoths welcomed them. Some wanted re-
venge against their former masters. They informed Alaric where their previ-
ous owners had hidden their wealth. Rome’s Senators realized they needed 
to act quickly before Alaric’s Visigoths accompanied by many of their former 
slaves stormed the city’s walls to plunder and kill them.

In early 409 ce, Pompeianus proposed that the state confiscate the prof-
its Pinianus and Melania had received from the sale of their estates and use 
the money to pay Alaric to leave Rome. The Senate agreed and announced 
their decision in public. It is probable they also wanted to take the couple’s 
remaining wealth because of their association with Stilicho and Serena.31 Un-
fortunately, the city’s population was angry the Senators planned to steal from 
Pinianus and Melania to avoid parting with their own money. A mob stoned 
Pompeianus to death. This left Pinianus and Melania free to spend their cap-
ital as they saw fit. Although they decided to give much of it to the poor, 
there was a problem with their generosity. They did not want to help the city’s 
suffering population, including their former slaves. Rather, they were only 
willing to assist the “holy poor,” namely Christian monks. Later, in 417 ce, the 
couple fled to Jerusalem to escape the barbarian invasions in Europe. There, 
they adopted a lifestyle of self-induced poverty. Nevertheless, they still had 
enough riches to construct several religious buildings on the Mount of Olives 
where Christians believe Jesus had ascended to heaven.32

Despite the Senate’s best efforts to collect money, Rome’s rich proved 
adept at hiding their assets. With time running out to meet Alaric’s deadline, 
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the Senate decided to do something unprecedented. It issued an edict order-
ing the removal and melting of all gold and silver statues and decorations in 
the city’s pagan temples. Through this act, which many Romans considered a 
sacrilege, the Senate amassed enough wealth to satisfy Alaric.

The Senate gave Alaric 5,000 pounds of gold, 30,000 pounds of silver, 
4,000 silk robes, 3,000 purple-dyed furs, and 3,000 pounds of pepper.33 In 
exchange, he allowed Rome’s citizens three days to obtain grain from Ostia. 
Unfortunately, marauding Visigoths stole their food. Alaric was so angry that 
he provided supplies to make up for the theft since he had given his word he 
would feed the city’s inhabitants in exchange for the ransom. He also ordered 
the emancipation of the few remaining slaves still inside Rome.34

Many Romans throughout the Western Roman Empire were angry 
Honorius had failed to protect the city of Rome and Galla Placidia. He de-
cided he had to make some effort to help. Honorius sent 6,000 Dalmatian 
soldiers from today’s Croatia to attack the Visigoths. Alaric’s men easily de-
feated them. In 409 ce, Alaric withdrew his forces from Rome. He traveled to 
Arminum (modern Rimini), just over thirty miles south of Ravenna on the 
Italian coast, to negotiate with Honorius. The Senate was so worried about 
the outcome of the meeting that they sent their leading officials to meet him, 
including the Pope.

The Pope Intervenes

Pope Innocent I traveled under the protection of a barbarian escort 
with Rome’s ambassadors to Ravenna. Pope John Paul II said in a 1981 
speech this was the first time a Pope had interfered in European politics.35 
The delegation, through Innocent I’s efforts, managed to convince Honorius 
to send an official named Jovian to meet Alaric.36 During the negotiations, 
the Visigoth king agreed to defend the Western Roman Empire if Honorius 
made him its highest-ranking military officer, the magister utriusque mili-
tiae, and gave him large quantities of grain and gold.37 Jovian sent a letter 
to Honorius with Alaric’s demands, which he thought were reasonable. The 
emperor wrote back, stating that Jovian could negotiate grain and gold but 
not offer Alaric any position in the armed forces. Alaric was enraged; he 
returned to Rome.38 Honorius gathered a force of ten thousand Huns to 
fight him. In the meanwhile, Galla Placidia and Rome’s citizens remained 
trapped inside the city, surrounded by hostile Visigoths, other barbarians, 
and their former slaves.

Alaric sent the bishops of each city under his control to negotiate a set-
tlement with Honorius. The Visigoth leader was willing to accept less. Instead 
of a military command, Alaric requested land in two Norican provinces on 
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the Danube frontier and sufficient grain to feed his people. His moderation 
amazed his contemporaries. Jovian, however, thought that Alaric’s conces-
sions demonstrated he was weak. Consequently, he urged Honorius to end 
the deliberations even though it meant many more Romans and possibly 
Galla Placidia would die.

Honorius took no steps to protect Galla Placidia or request her release. 
Pope Innocent I never asked her to accompany him when he traveled with a 
delegation to convey Alaric’s demands to Honorius in Ravenna. There is no 
evidence that he or any prominent Roman cared about her safety or tried to 
obtain her freedom. Romans and Visigoths alike found Honorius’s treatment 
of her appalling. She now faced another siege.

Alaric’s Puppet Emperor: The Second Siege  
of Rome (409 ce)

In the fall of 409 ce, Alaric besieged the city of Rome for the second 
time. The Senate pleaded with him to end their suffering. Alaric demanded 
they appoint a new emperor. Convinced Honorius had abandoned them, the 
Senators agreed. In December, they declared Priscus Attalus, the prefect of 
Rome, the new ruler of the Western Roman Empire.39

Attalus had served in several official posts under Galla Placidia’s late fa-
ther, the Roman emperor Theodosius. He also had been a prominent member 
of several embassies to the court during Honorius’s reign. Born a pagan, the 
Gothic bishop Sigesarius had baptized him. Like many former polytheists, 
Attalus had converted to Christianity to gain an influential position at The-
odosius’s court. Nevertheless, many Christians believed that the bishop who 
presided over his conversion was a heretic. This was because he followed the 
teachings of a cleric named Arius, the most controversial theologian of antiq-
uity. Galla Placidia may have been an adherent of Arius’s heretical teachings.

Arius the Heretic?
Arius was a fourth century ce Egyptian priest who was obsessed with 

Christology: the debate over the relationship between Jesus’s divine nature 
and his humanity.40 Many Christians in the Late Roman Empire had a prob-
lem understanding the high Christology that dominates today’s Christianity. 
They found its explanation of Jesus’s crucifixion problematic. If Jesus was the 
son of God and in any manner God in the flesh on earth, then God died on 
the cross. How could such a God, Arius asked, atone for sin through Jesus’s 
death? How, moreover, Arius proclaimed, could Jesus have died if he was 
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God? In his effort to protect God’s omnipotence, Arius rejected the trinity: 
the belief in the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit.

Arius never denied Jesus’ divinity as many contemporary Christians 
mistakenly claim he had. Rather, he taught that Jesus was God’s son, but not 
in the traditional sense that most Christians believe today. Rather, Arius said 
that Jesus was a created being—an ordinary man—who, like us, did not al-
ways exist. Jesus was distinct from God the Father and therefore subordinate 
to him. In other words, Jesus was not the son of God. Rather, he was a human 
being of such high moral and spiritual achievement that God had adopted 
him and had raised him to a divine status. God became the Father only after 
he had embraced Jesus as His son. Prior to that time, Jesus was a mere mortal.

Arius maintained that it was proper to worship Jesus as the Christ as 
Christians do today, but not as equal with God the Father. Arius believed that 
Jesus as the Christ—the Greek word for “messiah,” meaning the “anointed 
one” or savior—was a sort of second-tier God. Christ was subordinate to God 
and inferior to God. In other words, Jesus as the Christ was a created being; 
Arius wrote, “there was a time when the Son of God did not exist.”41 This, 
Arius citing many scriptures to support his theology proclaimed, is why Jesus 
called God his “Father” in the New Testament. Because a parent precedes 
the birth of a child, Arius asserted that even Jesus knew he was not equal to 
God the “Father” and the source of all creation. Although Arius intended to 
simplify Christianity, his theology is quite difficult to comprehend; advanced 
theological students today struggle to understand his teachings. Christians 
eventually stopped debating Arius’s beliefs. Instead, Church leaders tried to 
avoid defining the Trinity by simply demanding that Christians accept it on 
faith alone. Nevertheless, the bishops of Galla Placida’s day were not willing 
to acknowledge the difficulties with their theological explanations. Instead of 
confusing the masses further, they decided to silence Arius.

Arius’s chief opponent, the Egyptian bishop Athanasius, through du-
plicity and sheer ruthlessness, had guaranteed that the first gathering of 
Christian bishops, the 325 ce Council of Nicaea, condemned Arius. After his 
denunciation, Arius died under mysterious circumstances the following year 
at the age of eighty while using the toilet at another church council convened 
in Constantinople, which was held largely to denounce him again. Many 
thought Athanasius had a hand in his demise: upon learning of Arius’s death, 
he rejoiced by comparing him with Judas, the Apostle who betrayed Jesus. 
According to Scripture, Judas, filled with remorse for his deed, hanged him-
self. His body fell on the ground and burst asunder, and his bowels gushed 
out.42 Arius’s opponents believed his undignified passing was God’s sign that 
he was a heretic and condemned to eternal punishment in Hell alongside 
Jesus’ betrayer.

Arianism was controversial in Galla Placidia’s day. Her father, under the 
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influence of Bishop Ambrose, had declared it a heresy. He cited Pope Damas-
cus in Rome and Bishop Peter in Alexandria, Egypt, as examples of orthodox 
Christians whose theological denunciations of Arianism should be accepted 
a normative doctrine. Now, Church and state alike avoided this debate as 
Arian Visigoths were attacking Rome.

The Senators decided to appease Alaric by bestowing upon him the title 
he had long coveted, namely Field Marshal of the Western army (magister 
utriusque militiae). They gave his brother-in-law, Athaulf, a top military com-
mand. Many Romans from the upper echelons of society accepted positions 
from Attalus. Galla Placidia’s role in these events is unknown. Because of 
her importance, she likely attended Attalus’s coronation; whether she did so 
voluntarily or under compulsion is impossible to determine. The accounts 
state that the Visigoths participated at his investiture and served as his body-
guards. Now that he oversaw the city of Rome, Attalus had to find a way to 
feed its starving population. Just then, a new threat emerged from Africa that 
threated to doom Rome’s citizens.

Revolt in North Africa

Heraclian, the comes Africae (one of the Western Empire’s highest com-
mand positions), cut off Rome’s grain supply. Alaric urged Attalus to send 
a force of 500 Visigoths to North Africa to take possession of the agricul-
tural estates there and restore the grain shipments to Italy. Because Attalus 
feared Alaric would use the occasion to take possession of North Africa for 
the Visigoths, he appointed the Roman general Constans to lead a small con-
tingent of soldiers to the continent.

Attalus’s new position emboldened him to seize absolute power in the 
West. He decided to eliminate Honorius. In January 410 ce, Alaric and At-
talus tried to capture Ravenna. Honorius thought all was lost. He sent Jo-
vian—the man who had replaced Olympius as Honorius’s closest advisor—to 
offer Attalus half the Western Roman Empire. Now convinced he could de-
feat Honorius, Attalus refused to consider the proposal. Instead, he insisted 
Honorius be deposed and exiled to an island. During the negotiations, Jo-
vian feared Alaric’s men would kill Honorius and his officials. Consequently, 
Jovian decided to protect himself by defecting to the Visigoths. He urged 
Attalus to capture Honorius and mutilate him. Because he had betrayed his 
emperor, Attalus did not trust him. Instead of giving him an important office, 
Attalus merely allowed Jovian to accompany him back to Rome as a private 
individual.43

Attalus’s army continued to attack Honorius’s forces. Then something 
unexpected occurred. Nearly 4,000 soldiers arrived by ship from the Eastern 
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Painting of Alaric’s sack of Rome by J. N. Sylvestre (1890) (Wikimedia Com-
mons).
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Roman Empire. Honorius had requested military assistance from Constan-
tinople before he had murdered Stilicho. The eastern court decided to help 
Honorius defeat Alaric and the Visigoths to prevent them from capturing 
Italy and threatening the Eastern Roman Empire. In what must have ap-
peared a phenomenal streak of good fortune for Honorius, the grain supply 
from Africa and additional tax revenue also arrived. Then, news reached Italy 
that Heraclian had destroyed the legion Attalus had sent to North Africa. 
Fearing an attack from their vulnerable location outside Ravenna’s marshes, 
Alaric and Attalus returned to Rome.

Alaric had lost all confidence in his protégé, Attalus. He entered into 
secret negotiations with the imperial court in Ravenna. Honorius offered to 
cease hostilities if Alaric deposed him.44 In the summer of 410 ce, Alaric sum-
moned Attalus to Arminum. There, in a public ceremony, Alaric stripped him 
of his imperial rank and insignia. Attalus’s usurpation of Honorius’s throne 
guaranteed him a death sentence under existing Roman law. Alaric placed 
Attalus, along with his son Ampelius, under house arrest. Because Galla Pla-
cidia was still in the city, Alaric expected Honorius to give the Visigoths land 
and other concessions to guarantee her safety. The situation looked promis-
ing for the Visigoths when Honorius agreed to continue negotiations. Then, 
an unexpected event occurred that ended any chance for peace, doomed the 
city of Rome, and caused Galla Placidia six years of suffering.

When Alaric was within eight miles (thirteen kilometers) of Ravenna, 
a Gothic general in Honorius’s army named Sarus tried to kill him.45 Hono-
rius had no knowledge of this unprovoked assault. Nevertheless, Alaric as-
sumed that Honorius had sent Sarus and rival Gothic forces to assassinate 
him. Peace, Alaric believed, was no longer an option. He vowed to obliterate 
the city of Rome.

The Sack of the Imperial City: The Third Siege  
of Rome (410 ce)

In 410 ce, Alaric besieged the city of Rome for the third time. On this 
occasion, he destroyed it. Although Alaric’s sack of Rome is among the most 
important events in Western history, we are uncertain how he accomplished 
it. All we know is that he entered the city through the Salarian Gate on August 
24, 410 ce.46 According to one account, an aristocratic Roman woman named 
Faltonia Proba opened it to end the suffering in the city.47 Procopius implau-
sibly claimed Alaric had convinced the Romans to let three hundred young 
Visigoths inside to serve the Senators. Alaric supposedly told the youths to 
gather at the Salarian Gate at noon and kill its guards.48 The spot where Ala-
ric somehow managed to enter Rome is no longer extant; artillery fire in the 



	 7. The Sack of Rome� 67

nineteenth century ce war for Italy’s reunification damaged it. Demolished 
in 1921, the site is now a shopping area known as the Piazza Flume (“Flume 
Square”).

The Visigoths plundered the city for three days. According to some ac-
counts, they discovered the besieged had resorted to cannibalism.49 There is 
no record of any resistance: Rome’s inhabitants were too weak from hunger 
to ward off nearly 40,000 enraged Visigoth warriors and their former slaves. 
The invaders set fire to several prominent structures, such as the famed pal-
ace of the historian Sallust, the Basilica Aemilia near the Forum, the Temple 
of Peace, and the Bath of the Palatine. Archaeological evidence suggests that 
Alaric even sent his soldiers into the catacombs to search for loot.50

Because most of Alaric’s followers were Christians, they generally treated 
churches with great respect. They protected two of Rome’s most important 
Christian sanctuaries, including the Basilica of Saint Peter’s.51 Jordanes—the 
mid-sixth C.E. Gothic author and apologist for his people—claims that Alaric 
did little damage to Rome or the shrines of the saints there.52 Nevertheless, 
his men destroyed the liturgical ornaments at Saint Mary in Trastevere, and 
many churches.53 Although Alaric damaged the city’s great monuments and 
structures—some of their ruins are still visible—the trauma he inflicted upon 
its inhabitants was worse.

The Visigoths slashed citizens with swords, plundered homes, stole from 
temples, and raped women.54 Some of Alaric’s invading force had been slaves; 
a substantial number of them were likely among those Pinianus and Melania 
had freed. Many of them tortured their former masters to reveal their wealth 
and then murdered them. The Visigoths assaulted nuns, killed the wealthy, 
and littered the city’s streets with corpses. Nevertheless, some of Alaric’s men 
displayed what many considered acts of compassion by the standards of the 
time. Sozemon reports that a Visigoth about to rape a woman stopped when 
he saw her bleeding. He escorted her to Saint Peter’s Basilica and gave its 
guard six pieces of gold to protect her.55 Few were this fortunate.

Of all Rome’s citizens, rich females were most vulnerable and suffered 
the worst abuses. Among them was the future saint Marcella. She was a wid-
owed ascetic and a scholar of the Scriptures. Her daughter later told Jerome 
what happened to her. Alaric’s Visigoths found Marcella after they entered 
the city through the Salarian Gate; they demanded she reveal where she had 
hidden her money. They refused to believe her claim she did not have any 
treasure in her home. Visigoths scourged her, beat her with clubs, and carried 
her to St. Paul’s church where she died from her wounds.56

Galla Placidia witnessed Alaric’s warriors inflict upon Rome’s inhabi-
tants every type of suffering imaginable, as well as physical and psychological 
pain and trauma beyond our ability to fathom. This is how empires decline 
and fall. Little was left of the Western Roman Empire’s greatest city. Seven 
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years after Alaric plundered it, many of its buildings were not yet rebuilt; 
some remained in ruins until the mid-sixth century ce.57 Despite the hor-
ror of Alaric’s sack of Rome, Honorius was indifferent to the sufferings of its 
citizens. When informed that Alaric had destroyed the city, he mistakenly 
thought his pet rooster named “Rome” had died.58 After a palace eunuch told 
him the city of Rome had perished and not his beloved cockerel, Honorius 
expressed great relief. All Romans mourned the city’s destruction and feared 
Alaric would soon attack their town or village. Many wondered if God was 
on Alaric’s side now that Rome had fallen. Galla Placidia certainly wondered 
whether God had cursed her.
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Seeking an Answer

Reports of Alaric’s pillage of the Eternal City quickly reached the most 
distant parts of the Eastern Roman Empire. Jerome, who had escaped the 
Visigoths and fled to the Middle East, met many survivors who had likewise 
left Europe and sought sanctuary in the Holy Land. After listening to their 
tales of horror, Jerome wrote that the “head has been cut from the Roman 
Empire and the whole world has died with it.”1 The anonymous author of 
the composition known as the Carmen de Providentia Dei (“Poem on the 
Providence of God”) attributed Rome’s destruction to the Western Roman 
Empire’s many sins.2 The priest Salvian, writing in the 440’s ce, agreed. He be-
lieved the Visigoths had been more pious than the Romans; otherwise, God 
would not have permitted Alaric to destroy the city of Rome.3 Corruption 
and vice had so overtaken the Roman Empire, he wrote, that many Romans 
had fled to the barbarians for their protection. He remarks that they did so in 
spite of the barbarians’ terrible smell.4

Responses to Rome’s Destruction

Why had God allowed Alaric to harm so many faithful Christians? The 
Western Roman Empire’s pagans were convinced the gods of old, who had 
protected the Roman Republic and the Roman Empire for nearly a thou-
sand years, were responsible. They claimed the ancient deities had punished 
Rome’s population because Christians in the preceding decades had tried to 
abolish the sacrificial system. This was partly true. The Emperor Gratian had 
issued a decree in 382 ce that forbade the use of state funds to support pagan 
temples.5 Galla Placidia’s father, Theodosius, had tried to close all non–Chris-
tian shrines, and had destroyed a few of them in Constantinople. Zealous 
practitioners of the ancient faiths had rioted in Egypt when officials had at-
tempted to enforce his anti-pagan policies there. Despite his purported ef-
forts to eradicate paganism, Theodosius nevertheless had issued a series of 
laws from 381 to 391 ce that tolerated the ancient faiths. When Theodosius 
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proclaimed Galla Placidia’s half-brother Honorius the Western Roman Em-
peror in 393 ce, the Senate refused his request that they abandon their pagan 
rites.6 Nevertheless, traditional paganism was declining. The last documented 
publicly financed sacrifice in Rome occurred in the temple of Castor and Pol-
lux in its port of Ostia in 359 ce, three decades before Galla Placidia’s birth.7

Roman authorities like Galla Placidia’s father were powerless to elimi-
nate paganism because it was so popular. Officials tolerated it because they 
did not want to anger their influential citizens who revered the ancient gods.8 
Pagans served in the military, where they openly practiced their faith. Be-
cause Rome’s rulers, particularly in the Western Roman Empire, needed 
pagan soldiers, they went to great lengths not to offend them. Many emper-
ors even issued laws to prevent the spoliation of pagan shrines; they only 
outlawed state support for their maintenance.9 As late as 386 ce, Libanius, a 
famous pagan teacher of rhetoric, commented that sacrifice was permissible 
in Rome and the Egyptian city of Alexandria.10 It is unknown whether he 
referred to animal sacrifice or other types offerings such as cakes, wine, or in-
cense. The former seems to have been in decline. Galla Placidia’s half-brother, 
Honorius, issued a decree imposing harsh restrictions against the religious 
slaughter of animals.11 A law passed nearly a century later, in 472 ce, banned 
paganism on private property.12 Despite the best efforts of many emperors, 
including her father, to eradicate paganism, it persisted until 532 ce when the 
last of the pagan philosophers left Athens to seek refuge in the Middle East.13 
It survived so long after the Roman Empire’s fall because some pagans were 
also Christians.

Many Christians during Galla Placidia’s lifetime preferred to hedge their 
bets and practice both Christianity and paganism. The collection of writ-
ings known as the Sibylline Oracles is proof of the continued and widespread 
Christian respect for the pagan gods. Romans preserved and consulted the 
utterances of this pagan female soothsayer for the entire history of the Roman 
Empire. The Romans considered her prophetic books so dangerous that they 
kept them under lock and key in the Temple of Palatine Apollo in the city 
of Rome for centuries; only the emperor could give permission for a select 
body of men to consult them during a crisis. The fifth century ce pagan 
Roman poet Rutilius Namatianus wrote that Stilicho had destroyed the Sib-
ylline books to stop officials from using the predictions in these texts against 
him.14 Yet, despite his efforts to eliminate these ancient volumes, unofficial 
editions of the Sibylline Oracles circulated widely. Many of these collections 
were bogus. Jews and Christians wrote them.15

According to the forged Sibylline Oracles, the ancient female sage had 
denounced paganism and extolled the virtues of Judaism and Christianity. 
Despite being the most important Christian of his age, Bishop Augustine be-
lieved in the veracity of the Sibylline Oracles. He cited a forecast from them 
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that predicted Christianity would end 365 years after Jesus’s resurrection. 
Augustine tried show this prediction was false by pointing out that in 399 
ce the Romans had closed the pagan temples in Carthage. Because this date 
was close to the time of the 365-year prophecy, Augustine argued the Sibyl 
actually had foreseen the end of paganism.16 In a sermon he delivered in 410 
ce—the year Alaric sacked Rome—Augustine claimed the Sibyl had pre-
dicted heavenly fire would destroy Constantinople during the reign of Galla 
Placida’s half-brother, Arcadius.17 Augustine and the oracle were both wrong.

Augustine was not the only prominent person who believed the pagan 
prophets had foretold the demise of ancient Roman religion. Claudian, the 
court poet of Galla Placidia’s half-brother, Honorius, had recited a verse in 
Rome in 402 ce, while Alaric’s army plundered the Italian countryside, con-
taining a lengthy list of omens and portents that heralded the city’s imminent 
destruction. These signs included the strange flights of birds, thunder, and 
frequent eclipses of the moon.18 According to the Christian author Palladius, 
the Sibyl had predicted that Alaric would capture the city and leave it a ruin.19 
Although everyone in the Western Roman Empire, whether pagan or Chris-
tian, mourned Rome’s destruction, some Christians had tried to argue that 
much good had come from it.

Augustine was the most famous of Galla Placidia’s contemporaries to 
have claimed that Alaric’s depredations had a positive effect. In his letter 
to a Christian named Victorianus, dated November of 409 ce, he recorded 
a story about a nun the Visigoths had captured and enslaved. This woman 
was the granddaughter of Bishop Severus (clergy could marry at this time). 
When her captors became ill, they vowed to release her if she persuaded the 
Christian God to heal them. The nun prayed for their recovery. After their 
health returned, they kept their word and freed her. This, Augustine argued, 
demonstrated that God rewarded the righteous who suffered.20 It is doubt-
ful that Augustine’s theological explanation comforted the countless Romans 
still imprisoned by the Visigoths, especially women.

In 408 ce, Jerome published a commentary on the Book of Daniel in 
which he claimed the prophecy in chapters 8–9 of this biblical text predicted 
Rome’s fall. Jerome also concluded that Alaric was the Antichrist—the per-
son Scripture predicted will appear during the final age of history to oppose 
Christ.21 Like the kingdoms and cities of old whose demise the biblical proph-
ets had prophesied, Jerome believed God had decreed the fall of the Western 
Roman Empire.22 The righteous, he argued, must follow the examples of the 
biblical prophet Daniel. If they remain true to their faith while suffering, he 
declared that they would receive God’s blessing. Nevertheless, Jerome blamed 
the half-barbarian Stilicho for the West’s misfortunes.23 God, he asserted, was 
punishing everyone because the Western Roman Empire had tolerated the 
barbarians for too long.



72	 Empress Galla Placidia and the Fall of the Roman Empire

Original Sin and Money: Pelagius the Heretic
Many Christians shared Jerome’s view that Alaric was the harbinger of 

the Day of Judgment.24 Jerome said that for twenty years the barbarians had 
taken advantage of the rivalry between the Eastern and the Western Roman 
emperors, and the frequent Roman civil wars, to murder countless Roman 
citizens, bishops, and priests.25 Yet, despite the recent sufferings they caused, 
many Romans believed worse things would happen before the Western 
Roman Empire fell. A British monk named Pelagius was one the most promi-
nent of these doomsayers. Ordinary Romans found his teachings more credi-
ble than official voices of the church such as Bishop Augustine because, unlike 
his contemporary theologians, he had suffered at the hands of the Visigoths. 
Pelagius had been in Rome with Galla Placidia before Alaric’s army sacked it.

Pelagius had moved to Rome in 400 ce. We do not know if he met Galla 
Placidia. It is, however, likely. As a devout Christian, she certainly would have 
wanted to hear the famed theologian preach his controversial doctrine in 
public. If she attended his sermons, his teaching had no discernable effect 
upon her. Later events in her life suggest that she found Arius’s views more 
compelling.

Pelagius had travelled to Rome to preach in the greatest city of his time. 
He was greatly disappointed at what he found; he was horrified by the lax 
morals there. In 409 ce, fearful the Visigoths were about to destroy Rome, he 
fled to North Africa. There, he met Augustine and became his leading theo-
logical opponent on the continent. Later, Pelagius traveled to Palestine where 
he sparred with Jerome over obtuse theological dogma. Because of their in-
tense disagreements over religious doctrine and current events, Augustine 
and Jerome hated Pelagius. Jerome even wrote a series of letters denouncing 
his teachings in which he called him a “fat dog.”26 As the leading cleric of 
Galla Placidia’s time, Jerome and Augustine tried everything they could to 
silence Pelagius because of what the wandering ascetic taught about sin.

Pelagius rejected Augustine’s doctrine of original sin. This belief main-
tains that God continues to punish humanity because the first humans, Adam 
and Eve, had disobeyed God. According to the opening book of the Jew-
ish Scriptures known as Genesis, God had expelled them from paradise for 
violating His command not to eat fruit from the Tree of Knowledge in the 
Garden of Eden. Augustine believed that Adam and Eve were representatives 
of all humanity: we too would have disobeyed God if we had been in Eden. 
Because of their transgression, all humans are born in a state of sin, which 
only God’s divine grace through Jesus’ atoning death can remove. Augustine 
and other prominent clerics insisted the Lord must have allowed Alaric to 
sack Rome since all humans are born with the taint of original sin and must 
be punished. According to this explanation, Galla Placidia and Rome’s in-
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habitants deserved their suffering otherwise God would have protected them 
from Alaric’s wrath.

Pelagius vehemently rejected Augustine’s doctrine of original sin be-
cause he thought it made the Devil our creator. If Augustine was right, and 
sin pollutes us from birth, then, Pelagius insisted, we are incapable of virtue.27 
Why then, would God punish sinners? Humans, he insisted, have the power 
to choose good or evil without divine assistance; God, he taught, judges us 
based on the decisions we make. According to Pelagius, Alaric chose to be 
evil and harm the innocent. God will punish him in accordance with his sins; 
his unfortunate victims were innocent and just happened to be in the wrong 
place when he committed his crimes.

Although the masses were largely illiterate and did not fully understand 
the ramifications of his theological debates with such esteemed clerics as Au-
gustine and Jerome, ordinary Christians loved Pelagius because he frequently 
denounced the rich. They especially admired his rejection of the prosperity 
Gospel that some celebrated clergy espouse today. Wealth, Pelagius insisted, 
was not as a sign of God’s blessing. Rather, it was a mark of greed. He said that 
affluent Romans were like Alaric: they wanted what belonged to others and 
took it. Pelagius believed the rich were criminals and sinners; he also said that 
a considerable number of these villains had taken holy orders.

The Western Roman Empire of Galla Placidia’s day was quite poor. Few 
of its residents had benefited economically from Roman rule. Because the 
rich and church officials were often indistinguishable from one another, ordi-
nary Romans were receptive to Pelagius’s message. His teaching regarding the 
rich rapidly spread throughout the Roman Empire. A common proverb Je-
rome cited aptly summed up Pelagius’s opinion of the affluent: “A rich man is 
either a wicked man or the heir of a wicked man.”28 One of Pelagius’s followers 
wrote a popular book entitled De divitiis (“On Riches”), sometime between 
408 and 414 ce describing the perils of money and urging its renunciation.29 
With Pelagius’s teachings about salvation and the rich winning adherents 
among ordinary Christians, Augustine became convinced that he was more 
dangerous than Alaric.30

Augustine won the theological battle to determine whether he or Pe-
lagius correctly understood God’s plan of salvation. He was not triumphant 
because of his dense theological tomes or his persuasive rhetoric. Rather, he 
resorted to a dirty trick. In 416 ce, he denounced Pelagius at a church council 
in the North African city of Milevis. Its organizers did not invite Pelagius. 
At the meeting, Augustine told the bishops that if Pelagius was correct, then 
“what need was there for God?”31 Pope Innocent I, who was apparently not 
much of a biblical scholar, sided with Augustine and excommunicated Pela-
gius. This ban meant Pelagius was outside the church and condemned to eter-
nal damnation; everyone who agreed with him faced the same sentence. Yet, 
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many Christians supported Pelagius despite his expulsion and the possibility 
they would suffer forever in Hell for accepting his doctrines.

After the death of Innocent I, the new pope, Zosimus, determined that 
his predecessor was wrong. He readmitted Pelagius to the church, declaring 
that he and his followers were no longer destined for eternal fire in Hell. In 
an age when even popes changed their minds regarding church doctrine, the 
masses often did not know what to believe. Honorius—who was no theolog-
ical heavyweight—feared a schism would erupt in the church over Pelagius’s 
teachings. On April 30, 418 ce, he ordered Pelagius and his supporters to 
leave Rome. The following month, 214 bishops met on Augustine’s turf in the 
North African city of Carthage to reaffirm Pope Innocent’s excommunication 
of Pelagius. The disgraced cleric subsequently moved to Egypt and was never 
heard from again.

Augustine became the champion of orthodoxy. His teachings remain the 
basis for much contemporary Christian doctrine and practice, yet there is an 
irony to his victory over Pelagius. He had been a heretic. For nine years he 
had embraced a deviant form of Christianity known as Manicheanism, which 
taught reincarnation and maintained that food contained divine sparks of 
humanity. Bishop Ambrose—the man who had delivered the funeral oration 
for Galla Placidia’s father—had convinced him to leave the movement. Nev-
ertheless, despite Augustine’s sordid past, and his fathering of a son through 
an illicit affair, he had managed to keep his prominent position in the church 
and avoid the punishment he had inflicted upon Pelagius. This was largely be-
cause Augustine’s former wayward beliefs had threatened neither the clergy 
nor the aristocracy. The leaders of the Church were willing to forgive him 
for his carnal and theological transgressions because he had confessed his 
wrongdoings in a salacious tell-all book known as the Confessions. In this 
work, Augustine attributed his theological errors to youthful ignorance and 
attributed his conversion to God’s grace. Nevertheless, there was little to dis-
tinguish Augustine from Alaric. Augustine taught that bishops should use the 
instruments of the state, namely torture and violence, to persecute Christian 
heretics.32

Augustine spent thirteen years of his life (413–26 ce) writing his famed 
tome, The City of God, to explain why God had allowed Alaric to sack the city 
of Rome. He frequently quotes from pagan writings to show that Christianity 
is a superior faith. Like many Christian authors, he wanted to explain what 
had happened to the consecrated gold and silver vessels inside Saint Peter’s 
tomb. According to one legend, the gold cross the Roman Emperor Con-
stantine had placed in it had disappeared during Alaric’s onslaught. Orosius 
claims that a Visigoth ransacking the city had forced an elderly virgin in the 
church to reveal the tomb’s location. Visigoths stole its treasures. Although 
Orosius insists Alaric had ordered the cross returned, there is no evidence 
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that he relinquished any of the Vatican’s wealth.33 His story is doubtful since 
Alaric’s men had plundered many churches when the Visigoth sacked Rome 
despite the claims of some clerics that he had spared Christian buildings 
there. Alaric’s lieutenant, Athaulf, later gave Galla Placidia fifty basins filled 
with gold coins, and fifty basins of precious stones.34 Even if some of this trea-
sure did not come from the Vatican or Rome’s other great churches, it shows 
that Alaric left the city with much booty.

According to one legend, some of Rome’s famed treasure survived Ala-
ric’s sack of Rome. In the spring of 1594 ce, workers smoothing the paving 
stones atop Saint Peter’s tomb made a remarkable discovery. When they re-
moved the base of Pope Julius II’s (1503–1513 ce) ciborium (the vessel contain-
ing the consecrated wafers for the Eucharist, the ceremony commemorating 
Jesus’ Last Supper), the floor collapsed, revealing a cavity below the altar.35 
A sculptor named Giacomo della Porta verified that the gold cross of Con-
stantine was still inside: he was purportedly the first person since the papacy 
of Sergius II (844–47 ce) to have seen it. If true, then some of the Vatican 
treasure survived the 410 ce sack of Alaric, as well as the later plundering 
of the church by the Vandal leader Gaiseric in 455 ce, and subsequent raids. 
According to one account, Pope Clement VII ordered the workers to seal the 
hole. St. Peter’s bones—the holiest of all Christian relics—were purportedly 
still there, having miraculously survived all these depredations. They are now 
in a special box inside the crypt below St. Peter’s Basilica; visitors with special 
permission may view them.36 Whether these are the actual remains of Jesus’ 
Apostle and closest follower is a matter of faith. Yet, there is one person who 
witnessed Alaric’s desecration of many of Christianity’s most sacred objects 
and certainly knew what happened to the city’s treasures and religious ob-
jects—Galla Placidia.
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Prisoner of the Visigoths

The seventeen-year-old Galla Placida watched in horror as the Visigoth 
king Alaric plundered the city of Rome, murdering and torturing many of 
its inhabitants. He took her captive and forced her to march across Italy as 
his prisoner. With the Roman emperor Honorius’s hostile army to the north, 
and no available food in the areas surrounding Rome, Alaric had to leave 
the region. The Visigoths presumably placed Galla Placida in one of their 
four-wheeled wagons drawn by oxen they used to transport their families and 
supplies. Alaric likely had a guard accompany her to keep her from escaping; 
he also wanted to prevent anyone from assaulting her. It is probable that At-
talus was among those assigned to watch her; he had likely planned to marry 
her during his brief tenure as the Western Roman Emperor. She was certainly 
miserable; so were the Visigoths. Starvation loomed in their future.

Alaric led the Visigoths south, to the tip of Italy, where he planned to 
sail to Sicily. Galla Placidia made the over 400-mile (ca. 643 kilometer) jour-
ney through hostile territory with the Visigoths. Fearing Roman forces would 
pursue him and his followers, Alaric decided that the island’s lush grain fields 
would not be his final destination. Rather, he wanted to move his followers to 
North Africa and create a Visigoth kingdom there. He faced immense logis-
tical problems to accomplish his goal.

Life as a Captive

Alaric likely departed from Rome with 180,000 Visigoths. He needed 
at least six hundred wagons, and 1,200 oxen to transport them to southern 
Italy. The Visigoths preferred oxen because of their strength; they could pull 
loads up to three or four times their body weight. Although strong, they 
were extremely sluggish. Their slow speed made the Visigoths vulnerable 
to attack. As he traveled, Alaric constantly had to search for provisions. A 
later temporary peace agreement he made with Honorius in 416 ce provides 
some insight concerning how much food he would have needed. As part of 
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this treaty, the Romans agreed to give the Visigoths 600,000 modii of wheat, 
which was enough to feed 15,000 to 20,000 men for two months.1 Honorius 
obtained this from the imperial warehouses where the government stored its 
grain and other supplies. After sacking Rome, Alaric had to acquire much 
more food for a considerably larger number of Visigoths in hostile territory 
while he marched to southern Italy under the threat of constant attack from 
Roman soldiers.

Alaric sent foraging expeditions a great distance from his column to ob-
tain provisions. Because cities and villages along the way refused to help him, 
he took what he needed by force. He pillaged Capua and Nola. The Visigoths 
failed to take Naples. Because cities were difficult to capture, Alaric preferred 
to steal from unfortified hamlets and farms along the way. His men terrorized 
Italy’s countryside: villagers fled at his approach. Galla Placidia saw many in-
nocent Romans suffer and perish. We have accounts of several Romans who 
survived Alaric’s march of terror throughout Italy, which provide us with a 
glimpse of the horrors she witnessed during her captivity.

The wealthy bishop Paulinus was one of the most famous men Alaric 
had abused during his journey south. Galla Placidia likely met him when 
she watched Alaric besiege and capture his hometown of Nola, near today’s 
coastal town of Naples. The Visigoths had kidnapped Paulinus and interro-
gated him to discover where he had hidden his money. After he had regained 
his freedom, he told his friend, Bishop Augustine, that he had begged God 
to prevent Alaric’s men from torturing him as they had many others.2 Pau-
linus was fortunate to have survived since Alaric had murdered many rich 
and powerful Romans when he attacked cities. Jerome’s friend, Marcella, was 
among the most prominent Roman women Alaric’s men had captured and 
beaten.3 Melania, a future saint, was another person the Visigoths wanted to 
find when they sacked Rome. She and her spouse, Pinianus, had managed to 
elude Alaric’s column with the imprisoned Galla Placidia. They fled to Sicily 
and hired a ship to take them to North Africa. In 417 ce, they reached Jeru-
salem with enough money left over from their controversial sale of their sub-
urban farms to finance the construction of several buildings on the Mount 
of Olives. Many assumed the couple had made a deal with the Visigoths to 
escape with much of their wealth, as many rich citizens had.4

We have no account of Galla Placidia’s forced march to the tip of Italy. 
Today, it is a drive of approximately seven hours and nearly 422 miles (680 ki-
lometers) from the city of Rome. Assuming Alaric’s column covered 18 miles 
(29 kilometers) per day, which was the likely rate of speed for civilians of the 
time traveling with pack animals, it would have taken approximately 22 days 
to reach southern Italy. This figure, however, is unrealistic: obstacles, weather, 
delays in obtaining supplies, and rough roads certainly impeded their prog-
ress. Nevertheless, Alaric was successful. Honorius apparently did not pre-
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vent him from ravaging the Italian countryside and allowed him to reach 
southern Italy.

When Alaric’s large horde arrived at Rhegium (today’s Reggio di Ca-
labria), across from the island of Sicily, he torched it to prevent Honorius’s 
men from using its port to follow him.5 The Visigoths then gathered a fleet 
of ships to cross the narrow channel to Sicily. Galla Placidia undoubtedly 
watched these preparations with much apprehension, for soon she would 
make the treacherous journey across the nearly ten-mile-wide (sixteen kilo-
meter) channel. Today, it takes twenty-five minutes by boat. Yet, the passage 
can be rough; it is dangerous for any craft without a modern motor. Having 
been on the road for over two months, the Visigoths were almost beyond 
Honorius’s reach.

Sicily’s inhabitants watched from across the strait as the Visigoths sailed 
towards their island. In desperation, they turned to God, knowing that Hon-
orius would not help them. According to pagan tradition, a statue in the town 
of Rhegium had long protected the island. The pagan god purportedly sum-
moned storm clouds to sink Alaric’s flotilla.6 Many Visigoths perished at sea. 
Galla Placidia somehow survived the ordeal. She later ordered the manager of 
her estates in Sicily to demolish this pagan statue for destroying Alaric’s fleet 
and nearly killing her. There was a reason for her act: like other Christians of 
the time, she believed the destruction of pagan statues rendered the demons 
inside them powerless.7

Alaric had to return to North Italy since he had depleted the region’s 
food supplies. He likely planned to go to the port of Naples to seize a fleet 
and sail to North Africa.8 When he reached the outskirts of the southern 
Italian town of Consentia (Cosenza), he developed a fever. Alaric died there; 
he was likely in his forties. Then, before the Visigoths resumed their march, 
they buried him. They also interred one of history’s greatest mysteries with 
him.

The Quest for Alaric’s Gold

According to the Gothic historian Jordanes and several ancient authors, 
the Visigoths secretly buried Alaric with the treasure he had taken from the 
city of Rome. Alaric’s successor, a man named Athaulf, went to great lengths 
to make certain no one knew the location. He had prisoners divert the course 
of the River Buzenzo and interred Alaric in the riverbed along with the booty 
he had taken from Rome and other Italian cities. Athaulf then restored the 
river to its original course to conceal the grave. To prevent anyone from re-
vealing its location, he killed all the captives involved in the burial. Since Ala-
ric’s death in 410 ce, countless treasure-seekers have searched for his tomb.9 
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They hope to find one of the world’s most important objects Athaulf may have 
placed in Alaric’s grave—a relic Jesus would have seen.

The 70 ce Roman destruction of Jerusalem changed the city of Rome. 
The Colosseum, where the gladiators fought, contains an inscription pro-
claiming that the Romans had financed its construction with the wealth they 
had taken from Jerusalem.10 Nearby this great edifice is the ruin of the Temple 
of Peace, which the Romans had erected to commemorate their suppression 
of the Jewish Revolt of 66–70 ce. During that war, the Roman general Titus 
(he later became the Roman emperor) destroyed the Jerusalem temple. After 
his celebration, the Romans placed the sacred objects they had stolen from 
it inside the Temple of Peace.11 Alaric apparently took them. Amazingly, an 
ancient Roman portrayal of them exists; it is a major tourist attraction.

The Romans constructed a victory monument near the Temple of Peace 
that has survived the fall of the Roman Empire. Known as the Arch of Titus, 
it depicts the emperor Titus riding a chariot during his triumphal parade to 
celebrate his defeat of the Jews. It also portrays the Romans carrying two sa-
cred objects they stole from the Jerusalem temple dating to the time of Jesus. 
The most famous is the giant seven-branched candelabrum, known as a me-
norah. It was formerly inside the Jerusalem temple’s innermost room, where 

Depiction of the treasures from the Jerusalem temple being carried by victorious 
soldiers on the Arch of Titus in Rome (81 C.E.). Stolen by Alaric during his sack 
of Rome when he took Galla Placidia prisoner. Present whereabouts unknown 
(Jebulon/Free-Images.com).
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Jews of antiquity believed God’s presence resided. Titus also took the mas-
sive solid gold showbread table (a.k.a. “bread of the presence”), upon which 
priests placed a dozen loaves of bread each day to represent the twelve Israel-
ite tribes. According to the first century ce historian Josephus, who watched 
the Romans carry these objects in their victory parade, Titus also took the 
temple’s curtains and copies of the Bible from its sacred library.12 Alaric pur-
portedly absconded with these and other treasures from St. Peter’s Basilica. 
Some believe he also stole the silver fastigium, which was a type of canopy 
weighing 1,610 pounds (730 kilograms), from the Lateran Basilica. No one 
has seen any of these objects since he sacked Rome.13

Professionals and amateurs have searched for the gold Alaric took from 
Rome. Adolf Hitler was the most infamous of these treasure hunters; he sent 
his chief of the dreaded Schutzstaffel (“Protection Squadron,” commonly 
known as the SS), Heinrich Himmler, with a team of Nazi archaeologists to 
find them. Now, the municipal authorities of the town of Cosenza, through 
which the Buzenzo River passes, are among those actively hunting for them.14 
Thus far, despite countless quests over the centuries to locate them, no one has 
uncovered any trace of Alaric’s tomb. Did Galla Placidia know its location?

Galla Placidia was with the Visigoths when Alaric died. When she re-
gained her freedom, many Romans certainly asked her where the Visigoths 
had buried Alaric. If she knew the answer to this great mystery, she had a 
good reason to keep it secret for the rest of her life. At some unknown point 
in her captivity, she had fallen in love with his lieutenant and successor, 
Athaulf. Although this may sound unusual, the political situation in the late 
Roman Empire forced emperors and members of the royal family to make 
strange alliances.

Times of Trouble: Europe in Chaos

The deal between Honorius and the usurper Constantine III is one of 
the most notable examples of an unusual partnership in the Late Roman Em-
pire. The two agreed to combine their forces since neither believed he could 
defeat the Visigoths alone. Then, while they were focusing on Alaric, Con-
stantine III faced a new barbarian threat. Hostile Germanic tribes invaded 
his territory in Spain. His general, Gerontius, was unable to repulse them.15 
Constantine III sent his son, Constans, to replace him. Gerontius refused to 
relinquish his post and decided to name a new monarch.

Gerontius chose a man named Maximus to replace Constantine III as the 
Western Roman Emperor.16 Realizing the precariousness of his appointment, 
Maximus did something rather surprising. He issued coins recognizing three 
lawful rulers of the Roman Empire: himself in Spain, Honorius in Ravenna, 
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and Theodosius II in Constantinople. Gerontius allied with the Germans, in-
vaded Gaul, killed Constans, and besieged Constantine III at Arelate (Arles). 
Honorius now believed the barbarians were a greater threat than the usurper 
trying to seize his throne. Consequently, he decided to save Constantine III.

Once he realized overwhelming forces had amassed against him, Geron-
tius committed suicide. Maximus’s supporters abandoned him. He fled to 
Spain and sought refuge among the barbarians. Honorius’s forces later cap-
tured and executed him.17 With his Western Roman Empire permanently di-
vided between himself and Constantine III, and barbarian tribes continuing 
to threaten Europe, Honorius decided he had to placate the new king of the 
Visigoths to remain in power.

Athaulf, King of the Visigoths

Alaric had no son. If he had any surviving children, they were presum-
ably girls.18 Although he had a brother, rule of the Visigoths was not inherited; 
tribal leaders selected the most charismatic candidate. Because he had been 
Alaric’s trusted lieutenant, the Visigoths elected Athaulf as their next king. 
He was married to Alaric’s sister. We do not know whether he had divorced 
his former spouse prior to the appointment, or whether she was dead when 
he succeeded Alaric.19

According to Jordanes, Athaulf was intelligent and handsome but short 
for a Visigoth.20 A friend of the Spanish historian Orosius met him at a party 
in Narbonne, on France’s southern coast. He said that Athaulf told his guests 
he planned to destroy the Western Roman Empire and replace it with a 
Visigoth kingdom, Gothica. Athaulf, however, was a realist. He knew that 
the Visigoths were an unruly lot without laws. Knowing the importance of 
order, he wanted to emulate Roman society through the propagation of laws 
to unite the Visigoths into a true state. Although his goal was a homeland 
for his people, Athaulf viewed himself as the restorer of the Roman Empire: 
his Visigoth state would become its successor.21 To accomplish this goal, he 
looked to Galla Placidia and Attalus. He planned to use both hostages to 
achieve his goals and to guide him in implementing them. However, soon 
after succeeding Alaric as king of the Visigoths, he changed his mind about 
destroying the Roman Empire. His contemporaries believed Galla Placidia 
was responsible for his new attitude: he had fallen in love with her.22 He had 
to delay any possible romance with her, for the Visigoths literally had no safe 
place to go.

Athaulf abandoned Alaric’s plan to create the new Visigoth kingdom in 
North Africa. He decided to search for a homeland somewhere in Europe. 
Moving his large band of followers slowly across the Italian countryside, 
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Athaulf left behind worse devastation than Alaric had.23 Galla Placidia was 
still his prisoner. She continued to watch her people suffer as the Visigoths 
destroyed many Roman cities and hamlets in their quest for a safe place to 
establish their new kingdom. Honorius made no effort to stop Athaulf from 
plundering his territory or force him to free his half-sister. He apparently he 
did not care about her or his citizens.24 Rather, his main concern was throw-
ing a party.

In 411 ce, while Athaulf ravaged Italy, Honorius celebrated his vicennalia 
(20th anniversary of his reign). The eastern Roman emperor Theodosius II 
held his decennalia (10th anniversary of his reign) commemoration the same 
year. The Senate in Rome presided over games and sacrifices for the preserva-
tion and health of both emperors. Honorius, could not risk travelling to the 
city of Rome to attend the celebrations in his honor, as was the custom, due 
to the Visigoth threat. Instead, he held separate festivities and sporting events 
in Ravenna in case he had to flee to the Eastern Roman Empire to escape 
Athaulf ’s army.

While Honorius and his court caroused, Athaulf continued to destroy 
the Western Roman Empire. Realizing Honorius was unwilling to negotiate, 
Athaulf decided to establish his Visigoth kingdom in Gaul, in today’s France. 
He made the difficult crossing of the Alps and arrived there early in 412 ce. 
The journey was perilous. Galla Placidia would have suffered from cold and 
shortages of food and water along with everyone. Once he arrived, Athaulf 
had good reason to expect some of the region’s Roman citizens to welcome 
him.

The Spanish historian Orosius and the French author Salvian tell us that 
many in Gaul preferred to live under the Visigoths rather than the Romans.25 
This was because the Western Roman Empire had abandoned territories it 
could no longer defend; the government repositioned legions elsewhere to 
protect Italy and strategic locations along the frontier. Many regions in Eu-
rope were now so dangerous that even the imperial tax collectors avoided 
them. In desperation, those in the hinterland welcomed anyone—whether 
Roman or barbarian did not matter to most—who could maintain order 
and protect them. Nevertheless, not everyone was ready to accept Athaulf. 
Some Romans felt more comfortable rallying behind Constantine III or any 
pretender to the throne of European descent who promised to restore the 
Western Roman Empire to its former glory. Unfortunately, the backers of the 
usurpers failed to recognize that the Roman Empire of old was history: it 
existed only in the imaginations of the powerless.

When Athaulf arrived in Gaul, he had to confront the latest usurper 
seeking to overthrow Honorius. His name was Jovian (Jovianus); he was a 
Roman senator of Gallic descent.26 He proclaimed himself emperor at Mainz, 
in today’s Germany, in 411 ce, a year before Athaulf reached Gaul. He had 
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the support of the kings of the Burgundians and the Alans. Jovian governed 
portions of Gaul for two years: he even minted coins with his portrait as the 
Western Roman Emperor. Because he had insufficient warriors to retain 
power in his breakaway kingdom, he faced an uncertain future. The unex-
pected arrival of Athaulf and his Visigoths appeared to solve his problem.

Attalus urged Athaulf to join forces with Jovian. Athaulf agreed to meet 
Jovian to discuss a possible alliance. Jovian did not relish the prospect of a 
partnership with the Visigoths. Many of his rich Roman supporters in Gaul 
certainly did not want more barbarians living in the region. It is probable 
that Jovian feared conflicts with these newcomers and his other barbarian 
supporters. Nevertheless, Jovian decided to discuss terms with Athaulf. An 
agreement between the two looked promising until an old enemy of Athaulf 
named Sarus appeared.27

Sarus was a Gothic chief who had served as an officer in the western 
Roman army. He had defected to Jovian because Honorius had failed to in-
vestigate, or avenge, the murder of his servant. Jovian sent Sarus to discuss 
peace with Athaulf. It was a foolish choice for an emissary since Sarus once 
had tried to murder Athaulf. Sarus thought he was under Jovian’s protection. 
Consequently, he assumed he was attending an ordinary meeting of envoys. 
Confident there was no danger, he arrived at the designated location with 
twenty-eight men. Athaulf appeared with ten thousand warriors, captured 
Sarus, and killed him. Although Jovian was angry at this mistreatment of his 
representative, he feared Athaulf ’s army would attack him if he retaliated. 
Despite their mistrust of one another, the two made a pact. Their partnership 
was brief. When Jovian appointed his brother, Sebastian, as his co-emperor, 
Athaulf became angry and ended their alliance. He apparently did so to be-
cause he expected Jovian to offer him the position.28 Then, an official tried 
to take advantage of this situation and make peace between Honorius and 
Athaulf.

Claudius Posthumus Dardanus was the Praetorian Prefect of Gaul. For 
some unknown reason he was in Spain; it is possible he had fled there ear-
lier to escape Jovian’s army.29 Still loyal to Honorius, Dardanus encouraged 
Athaulf to send ambassadors to the imperial court in Ravenna. Although 
the surviving accounts contain little information about this period of Galla 
Placidia’s life, they suggest she had convinced Athaulf to seek peace with 
Honorius.

Honorius had no interest in negotiating with Athaulf. Nevertheless, 
his general, Constantius III, convinced him to send a messenger to meet 
Athaulf ’s representative. The Visigoth envoy promised to deliver to Honorius 
the heads of Jovian and Sebastian. Our few surviving fragments of historical 
accounts do not mention what Honorius offered Athaulf in return. Presum-
ably, it was land and food.
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About this time, Constantius III became obsessed with Galla Placidia. 
Yet, it is doubtful he had ever met her. Honorius decided to take advantage of 
his general’s infatuation with his half-sister. Because any future son of Galla 
Placidia could inherit the throne, he needed to choose her husband care-
fully. He thought Constantius III was the perfect man to become her spouse 
since he had no imperial ambitions and was content to remain a general. He 
was, Honorius apparently believed, a man he could easily control and trust 
not to remove him from power. Galla Placidia could help them both govern 
the Western Empire, deal with the Visigoths, and then guide Constantius III 
when he succeeded Honorius. Believing that Athaulf would have no choice 
but to make an alliance with the Western court, Honorius undoubtedly felt 
that matters would soon turn in his favor.

While Honorius and Constantius III were hatching their plot to use Galla 
Placidia to help them control the Western Roman Empire and eliminate the 
Visigoth threat, Athaulf was pursuing Jovian. The Visigoths captured Sebas-
tian and his brother Sallust. Athaulf sent Sallust’s head to Ravenna and turned 
Sebastian over to Dardanus for execution. Athaulf then caught Jovian, killed 
him in Narbonne, and sent his head to Ravenna.30 Although Athaulf had kept 
his word, Honorius did not provide the Visigoths with any provisions.

Honorius soon afterwards faced another revolt that had the potential to 
destroy what was left of the Western Roman Empire. The threat came from 
a man named Heraclian, the Count of Africa. Honorius had offered him the 
job as a reward for assassinating Stilicho. Because he had prevented Attalus 
from invading North Africa, Honorius had made him consul for 413 ce to 
honor him for his services to the West. In that year, having reached the pin-
nacle of power for a man of his rank, Heraclian led a revolt against Honorius 
that had no chance of success. Ancients and moderns alike have wondered 
why he did something so foolish.

Heraclian’s Revolt

Although Jerome says many terrible things about Heraclian, Bishop Au-
gustine and his contemporaries seem to have had no problem with him.31 
Heraclian appears to have been a decent man. He helped many refugees from 
Europe fleeing Alaric, including the future saint Melania the Younger. Iron-
ically, these evacuees may have sealed his fate; many were rich and brought 
considerable resources with them. Constantius III had little money; he as-
sumed much of Rome’s wealth had made its way to North Africa and Her-
aclian’s treasury. A close reading between the lines of the extant documents 
suggests that Honorius helped Constantius III kill him.

On February 29, 412 ce, Honorius ordered Constantius III to remove 
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all North African officials assigned to pursue military deserters and execute 
criminals.32 The ostensible reason for this surprising command was to stop 
corrupt officials from committing unlawful acts in the name of the emperor. 
Because the new law applied only to North Africa, it gave Constantius III 
complete authority to do as he wished in Heraclian’s province. Heraclian cor-
rectly interpreted the order as the end of his career and his life as well. The 
emperor and his general had made a fatal error. They had assumed that Her-
aclian would remain loyal to the Roman Empire. With his life in danger, Her-
aclian decided to retaliate by withholding Italy’s grain supply. Rome’s poor 
residents once again faced starvation. Then, before Constantius III could 
implement the new law in North Africa, Heraclian shocked everyone by in-
vading Italy.

The Count of Africa, according to imperial law, had to collect Rome’s 
grain for shipment by April 1 of each year. The fleet had to depart for Italy 
with its cargo of food by April 13.33 Heraclian attacked Rome in April, or per-
haps June, of 412 ce. He arrived with his army in a flotilla of commercial 
transports, which apparently fooled the harbormaster into thinking every-
thing was fine. Honorius’s official, Count Marinus, defeated Heraclian in the 
summer of 413 ce. Heraclian fled back to North Africa in a single ship.

Honorius’s men pursued and captured Heraclian in the Temple of Mem-
ory at Carthage where, according to ancient custom, no one could remove 
him because he had sought the god’s protection. Nevertheless, Honorius’s 
agents violated this sacred tradition and murdered him in the shrine. Hera-
clian’s son-in-law, Sabinus, escaped to Constantinople; Honorius’s men seized 
him, took him to Italy, and executed him. Honorius ordered the heads of 
Heraclian, Jovian, and Sebastian displayed together in the North African city 
of Carthage to stifle dissent there. North Africa then experienced a period of 
terror as Honorius’s agents tracked down Heraclian’s partisans. The emperor 
gave Heraclian’s property to Constantius III to help him pay for expenses 
related to his position as consul.34 Now that he had a suitable income for a 
man of his rank, Constantius III thought it was time for him to marry Galla 
Placidia. Honorius agreed.

In the late spring of 413 ce, Honorius ordered Athaulf to hand over Galla 
Placidia. Athaulf refused. He was unwilling to relinquish her despite being 
the ruler of a landless population short of food on the run from imperial 
forces. This time, Athaulf had a good reason to risk the lives of his people. 
He was in love with Galla Placidia and wanted to marry her. Unfortunately, 
Honorius’s legions frustrated his plan.

Athaulf decided to move further from Ravenna to escape Roman forces. 
Because he had no supplies, he had to plunder and raid Honorius’s territory. 
He led his followers across Gaul to the Atlantic coast. The city of Bordeaux 
welcomed Athaulf ’s Visigoths; its citizens had no desire to fight them. By Au-
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gust or September of 413 ce, he had reached the southern French coastal city 
of Narbonne (Narbo Martius). Fortunately, the Visigoths faced no trouble 
upon their arrival because Galla Placida convinced its inhabitants to surren-
der the city peacefully.35 She had, apparently, become an indispensable mem-
ber of Visigoth society by this time.

In addition to serving as their negotiator with the Romans, Galla Pla-
cidia had earned Athaulf ’s trust. We can assume that she had become flu-
ent in the Gothic tongue, although many Visigoths spoke Latin. Whether 
Galla Placidia began to dress in Gothic clothing is unknown, but she had 
undoubtedly adopted many of their customs and lifestyle. It is possible that 
she had grown tolerant of the Visigoth raiding parties killing fellow Romans 
by this time: she would have seen them pillage countless unprotected hamlets 
on their journey, raping and murdering many. Now that she had helped the 
Visigoths occupy Narbonne, Athaulf was poised to create a homeland along 
the Mediterranean coast for his people. Nevertheless, the Visigoths had suf-
fered greatly traversing the Alps; the journey was nearly 640 miles (c.a. 1030 
kilometers) and had taken 85 days to complete.36 They needed time to recu-
perate; Athaulf needed time to plan what to do next. Once Honorius heard 
that the Galla Placidia had helped Athaulf occupy Narbonne, he panicked.

Athaulf ’s occupation of Narbonne was a significant event for the Ro-
mans and Visigoths alike. It was then a port; the ancient harbor has silted up 
and it is now nearly ten miles inland. Located along the major highway from 
Italy to Spain known as the Via Domitiai, it was among the most strategically 
positioned cities in the Western Roman Empire. Now that Athaulf controlled 
it, he could disrupt trade throughout the Mediterranean and attack Italy. If 
Honorius besieged him, he could sail to North Africa and seize the West’s 
grain supply.37 For now, Athaulf and the Visigoths were safe.

Athaulf began to expand his territory along the Mediterranean coast. 
His men attacked the port of Marseilles. Then, something unexpected oc-
curred that literally changed the history of the Western Roman Empire. A 
Roman general named Boniface wounded Athaulf during the assault. While 
he was recovering from his injuries in Narbonne, Galla Placidia agreed to 
become Athaulf ’s wife and help him rule the Visigoths.38 Now, she was no 
longer a hostage, but barbarian royalty.
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An Ancient Case of PTSD?

Galla Placidia changed the history of Western civilization when, in Jan-
uary of 414 ce, she married the barbarian king Athaulf, the Roman Empire’s 
greatest enemy. She was twenty-one or twenty-two years old at the time; she 
had endured nearly four years of captivity. Although the ancient accounts 
state that she loved him, her marriage raises troubling questions about her 
mental condition.

While it is difficult to understand a contemporary person’s thoughts, it 
impossible to psychoanalyze someone who has been dead for over a thou-
sand years. Galla Placidia’s union with Athaulf is not only disturbing by mod-
ern standards of morality, but it also troubled many of her contemporaries. 
She had fallen in love with her captor, married him, and identified with his 
people. Despite the immense passage of time since her death, it is appropriate 
to ask whether she was a consenting bride or a victim. Did she suffer from 
some form of post-traumatic distress?

PTSD

The term post traumatic stress disorder, commonly referred to as PTSD, 
is a fairly recent addition to the handbook of psychological conditions known 
as the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM). The term 
first appeared in it during the 1980s. Health care professionals, insurance 
companies, and policymakers alike recognize the DSM, now in its fifth edi-
tion (2013), as the standard work for diagnosing mental illnesses. Its defini-
tion of PTSD is among its most controversial sections.

The DSM lists several symptoms that together merit a diagnosis of 
PTSD. The most prominent of these include having witnessed violent acts, 
or death, or having experienced threats of harm while feeling intense fear,  
helplessness, and horror. The manual acknowledges that symptoms will vary 
and lists many. Some of the most prominent include amnesia, recurrent im-
ages in dreams, and anxiety.1 Although PTSD is a relatively new addition to 



88	 Empress Galla Placidia and the Fall of the Roman Empire

this compendium of psychological trauma, the ancient Romans recognized 
many of the warning signs contemporary healthcare practitioners consider 
when diagnosing this condition.

PTSD in the Roman Empire

Although psychology is a modern science, texts from the Roman pe-
riod contain accounts of men exhibiting symptoms identifiable as forms of 
mental trauma described in the DSM. Gaius Marius (157–86 bce), a Roman 
general of the Late Roman Republic, is perhaps one of the most famous 
examples of a person likely to have suffered from PTSD. His biographer, 
Plutarch, writes that he became an alcoholic to escape his persistent night-
mares and chronic anxiety.2 Marius’s contemporary, the philosopher Lucre-
tius (99–55 bce), includes a distressing passage in his epic poem, On the 
Nature of Things (De Nature Rerum), describing the terror many soldiers 
like Marius experienced in their dreams: images of battles fought, captives 
taken, and throats slit.3

The tombstone of the third century ce soldier Ulpius Optatus is per-
haps the most disturbing account of psychological trauma from antiquity. 
Whoever erected it questioned the ethics of what society forced soldiers to 
do for the Western Roman Empire. Its inscription states that Optatus had 
distinguished himself in imperial service by killing many “unspeakable” en-
emies in numerous “disgraceful” battles.4 Who were these unnamed foes? 
What “unspeakable” deeds had he committed? Why did Optatus consider 
his battle victories “disgraceful”? We will never know. Attitudes towards 
foreigners of Galla Placidia’s time and earlier may provide a clue. The Ro-
mans described barbarians as sub-human to make it easier for soldiers to 
kill them in gruesome ways. Ulpius Optatus, however, did not agree with 
the widespread prejudice towards non–Romans; he apparently felt remorse 
for murdering them. The final partly preserved paragraph of his epitaph 
states that his “excessive anger” consumed him. In his last battle, he com-
mitted suicide by rushing towards the enemy; the blows of hostile swords, 
spears, and arrows felled him.

Galla Placidia witnessed many of the same atrocities that had mentally 
crippled Optatus and rendered him incapable of coping with daily life. She 
watched countless men, women, and children experience horrible deaths and 
undoubtedly suffered from many types of impairment associated with PTSD. 
These include the alteration in perception of a perpetrator, changes in the 
capacity to regulate emotions, and modifications in the perceptions of others. 
Having survived three sieges of Rome by the barbarian king Alaric, having 
watched the Visigoths plunder the city and rape many women, and having 
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endured almost six years of hardships with the Visigoths, she certainly never 
recovered from these and countless other unrecorded traumas she witnessed. 
Galla Placidia was not alone.

Anyone who lived during the Western Roman Empire’s decline and fall 
experienced frequent misery and pain, both physical and mental. Many in-
fants died; disease was rampant; violence was frequent; countless Romans 
toiled as slaves. Death and trauma were constant companions in Galla Pla-
cidia’s world: everyone witnessed numerous acts of brutality, warfare, and 
killing. Murder in the gladiatorial arena was a spectator sport as violence was 
the means through which the Romans expressed their power.5 It is amazing 
that anyone was sane.

Galla Placidia witnessed many horrible acts despite her privileged sta-
tus as a noble. By her eighteenth birthday, she had survived Alaric’s three 
sieges of Rome. She watched the Visigoths pillage the city, brutalize, starve, 
and kill much of its population. Alaric had forced her to accompany him as 
he marched his followers across Italy in a futile quest to reach North Africa. 
During her journey, she watched him and her future spouse, Athaulf, pillage 
the countryside and murder countless Romans while her half-brother, the 
emperor Honorius, did nothing to help her or his people. We do not know 
whether Galla Placidia experienced sexual violence; if not, she undoubtedly 
feared it. The bloodshed she had witnessed as Alaric’s hostage certainly dis-
turbed her for the rest of her life. Today, many victims of the types of trauma 
she experienced have difficulty recovering even with the best of modern 
treatments.

Contemporary Victims of Trauma

In recent years, several kidnappings have received widespread attention 
in the media. Although a vast time separates them from Galla Placidia, they 
are nevertheless helpful for the insight they shed concerning her likely frame 
of mind during her time as a hostage and afterwards. Reporters and pro-
fessionals often use the term “Stockholm syndrome” to refer to the trauma 
associated with these cases. This name became popular when a Swedish 
criminologist and psychiatrist used it to describe the psychological trauma 
experienced by some victims of a foiled 1973 robbery. That year, a Swedish 
man named Jan-Erick Olsson entered a Stockholm bank with a submachine 
gun, took hostages, and demanded money and the release of his friend, Clark 
Olofsson, from prison. After the authorities brought Olofsson to the bank, 
he spent the next six days there with Olsson and the hostages. When nego-
tiations failed to end the situation, the authorities used tear gas to free the 
prisoners. None of the hostages suffered any physical injury.
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After their release, several of the abductees refused to testify against 
their former captors. Similar stories of hostages who sided with their abduc-
tors dominated the American media for several years beginning in 1974 when 
the Symbionese Liberation Army kidnapped Patty Hearst, granddaughter of 
the famed newspaper publisher William Randolph Hearst. They held her for 
fifty-seven days. Her kidnapers confined her to a closet for part of her cap-
tivity. Although she reported experiencing psychological and sexual abuse, 
Hearst joined the group and assisted them in their criminal activities. The 
authorities eventually captured and imprisoned her. During her trial, Hearst’s 
attorney argued she was a victim of brainwashing and therefore not respon-
sible for her illegal acts.6

It is difficult to define terms such as brainwashing and Stockholm syn-
drome because individuals vary widely in their ability to recover from their 
traumas and since each instance is unique. Nevertheless, a recent examina-
tion of several contemporary kidnappings that have received much media 
attention may help us understand Galla Placidia’s decision to marry her 
former abductor, Athaulf. In these cases, the captors’ threated their abduct-
ees with harm: some physically, others sexually, and all emotionally. This 
intimidation also included extended periods of isolation. Yet, the detain-
ees often failed to take advantage of opportunities to escape. Nevertheless, 
researchers noticed one significant difference: in all these instances, only 
the young bonded with their kidnappers.7 Galla Placidia was a teenager, 
fifteen or sixteen years old, when Alaric first besieged Rome. Still a prisoner, 
she was twenty-one or twenty-two when she married Athaulf. Despite the 
horrors the Visigoths had inflicted upon her, she became their passionate 
champion for the remainder of her life. Yet, as the spouse of the Visigoth 
king, she watched her husband lead his tribe in plundering, killing, and 
torturing countless Roman citizens.

Although scholars continue to debate the appropriateness of using terms 
such as Stockholm syndrome and brainwashing to describe the behavior of 
some hostages after their release, there is no doubt that forced captivity ad-
versely affects personality development. In Galla Placidia’s case, her stress was 
not brief. Rather, she experienced many symptoms that mental help profes-
sionals refer to as complex trauma: “a type of trauma that occurs repeatedly 
and cumulatively, usually over a period of time and within specific relation-
ships and contexts.”8 Examples include prisoners of war, those displaced by 
a conflict or disaster, and witnesses of traumatic death. Even with modern 
therapy, some suffers require decades to recover from their ordeals. No treat-
ment was available to Galla Placidia, or the countless male and female vic-
tims of barbarian and Roman violence. What made it worse for her was that 
the termination of her captivity did not end her suffering: she subsequently 
witnessed the Romans commit many atrocities and violent acts against the 
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Visigoths. The psychological damage caused by some trauma is irreversible; 
this was certainly true for Galla Placidia. Whether she was of a sound mind 
when she wed Athaulf is impossible to determine. Yet, one cannot help but 
wonder if she was mentally fit to consent to the union.

A Royal Wedding

Galla Placidia married Athaulf in the modern French city of Narbonne 
in January 414 ce.9 The ceremony took place in the house of Ingenius, a lead-
ing citizen of the city whose home was undoubtedly large like some of the 
mansions archaeologists have excavated there.10 She apparently decided to 
hold a Roman ceremony to make her future children legitimate heirs to Hon-
orius’s throne. Athaulf wore a Roman general’s cloak; she dressed in royal 
raiment to show she was a member of the emperor’s family. Her new spouse 
gave her many elaborate gifts. The most important were fifty young Visigoths 
dressed in silk clothing, each bearing plates of gold and precious stones Alaric 
likely had stolen during his sack of Rome.11

The wedding festivities included much music and considerable drink-
ing. One of the performers was unusual. Attalus delivered an oration praising 
the couple.12 He had remained with the Visigoths because he had no place to 
go. Two other speakers, Phoebadius and Rusticus, were likely Gallo-Romans, 
a name for those of barbarian ancestry. Although we know nothing about the 
first, the second later met the future saint Jerome and the historian Orosius in 
Bethlehem and told them about the wedding. Jerome was horrified.

Wives as Victims

Jerome was not the only person appalled at Galla Placidia’s marriage to 
Athaulf. An anonymous Roman writing several years later called it shame-
ful.13 The unknown author of the Gallic Chronicle accused Galla Placidia of 
conspiring with the barbarians against Honorius.14 Many Visigoths shared 
the revulsion some Romans felt towards the couple. Jordanes claimed Athaulf 
had only wed Galla Placidia because of her nobility and beauty.15 In his ac-
count, which is one the few surviving contemporary witnesses from this time, 
he claims that she had been reluctant to marry him. Athaulf ’s agent, Candid-
ianus, purportedly had convinced her to accept his proposal.16

Although marriages between Roman citizens and barbarians were legal 
and common, Galla Placidia’s wedding was problematic because of her status 
at the time.17 According to Roman jurisprudence, freed captives lost their citi-
zenship and became slaves. This legislation created a major problem since the 
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barbarians had seized many married Roman women from all social classes. It 
was such a frequent occurrence that Roman law required a five-year waiting 
period before a man could wed again if his wife had disappeared.18 Yet, this 
ruling did not apply to the innumerable females the Visigoths had captured. 
Because they were now officially slaves, their former marriages were invalid.19 
Only one person tried to help them—the Pope.

Pope Innocent I (401–417 ce) was angry at the way the law cast aside 
unfortunate women the Visigoths had abused. He decided to intervene on 
behalf of a prominent woman named Ursa. Alaric had taken her captive 
along with Galla Placidia when he had sacked Rome; the two probably 
knew one another since the Visigoths likely had kept their most important 
prisoners together. Ursa had somehow obtained her freedom. When she 
returned home, she discovered that her husband, Fortunius, had married a 
woman named Restituta. Although Ursa wanted to resume her former life, 
Fortunius refused to take her back as his wife. In desperation, she appealed 
to Pope Innocent.

Pope Innocent wrote a letter supporting Ursa’s claim that her first mar-
riage was still valid. He also mentions that the “confusion of the barbarian 
tumult” had devastated society because many women had found themselves 
in Ursa’s situation.20 With their marriages legally terminated and their former 
spouses unwilling to reunite with them, these women faced poverty, home-
lessness, prostitution, or worse. Innocent wrote that Ursa was still married to 
her husband since she had been a faithful wife. This, he asserted, was not his 
opinion. Rather, Jesus had decreed that adultery was the only valid basis for 
the termination of a marriage.21

Despite his status as Pope, Innocent was unable to change the law to 
protect former female captives. Another of Galla Placidia’s contemporaries, 
Pope Leo I (440–461 ce), also tried to assist these victims. Like Innocent, he 
believed the marriage of any woman imprisoned by barbarians was still in 
effect even if her husband had taken a new partner.22 Yet, Leo went further 
to protect everyone involved in such situations. He decreed that if a man had 
remarried, neither he nor his new spouse had sinned because they had wed 
under the assumption that the first wife had died in captivity.

Under Roman law, it did not matter how Galla Placidia had become 
Athaulf ’s wife. If he had forced her into a union, this made her a defiled cap-
tive. If she had married him willingly, as most at the time asserted, she was a 
traitor. Given these options, we can understand why Honorius was no longer 
eager to free her and marry her off to Constantius III. Yet, something remark-
able happened after she wed Athaulf. Despite her apparent act of disloyalty 
to the Western Roman Empire, Constantius III still wanted her. Although 
his reaction to her union with a barbarian king may appear surprising, many 
Christians were also unwilling to condemn her. They had a remarkable reason 
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for doing so: they believed Galla Placidia had no choice in the matter. Rather, 
many Romans were convinced God had brought her and Athaulf together. 
Prominent Romans and clergy, moreover, believed that the biblical prophet 
Daniel had predicted her marriage to a barbarian king. Consequently, to op-
pose Galla Placidia was to defy God’s will.
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Galla Placidia in the Bible?

Several Christian writers turned to the Bible to explain Galla Placidia’s 
tumultuous and confusing era, including her countless sufferings and her sur-
prising marriage to a barbarian king.1 They concluded she was in God’s holy 
book. Many Christians believed the biblical prophet Daniel had predicted she 
would wed Athaulf, making her part of God’s plan of salvation. Orosius said 
God had made her a hostage for the welfare of the Western Roman Empire.2 
Nevertheless, the ancient biblical seer issued a dire warning for her:

The daughter of the King of the South will come to the King of the North to make a 
treaty with him. But she shall not retain her power and his offspring shall not endure. 
She shall be given up, she and her attendants and her child and the one who supported 
her.3

Because Daniel is among the most cryptic of the biblical prophets, Jews 
and Christians have identified various historical figures with the various 
persons he mentioned in his predictions. Christians in Galla Placidia’s day, 
traumatized by continuous barbarian invasions and now the fall of the city 
of Rome, tried to make sense of their perilous time by seeking comfort 
in God’s word. They were convinced that his cryptic prophecy about “the 
daughter of the King of the South” and the “King of the North” respectively 
referred to Galla Placidia and Athaulf. Honorius’s Christian subjects found 
great comfort in this interpretation of Daniel’s prophecy because it proved 
God was in control of events.

Bishop Hydatius (ca. 400–469 ce) of Gallaecia, located in Portugal, was 
among those who taught this biblical passage referred to Galla Placidia. He 
wrote, “Athaulf took Placidia as his wife at Narbonne, in whom the prophecy 
of Daniel is supposed to be fulfilled that the daughter of the King of the North 
will be united with the King of the South, but her seed will not survive.”4 
The church historian Philostorgius (368–439 ce) was among the prominent 
Christians who believed the Bible referred to Galla Placidia.5

If Galla Placida helped foster the interpretation that she was in the Bible, 
she had good reason to do so. It meant that Athaulf too was in Scripture. 
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Consequently, any criticism of her marriage to him was a rejection of God’s 
plan of salvation for the world. One prominent scholar has commented that 
if she thought she was in the Bible, then she committed the grievous sin of 
pride.6 But if Galla Placidia propagated this scriptural interpretation, she may 
have done so to help bring peace to the Western Roman Empire: she likely 
thought God wanted to unite the Romans and the Visigoths through a royal 
Christian marriage. She was not alone in her plans. Her husband had vowed 
to restore the Roman Empire of old with a new Gothic Empire that would 
eclipse it in greatness.7

Given Alaric’s decades’ long war against the Romans and his three sieges 
of Rome—all events in which Athaulf participated as his lieutenant—it is sur-
prising that Athaulf now wanted to essentially save the very empire he had 
long sought to destroy. He planned to do so by transforming the Roman Em-
pire into a multi-cultural state in which the rule of law prevailed. Although 
none of our sources state this, it is almost certain that Galla Placidia had 
changed his view of the Romans.

Galla Placidia apparently had convinced Athaulf, and presumably a 
considerable number of Visigoths, that the Romans and barbarians could 
live together under a barbarian ruler. It is tempting to think that Galla Pla-
cidia, having received a traditional Roman education grounded in the clas-
sics and history, was attempting to turn her husband into a sort of precursor 
to the great Frankish ruler, Charlemagne (800–814 ce).8 Of barbarian de-
scent, Charlemagne attempted to revive the Roman Empire, restore learning, 
and unite Europe into a multi-cultural state. Considered the founder of the 
modern European Union, he created the Holy Roman Empire. He regarded 
his realm as a successor to Galla Placidia’s Western Roman Empire.9 She un-
doubtedly saw divine providence in her surprising situation: a former captive 
and now a barbarian queen poised to produce a Roman-Barbarian heir to 
her late father’s throne and create a new multi-cultural empire10 Her vision 
of the future was truly unique. Many appear to have shared it because they 
considered her almost holy.

In one of his sermons, Peter Chrysologus (ca. 425–450 ce), then 
Ravenna’s bishop, later described Galla Placidia as almost equal to Jesus’ 
mother, Mary. He lauded her roles of Augusta, mother, and wife, as a kind of 
holy Trinity (the Father, the Son, and the Holy Ghost).11 Barbarians and Ro-
mans alike, as we will see, considered her special, almost touched by God. 
The belief that the Bible mentioned Galla Placidia undoubtedly caused 
many Romans and barbarians to fear harming her. Unfortunately, neither 
Honorius nor Constantius III apparently believed that she was in Scripture. 
Nevertheless, they were willing to undertake actions that could potentially 
injure her and, certainly in the opinion of many Romans, oppose God’s 
divine plan.
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Athaulf thought his marriage to Galla Placidia would help him make a 
treaty with Honorius. He presumed he would become a prominent military 
official since he, like Stilicho, had wed a member of the royal family.12 Un-
fortunately, things did not go as he expected. Honorius, Constantius III, and 
many Roman elites refused to recognize the union even though it possibly 
meant opposing God’s will.13 The enraged Athaulf responded by declaring 
Attalus the Western Roman emperor. As a measure of his gratitude, Atta-
lus decreed that the Visigoths were the rightful owners of the northwestern 
coastal region of modern France known as Aquitaine.14

Athaulf quickly regretted taking Attalus with him and making him the 
sovereign. It made his situation worse: Honorius now refused to negotiate 
with the Visigoths. Desperate for any recognition by the imperial government, 
Athaulf decided to abandon his guardian. In early 415 ce, he expelled Attalus. 
Honorius’s agents captured him as he was attempting to board a ship to an 
unknown destination.15 The next year, Honorius forced Attalus to march in 
front of his chariot during his triumphal entry into the city of Rome. Unfor-
tunately, this public humiliation did not satisfy his lust for revenge. Honorius 
had him dragged before his throne and ordered two fingers of his right hand 
cut off. For some unknown reason, Honorius did not execute him. Instead, 
he condemned Attalus to spend the remainder of his life on a volcanic archi-
pelago north of Sicily, known as the Lipara islands, with a meager allowance 
to provide for his living costs. He presumably died there.16 Although he had 
played a minor role in Galla Placidia’s life, he was a unique figure for his time. 
Attalus was the only person to have been crowned emperor by two barbarian 
kings and then stripped of all his powers by both of them. We do not know 
anything about his relationship with Galla Placidia, but she apparently sup-
ported her husband’s decision to get rid of him.

On the Move

About this time, Constantius III moved his headquarters to Arles to ha-
rass the Visigoths. He blockaded the port of Narbonne to cut off their grain 
supply, even though he knew Galla Placidia would suffer. With food scarce, 
Athaulf again had to move his followers. Because the barbarian raids and the 
forces of the usurpers had devastated the surrounding lands, he was desper-
ate to find provisions.17 The Visigoths had no choice but to make the perilous 
crossing over the Pyrenees Mountains, separating France from Spain, to es-
cape approaching Roman forces. It was a difficult trip for Galla Placidia since 
she was pregnant.

Galla Placidia and the Visigoths traveled one hundred miles from Nar-
bonne to the eastern Pyrenees, which would have taken ten days by wagon.18 
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They likely arrived there in February, when the bright sun melts the snow on 
the eastern pass through the mountains. Nevertheless, it was a difficult jour-
ney: temperatures hover around 48 degrees Fahrenheit (9 degrees Celsius) at 
that time of year and the Alps reach 11,165 feet (3,404 meters) in elevation. Ev-
eryone would have suffered from the cold and the constant jarring of the cob-
blestone and dirt roads; but none more so than a pregnant woman. After their 
descent, the Visigoths traveled 73 miles (117 kilometers) to the Roman town 
of Barcelona (Barcino) in modern Spain. Its inhabitants welcomed Athaulf, 
hoping he could protect them. Galla Placidia was relieved because she had 
narrowly avoided delivering her first child along the road.

Galla Placidia gave birth to a son in Barcelona. Many Romans believed 
this fulfilled the biblical prophecy. Athaulf named the child Theodosius after 
Galla Placidia’s late father.19 His choice of this name suggests he expected the 
child to lead the Western Roman Empire. News of the infant’s birth greatly 
upset the royal court in Ravenna. Yet, Constantius III did not care: he still 
wanted to produce an heir with her. Then, while Athaulf, Honorius, and Con-
stantius III wrangled over whether the infant Theodosius was a legitimate 
member of the royal family, a great tragedy occurred. Galla Placidia’s baby 
died. Once again, her subjects believed the biblical prophet Daniel had pre-
dicted the child’s death. According to his prophecy, “She shall be given up, 
she and her attendants and her child and the one who supported her.” If this 
meant that her child was doomed to die, it also foretold of a great personal 
tragedy in her future. Subsequent events for many confirmed their belief that 
the biblical prophecy did refer to her.

Two Tragedies

The passing of the infant Theodosius ended Galla Placidia’s dream of 
uniting Roman and Visigoth royal bloodlines. Her sole concern was for her 
child’s soul. She placed Theodosius in a small silver coffin and buried him 
in a chapel outside Barcelona. Galla Placidia and Athaulf traveled there in a 
torch-lit procession while unnamed clergy presided over the internment.20 
We likely know where she buried him and why she chose the location.

Archaeologists have discovered a chapel located nine miles (14½ kilo-
meters) from Barcelona in the village of Sant Cugat del Valles dedicated to 
a martyr named Cucuphas. Pagan Romans had executed him in 304 ce for 
practicing Christianity. Archaeologists have uncovered the remains of a mo-
saic in the shrine that has been dated to Galla Placidia’s lifetime. This struc-
ture was certainly the burial site of her infant son, Theodosius. She interred 
her son there because of its holiness; she expected the saint to watch over his 
soul for eternity.21
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Although Galla Placidia was certainly heartbroken at the death of 
her firstborn, many saw the hand of God in her misfortune. The prophet 
Daniel had predicted that the offspring of the King of the North and the 
daughter of the King of the South would not survive. If she thought God 
was cursing her now that she had found happiness, subsequent events 
must have confirmed her worst fears. God appeared to have abandoned 
her in accordance with the biblical prophecy that she will not retain 
power.

In the summer of 415 ce, while Athaulf was tending his horse in a sta-
ble, a disgruntled servant stabbed him in the groin.22 The wound was fatal. 
Athaulf summoned up the strength to urge his sibling to seek peace with 
Honorius by returning Galla Placidia to the Romans before he died. When 
news of Athaulf ’s passing reached Constantinople, a spontaneous celebration 
erupted in the streets of the city. Honorius held chariot races to rejoice over 
his demise.23 An image of Galla Placidia’s father still visible on the obelisk in 
the center of the stadium presided over the event.

In Danger from the Visigoths

Athaulf ’s brother, whose name is unknown, had no standing among the 
Visigoths. A man named Siegeric (also Sigeric, Singeric) successfully chal-
lenged him for power. This was the worst outcome for Galla Placidia because 
Athaulf had killed Siegeric’s sibling, Sarus. It is plausible that Siegeric had 
arranged Athaulf ’s assassination. Athaulf ’s deathbed request that his sibling 
return Galla Placida to Honorius suggests that he feared for her safety among 
the Visigoths. He had good reason to worry about her since barbarian kings, 
like Roman emperors, did not hesitate to kill royals.

Siegeric’s zeal for vengeance literally destroyed him. His first act as 
king was to search for Athaulf ’s children by his first marriage. Although a 
Christian bishop named Sigesarius had given them sanctuary, Siegeric killed 
them.24 This is the only reference to these offspring. We know nothing of their 
relationship with Galla Placidia, who was also their stepmother.

Siegeric gave Athaulf a funeral befitting a former king at an unknown 
location. Nevertheless, Galla Placidia never forgot the terrible ceremony. 
Siegeric forced her to walk the twelve-mile-long (nineteen kilometer) pro-
cession to the burial site in front of his horse, bound and shackled with other 
prisoners. She faced imminent death. Then, events took an unexpected turn. 
The Visigoths rose up to save her.

Siegeric had failed to realize that Galla Placidia and the Visigoths had 
become fond of one another. They were angry at Siegeric’s treatment of her; 
they also feared reprisals from Honorius and Constantius III. A Visigoth 
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named Wallia arranged his murder, with widespread support. Siegeric had 
reigned only seven days. The Visigoths crowned Wallia their new king.

Final Days among the Visigoths

The Visigoths elected Wallia as their new king because of his anti–
Roman perspective. The historian Orosius hints that Athaulf had been assas-
sinated because he wanted peace with the Romans.25 Yet, he and the Visigoths 
respected Galla Placidia. Wallia restored her to her former position of honor 
and respect.26 Yet, her suffering was not over. Convinced the Visigoths were 
no longer safe in Europe, Wallia decided to move to North Africa.27 The Visig-
oths realized that Galla Placidia was important as a hostage; consequently, 
they planned to use her to obtain concessions from Honorius and to ensure 
their safety during their long journey. They planned not to remain in Europe, 
but to seek a home in North Africa.

Wallia forced Galla Placidia to march over 600 miles (965 kilome-
ters) with him and his followers to the southwestern Spanish town of Gades 
(Cadiz). Once there, he planned to cross the Strait of Gibraltar. This was the 
narrowest point between Europe and North Africa, separated by nearly nine 
miles (fourteen kilometers) of water. There, over twelve thousand Visigoths 
embarked on ships for the passage. Galla Placidia was among them. Winds 

Ruins of the Roman Forum showing the destruction caused by the Visigoths and 
other barbarians (Carlo Raso/Free-Images.com).



100	 Empress Galla Placidia and the Fall of the Roman Empire

destroyed the vessels. It was the second time she had nearly drowned at sea; 
there is no record of how she survived.

Wallia tried to lead the survivors back to France. The Visigoths again 
crossed the Pyrenees Mountains for Gaul. Despite knowing Galla Placidia 
was among them, Constantius III blocked their passage through the Alps; 
the Visigoths faced starvation. With no food in the region, Wallia had to pur-
chase grain at grossly inflated prices from his Vandal rivals.28

Honorius by this time had promised Constantius III he could marry his 
half-sister if he could somehow free her.29 He believed he could take advan-
tage of Wallia’s desperate situation and obtain Galla Placidia; however, there 
was a problem. Constantius III feared his political opponents would say that 
in his eagerness to marry her he had helped Rome’s enemies. For this reason, 
he thought it best not to meet Wallia in person. Instead, he sent a secret agent 
named Euplutius to negotiate clandestinely on his behalf.

Euplutius was a member of the agens in rebus (“those active in mat-
ters”). These men handled delicate and confidential matters on behalf of the 
government. They undertook clandestine missions when it was politically in-
expedient for senior officials to make their negotiations known if there was 
no certainty of success.30 Euplutius’s assignment was to obtain Galla Placidia.

Euplutius met Wallia near the Pyrenees. Wallia demanded peace and 
security for his people. Euplutius informed him that Constantius III expected 
the same and a wife. Because their basic requests were identical, the meeting 
was successful. In exchange for 600,000 measures of grain, which was suf-
ficient to produce twelve million pounds of bread, Wallia agreed to return 
Galla Placidia to Honorius and enter imperial service with his people as allies 
of the Romans.31 The treaty meant that the Western Roman Empire’s army 
now had many experienced Visigoth soldiers to deplete its diminished ranks. 
Honorius received the news with much joy since it meant that his longstand-
ing and costly war with the Visigoths was over. Once again, a close reading of 
the extant sources suggests that Galla Placidia played a major role in events. 
She appears to have helped negotiate this settlement and create what was 
supposed to become a Gothic homeland in the heart of the Western Roman 
Empire.32

After the conclusion of his meeting with the Visigoths, Euplutius re-
turned to the Roman camp with Galla Placidia. We have no record of what 
she thought of being haggled over like a piece of merchandise in a market. 
None of our extant sources describes how she made it back to Italy. She likely 
crossed the Alps with an imperial escort; the journey was certainly more 
comfortable than her previous forced marches through the mountains. The 
Romans took her to Arles, where Constantius III waited for her. There is 
no evidence the two had ever met. He immediately proposed marriage; she 
rejected.
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Galla Placidia did not meet her future husband alone. She brought her 
bodyguard of Visigoths Athaulf had given to her on their wedding day. They 
remained with her for the rest of her life.33 These barbarians certainly hated 
Constantius III for his recent blockade in the Alps, which had caused the 
Visigoths much death and suffering. Constantius III decided not to force the 
issue of marriage. He allowed Galla Placidia to travel to Ravenna with her 
barbarian retinue to meet her half-brother for the first time in nearly eight 
years. Honorius was certainly not happy to see her arrive accompanied by 
her angry Visigoth guardians instead of Constantius III. Undoubtedly still 
traumatized by her sufferings, Galla Placidia now had to deal with a new 
threat—the Romans and her family.
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An Unhappy Family,  
a Divided Church

An ugly man relentlessly pursued Galla Placidia for two years. That is 
how the surviving sources describe Constantius III’s appearance and his be-
havior towards her after the Visigoths had released her from captivity. He 
wanted to marry her; she rejected his proposals. If the accounts of his ap-
pearance are partly factual, he was not particularly handsome, which may 
have made Galla Placidia apprehensive about having a relationship with him. 
Constantius III purportedly had a long neck, bulbous eyes, large head, and 
unpleasing mannerisms. Although he was a general, he did not look or act 
like a senior military officer. Rather, he slouched on horseback and his eyes 
constantly darted back and forth with a mistrustful gaze like a tyrant. His 
favorite pastime was carousing with his companions. In addition to his unat-
tractive features and his repulsive habits, he was nearly twice Galla Placidia’s 
age. She was determined to have nothing to do with him.1

A Forced Marriage
Constantius III was born in 370 ce. He would have been forty-seven  

and Galla Placidia twenty-four in 417 ce. Because of the uncertainty over  
her year of birth, it is she was possibly one year older. Although she was less 
than half his age, she had wed Athaulf quite late in life by the standards of the 
time.

Honorius and Constantius III were cautious in their treatment of Galla 
Placidia and reluctant to force her to marry. Having survived almost six years 
with the Visigoths, several sieges, numerous battles, and at least two ship-
wrecks, they knew she was independent and potentially dangerous. Her fifty 
Visigoth attendants lived in a barracks near her.2 Honorius feared they would 
fight the Romans if he forced her to wed his general. To avoid trouble, he be-
came determined to do all he could to make Constantius III a more desirable 
mate.
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Constantius III realized he needed to marry Galla Placidia to retain his 
military position and become Honorius’s successor. This explains his patience 
and insistence that she become his wife despite her previous marriage to a 
barbarian. Whether he actually loved her is impossible to know; no surviving 
account states that she showed any outward affection towards him. Her delay 
in agreeing to become his spouse suggests she was not interested in him.3 
Honorius was willing to give her some time to accept the inevitable: she knew 
he had the sole authority to choose her husband. She soon realized that the 
political calendar marked the imminent end of her freedom.

The emperors of the Eastern and the Western Roman Empires custom-
arily nominated one consul each year. This venerated office began during the 
Roman Republic when the two men who held this position shared military 
and political leadership. Although it was now largely a symbolic title, it was 
still a coveted position.4 In 416 ce, Honorius and Constantius III became joint 
consuls. It was the eleventh time Honorius had held the consulship and the sec-
ond occasion for Constantius III.5 Theodosius II presumably approved of their 
appointments since both rulers were supposed to agree on the nominations.

Galla Placidia knew that the joint-elevation of Honorius and Constan-
tius III as consuls was a trick because holders of this office were normally 
married. Because women of the imperial household customarily wed while 
young, a candidate for the consulship normally had a wife.

The ceremony for the appointment of Honorius and Constantius III as 
the new consuls took place on first day of the year in 417 ce. After the event, 
Honorius forced Galla Placidia to hold the hand of Constantius III before 
the assembled crowd. This public display act made them legally married; 
matrimony did not become a Church sacrament until centuries later. An 
elaborate celebration followed the ceremony.6 Galla Placidia was certainly 
miserable.

An Unhappy Spouse

A strange series of events occurred in the Western Roman Empire eigh-
teen months after Honorius had forced Galla Placidia to marry Constantius 
III. They were so unusual that many Romans believed they were signs of a 
forthcoming cosmic disaster. At 2:00 p.m., on July 19, 418 ce, the sun dis-
appeared. It became so dark that stars were visible during the daytime. An 
unusual comet with no tail appeared in the sky; this apparition was visible for 
four months. Then, Pope Zosimus died. If these happenings were not trou-
bling enough, news of other unnatural occurrences in the Eastern Roman 
Empire terrified many in the Western Roman Empire.

Earthquakes of unprecedented magnitude struck several places in the 
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Mediterranean basin and the Holy Land, killing a large number of its resi-
dents. Jesus appeared in Jerusalem on the Mount of Olives where, according 
to Scripture, he had ascended to heaven. Crosses spontaneously materialized 
on the clothing of pagans, leading many of them to accept Christian baptism. 
Then, a meteor fell to earth causing a great fire. The church historian Philost-
orgius believed these were divine signs of forthcoming wars and “indescrib-
able human slaughter.”7

While many Romans were trying to fathom the meaning of these 
strange events, a profound change took place in Galla Placidia’s husband. 
Formerly “cheerful and affable,” he became unhappy and regarded their re-
lationship as toxic.8 Although his marriage to her made him the heir to the 
throne of the Western Roman Empire and in command of all its forces, Galla 
Placidia dominated him. Constantius III became jealous; he wanted to amass 
as much wealth as she had. He was unsuccessful in his quest to become rich; 
he remained unhappy for the rest of his life.9 Even an event that should have 
brought him great joy did not change his unpleasant disposition.

In late 417 or early 418 ce, approximately one year after her marriage, 
Galla Placidia gave birth to a daughter. She was twenty-five or twenty-six 
years old at the time. The couple named the infant Justa Grata Honoria. Justa 
and Grata were the names of her maternal aunts; Honoria is the feminine 
form of Honorius. Everyone referred to the girl as Honoria.10 Unfortunately, 
Honorius and Constantius III were unhappy because a girl could not inherit 
the throne.

On July 2, 419 ce, Galla Placidia gave birth to the heir to the Western 
Roman Empire. Historians refer to her son, Flavius Placidus Valentinianus, 
as Valentinian III. The name of Galla Placidia’s son tells us something about 
her authority at the royal court. Flavius was also the name of Constantine 
the Great, the first Christian emperor. The name Valentinian commemorated 
her maternal uncle and grandfather, both of whom were emperors. Placidus 
honored her.11 Because both her children bore names that emphasized her 
imperial ancestry, she likely chose them.

Galla Placidia gave birth to her two children during the first two years 
of her marriage. She apparently then lived apart from her spouse, or possibly 
terminated marital relations, since there is no evidence that she became preg-
nant again.12 Now, her sole purpose in life was to protect her children and save 
what was left of the Western Roman Empire.

Galla Placidia Augusta

Galla Placidia was the most important woman in the entire Roman Em-
pire. Yet, her status was unclear. She was of equal rank with her son since her 
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late father had given her the corresponding title “most noble girl” (Nobilis-
sima puella). She wanted the highest status possible for a woman to achieve—
Augusta. It is the female form of the name adopted by all emperors: there 
was no greater honor for a woman than to receive it. Yet, she realized the title 
would cause problems since she would outrank her spouse. Consequently, 
she became determined to persuade her half-brother to give her husband the 
equivalent honor.

Galla Placidia compelled Honorius to promote her husband.13 On 
February 8, 421 ce, he elevated Constantius III to the status of Augustus, 
thereby making him the co-emperor. She had considerable power over her 
half-brother, for she also managed to obtain for her spouse the position of 
consul for the third time. This was an honor rarely bestowed upon anyone 
in the history of the Roman Empire. It meant that Constantius III would 
become emperor when Honorius died and Galla Placidia’s son, Valentinian 
III, would be next in the line of succession. Nevertheless, being the wife and 
mother of the West’s current and future monarchs was not enough for her: 
she still wanted the highest royal title possible for a woman.

Galla Placidia convinced Honorius and her husband to issue a joint 
edict proclaiming her an Augusta.14 Honorius had to give her and her spouse 
positions almost equal to his own because he needed Constantius III’s help 
and protection to stay in power. Constantius III, moreover, could not remain 
in the emperor’s favor without her support. She dominated her spouse for the 
remainder of his life.15 While she relished her new promotion, Constantius III 
regretted his. He longed for his spendthrift bachelor days.

Constantius III’s new title made his life worse. He could no longer cavort 
with his friends since an Augustus had to remain aloof from his subjects. This 
was necessary to increase the mystery and respect for the imperial office. To 
make matters worse, the Eastern Roman Emperor, Honorius’s nephew Theo-
dosius II, refused to recognize Constantius III as an Augustus. Theodosius II 
also resented Galla Placidia’s popularity in both halves of the Roman Empire.16 
Consequently, he publicly disrespected her by refusing to acknowledge that 
she was an Augusta, even though several women in his family bore the title. 
Nevertheless, Galla Placidia became famous and further increased her pow-
ers throughout the entire Roman Empire when she helped her half-brother 
and husband rule and became involved in ecclesiastical politics.

A Bad Pope?: Zosimus and the African Bishops

Pope Zosimus is one of the most obscure men to have presided over the 
Catholic Church.17 Elected to its highest office on March 18, 417 ce, he died 
the following year, on December 26, 418 ce. He had caused great controversy 
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during his brief 21-month tenure as the leader of Christendom. Opposition 
to him began four days after his election as pope. The cause was a longstand-
ing dispute over the territory under the jurisdiction of Patroclus, Bishop of 
Arles in modern France. He had long claimed three neighboring provinces in 
Gaul as part of his diocese; the local bishops disagreed. Zosimus placed these 
regions under Patroclus’s jurisdiction. Constantius III supported the pope’s 
decision.

Galla Placidia was likely behind her husband’s endorsement of Patro-
clus’s claim to lands in Gaul. She was close to the cleric. Nevertheless, Galla 
Placidia believed religion was under the authority of the state. Her conviction 
went back to the first Christian emperor, Constantine the Great (306–312 ce), 
who had proclaimed himself the “civic Bishop.”18 Zosimus thought otherwise. 
Unfortunately, he had problems. He was an unpopular pope; even his own 
bishops refused to recognize his authority.19

It is difficult to imagine clergy today disobeying a direct order from a 
pope. That is what happened to Zosimus when he tried to exert his authority 
over the North African bishops. The controversy began when an obstinate 
North African bishop named Urbanus excommunicated a priest in his dio-
cese. Normally, that would have been the end of the matter since a bishop’s 
power over his clergy was absolute. In this instance, the deposed cleric com-
plicated matters by appealing to Zosimus.

Zosimus believed the ruling of a pope superseded all decisions made 
by the bishops. He threatened to excommunicate Urbanus if he did not re-
instate the priest. Then, Zosimus angered the North African bishops when 
he sent investigators to the continent to review their ecclesiastical policies. 
It was the first time a pope had undertaken such an action. Because Ur-
banus was a close friend of bishop Augustine, this matter threatened to 
develop into a schism that could divide the church. The African bishops 
held a meeting to decide what to do. They decreed that clergy under their 
control could not appeal to the pope and only bishops residing in North 
Africa could judge disputes there. Zosimus relented and gave up his effort 
to control his bishops.

No one appears to have liked Zosimus. In one of his surviving letters, he 
laments that everyone was bringing accusations against him before Honori-
us.20 Many despised him because he had supported the controversial theo-
logical Pelagius, who denied the doctrine of original sin. The bishops had 
forced Zosimus to declare him a heretic.21 When Zosimus died after Christ-
mas day in 418 ce, he left a church torn apart by disputes over doctrine and 
leadership. Honorius wanted to guarantee that the next occupant of the papal 
office would cause less trouble for Church and State and help him preserve 
the Western Roman Empire.
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Church and State as One
Honorius needed an obedient pope to help him keep the Western Roman 

Empire from running out of money. Collecting taxes was difficult as fake cur-
rency was abundant; forgers often manufactured debased coins with lesser 
value metals inside them.22 Consequently, citizens frequently paid their taxes 
with goods the state could use or sell for profit. This practice created a burden 
for provincial officials who had to record all produce and items collected then 
transport them to state-owned warehouses. The government sold this mer-
chandise or disturbed it to troops or poor citizens. As the size of the West’s 
vast storage facilities increased, so did the bureaucracy needed to record its 
vast holdings. Increasingly, the problem was not merely with record keeping, 
but with determining who had satisfied their financial obligations to the state.

Citizens throughout history have hated paying taxes. In Galla Placidia’s 
day, the problem was keeping track of who had met their financial obligation 
to the state. The Western government created an elaborate administrative ap-
paratus, which had become bloated with innumerable clerks, accounts, and 
agents issuing and receiving receipts. This complex network of civil servants 
had to ensure that rich and poor alike paid what they owed. Unlike today, the 
affluent did not need to resort to creative accounting to avoid taxes. Rather, 
they frequently hired armed bands of thugs to keep the revenue agents away 
or force them to lower the assessments of their lands. Local officials had to 
gouge the peasants to make up for the lost income.

Trust was scarce in Galla Placidia’s society. The Late Roman Empire was 
a world in which an elaborate network of spies, secret police, and agents over-
saw the collection of imperial revenue. Other officials had to oversee these 
men to prevent them from pillaging the imperial coffers. This system was so 
complex and difficult to manage that the government required the coopera-
tion of the Church for its financial survival.

The clergy had the spiritual power to demand that peasants obey the 
state and relinquish a significant portion of their income to the imperial 
agents because Jesus had commanded: “Render to the emperor what belongs 
to the emperor and to God what belongs to God.”23 The rulers wanted the 
Church to force farmers and laborers comply with their wishes since Scrip-
ture also decrees: “Submit yourselves for the Lord’s sake to every human 
authority: whether it is to the emperor, as the supreme authority, or to gover-
nors, who are sent by him to push those who do wrong and commend those 
who do right.”24 The problem was that the emperor and the pope believed 
they represented God’s interests on earth. Galla Placidia played a major role 
in resolving this debate over who wielded the greatest authority in the entire 
Roman Empire when she helped select the new pope.
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Choosing the Pope, 
Cleansing the Church

The unexpected death of Pope Zosimus created a crisis in both halves 
of the Roman Empire. Civil war was a possibility because the Pope was 
as much a government official as he was a religious functionary. Conse-
quently, selecting his replacement was a decision that affected both church 
and state. Today, choosing a pontiff is not a problem. A papal conclave (a 
Latin word meaning “with a key”) assembles to select a new custodian of 
the Holy See. At this meeting, a body of electors, known as the College of 
Cardinals, secludes itself inside the Vatican’s Sistine Chapel, beneath Mi-
chelangelo’s frescos, until they pick one their members as the new pope. 
However, this secret process is a late development in the history of Cath-
olic Church. The first conclave took place in 1274 ce, over eight centuries 
after Galla Placidia’s death. In her day, papal elections were haphazard and 
chaotic affairs.1

Multiple Popes

When a pope died in antiquity, bishops and clergy met to elect a succes-
sor. The laity participated in these convocations.2 Celibacy was not a church 
requirement at the time. When Galla Placidia was nine years old, Zosimus’s 
predecessor, Pope Innocent I (401–417 ce), had succeeded his father, Pope 
Anastasius I (399–401 ce). No one viewed this as a problem since Jesus’s 
closest Apostle and the first pope, Saint Peter, had a wife. Jesus even healed 
Peter’s mother-in-law when she became sick with fever.3 Consequently, the 
early Church believed God had not forbidden its leaders from marrying and 
producing children since the New Testament said men in such positions must 
be the “husband of one wife.”4 Polygamy, not marriage or children, disqual-
ified a male from holding Christianity’s highest office. Nearly forty popes in 
the early Church had spouses.5 Galla Placidia apparently did not care whether 
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the pope was married or not. Rather, she and Honorius wanted a pope who 
accepted the state’s authority over the Church.

The Great Schism

Many Christians had complained to Honorius about Zosimus’s con-
duct.6 Consequently, the City Prefect of Rome, a pagan named Aurelius 
Anicius Symmachus, feared trouble would occur at his funeral. Although 
his job was to maintain order, Symmachus had little authority since he had 
been in his position for two days. He had no idea what to expect at the burial 
service, or how to ward off any potential challengers seeking Zosimus’s job. 
Symmachus failed to secure the Lateran Basilica during the Zosimus’s fu-
neral, which took place in the Church of Saint Lawrence-Outside-The-Walls 
in Rome on Friday, December 27, 418 ce. He soon realized he had made a 
terrible mistake.

The Lateran Basilica, formerly the site of a Roman fort and palace, is the 
oldest and most important of the four Papal Basilicas in Rome. Constantine 
the Great had given it to the Church. Pope Silvester I (315–335 ce) became 
the first Roman pontiff to reside in it. Although modern popes now live in St. 
Peter’s Basilica in the Vatican City near the burial of the first pope, Saint Peter, 
this church is of lesser importance than the Lateran.7 A cleric still cannot be-
come head of the Catholic Church until a consecration ceremony takes place 
in the Lateran Basilica.

While Symmachus watched Zosimus’s funeral procession to prevent any 
disturbance from erupting during the ceremony, the late pope’s archdeacon, 
Eulalius, had his partisans occupy the Lateran Basilica. He proclaimed him-
self pope there since he believed control of this sacred edifice made a candi-
date the valid pontiff.8 Unfortunately, there was a problem with the timing of 
the ceremony. The official consecration of a pope normally took place on a 
Sunday. Eulalius and his followers vowed to remain inside the basilica for two 
days and hold the convocation on Sunday to comply with Church tradition. 
Things did not go as he had planned.

On Sunday, December 29, 418 ce, the Bishop of Ostia arrived in Rome 
to conduct the ceremony and appoint Eulalius the new pope. Because this 
bishop had ordained the previous Bishop of Rome, Eulalius was confident his 
investiture was legitimate and that he was the new pope. That same day, an-
other papal ceremony took place in the city. Nine provincial bishops and sev-
enty priests met in the Basilica of Saint Marcellus to ordain an elderly priest 
named Boniface as the new Holy Father. Boniface and his violent armed fol-
lowers marched towards Saint Peter’s Basilica to make his election official.9 
The Church now had two popes; each denounced the other as an unlawful 
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occupant of Saint Peter’s throne. Riots erupted throughout the city between 
supporters of each claimant to Christianity’s highest office.

For seven months and fifteen days, nobody knew whether Eulalius or 
Boniface was the legitimate pope. Consequently, bishops had to choose be-
tween two rival claimants for spiritual direction. This was a dangerous situ-
ation since following the wrong pontiff could lead to excommunication as a 
heretic. The approaching Easter holiday made this dispute problematic since 
only one pope could preside over the service to celebrate Jesus’s resurrection. 
Galla Placidia emerged during this spiritual crisis to play a major role in re-
solving the papal schism.

Galla Placidia Selects the Pope

The sixth century ce Liber Pontificalis (Book of Pontiffs) acknowledged 
the important role Galla Placidia played in selecting Zosimus’s successor. Un-
fortunately, the book’s author did not record the events of this period in their 
correct sequence.10 Fortunately, we can correct these errors by consulting 
twenty-four surviving documents from a collection of ecclesiastical corre-
spondence and papal missives written during this conflict known as the Col-
lectio Avellana (“Avellana Compilation”). Galla Placidia wrote three of these 
letters.11 They are significant because they are among the few surviving female 
writings from the Late Roman Empire. These documents reveal the extent to 
which she and the royal family dominated Church affairs.

When Symmachus heard about the papal schism, he rushed to Ravenna 
to discuss the controversy with Galla Placidia.12 He did not give her an unbi-
ased report. Rather, he tried to convince her to support Eulalius solely because 
he had claimed the office first. Galla Placidia agreed. She then told Honorius 
of the conflict. On January 3, 419 ce, they issued a dispatch recognizing Eu-
lalius as the rightful spiritual leader of all Christians. They also agreed to par-
don Boniface if he relinquished his claim to the papacy and immediately left 
the city of Rome with his followers. Boniface refused.

On January 6, 419 ce, Eulalius celebrated the Feast of the Epiphany in 
Saint Peter’s Basilica. This service commemorates God’s incarnation as Jesus 
Christ: a central teaching of Christianity. Boniface planned to preside over 
the same festival at the Basilica of Saint Paul-Outside-the-Walls, which con-
tains the Apostle Paul’s tomb. Symmachus ordered him not to conduct a 
procession as part of this religious holiday. Boniface’s followers beat up his 
messenger. The prefect’s police arrested Boniface.

Boniface’s supporters went to Ravenna to request an audience with Galla 
Placidia and Honorius. They were quite persuasive for, on January 15, Galla 
Placidia and Honorius issued a new imperial edict annulling their previous 



	 13. Choosing the Pope, Cleansing the Church� 111

one. They decreed there would be no pope for now. Honorius ordered the 
bishops to convene at the Italian town of Spoleto on June 13 to select a new 
pope. He also ordered the bishop of Spoleto to conduct the forthcoming hol-
iday service at Rome, and commanded Eulalius and Boniface to leave the 
city.13

A Failed Council

Although the word council today summons up images of organized af-
fairs like the Vatican II, which was the last such event held from 1962 to 1965, 
in Galla Placidia’s day, such gatherings were chaotic, violent, and frequent. 
During the two hundred and twenty-five years after Constantine the Great 
had granted Christianity imperial recognition, the Church convened approx-
imately 15,000 councils in at least 255 locations. We know little about most of 
them. There were so many because the first council of 325 ce, which Constan-
tine the Great had presided over in the Turkish city of Nicaea, mandated that 
bishops meet twice a year.14 This caused great hardship because clerics often 
had to attend these events at their own expense and travel through dangerous 
terrain to reach them.

Councils usually met in large buildings, which limited the locations 
where they could be held. Decisions were made by voice acclamation; the 
loudest group won. Only bishops could participate in the deliberations. Nev-
ertheless, clergy and laypersons joined in the shouts to decide religious doc-
trine and Church policy: yelling determined matters of salvation.15 Armed 
guards frequently accompanied the ruler to these ecclesiastical gatherings 
since violence was common.

Theology was literally a contact sport in the Late Roman Empire. During 
the 250 years following the Council of Nicaea, at least 25,000 Christians per-
ished in violent disputes over church dogma. In Alexandria, Egypt, mobs 
even paraded through the streets shouting, “There was a time when he was 
not” to show their support for Arius’s view that Jesus was a created being. 
They did so to provoke violence among the followers of the city’s orthodox 
leaning bishop and clergy. Laypersons often died fighting over whose view of 
salvation was correct. Prominent bishops ordered their zealous followers to 
attack other bishops and priests: many were stabbed, had eyes gouged, limbs 
amputated, or acid thrown at their faces.16 Damascus I, who had been pope 
during Galla Placidia’s reign, even sent gladiators, charioteers, and gravedig-
gers and armed clergy to beat supporters of his opponent for the papacy and 
occupy the Lateran Basilica. His partisans murdered over one hundred and 
sixty men, women, and children.17 Given that popes often resorted to vio-
lence, Galla Placidia and Honorius had good reason to fear a riot would erupt 
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over the papal schism if Eulalius or Boniface encouraged their partisans to 
take up arms to seize the Lateran.

Roman legal documents use the word “terror” to refer to the armies of 
young Christian men who did not hesitate to inflict violence on behalf of 
their bishops.18 Clergy recruited these hooligans from the lowest level of so-
ciety: the uneducated, the illiterate, the poor, and often the unmarried. Galla 
Placidia’s contemporaries, Augustine and Jerome, documented some of this 
ecclesiastical brutality. Much of it occurred at councils. Presiders of these 
meetings often punished dissenting bishops with great cruelty: many died in 
exile.19 The Church was often an inhumane institution that mirrored secular 
bodies. It was, moreover, under the control of the emperor. Often the ruler—
not the pope—determined the correct path to salvation.

Although Honorius had convened the Spoleto council to resolve the 
papal schism, the extant correspondence shows that Galla Placidia tried to 
determine its outcome in advance. She wrote a letter to Bishop Aurelius of 
Carthage stating that the emperor, her “blood brother,” had tried to resolve 
the “battle over the papacy.” In this document, she asserted that Boniface’s 
“unbridled ambition” had caused the schism.20 She, like Honorius and the 
prefect Symmachus, supported Eulalius because he had been the first to oc-
cupy the Lateran basilica and had declared himself Christ’s vicar on earth.21 
Speed clearly mattered.

Galla Placidia believed the attendance of the African bishops at 
the forthcoming council was necessary to resolve the papal schism. She 
thought they would support Eulalius. These clerics were important be-
cause they had played a major role in rooting out Christian heresy, es-
pecially Pelagius and his followers.22 She wrote a series of letters urging 
them to make the dangerous journey to Italy to help her choice for pope 
win the election. In her epistle to Bishop Aurelius, she asked him to travel 
to Italy to give his opinion over which of the two candidates is the rightful 
pope. In a series of letters, she sent to the seven African bishops, including 
the famed Augustine and his close friend and fellow bishop Alypius, she 
stressed her status as the emperor’s “blood sister.” She used this title to 
show her authority and to imply they should back her preference for the 
sacred office; this was undoubtedly a veiled threat since it was dangerous 
for anyone to oppose a member of the royal family.23 In case these and 
other prominent bishops refused to yield to her will, she summoned a 
theological giant of the day to pressure the assembled bishops at the Spo-
leto council to accept her choice for the papacy. His name was Paulinus 
from the Italian city of Nola.

Later canonized as a saint, the sixty-six-year-old Paulinus was among the 
most famous Christians of the time. Galla Placidia wrote him a personal let-
ter urging him to attend the forthcoming synod at Spoleto despite his age and 
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infirmities. She mentioned that he had been unable to visit her in Ravenna 
because of the dangers involved in the journey. Earlier, he had suffered greatly 
when the Visigoths had plundered Nola and imprisoned him.24 She likely met 
him there while Athaulf held her as a hostage. Despite the potential dangers, 
and the possibility he could be captured by the barbarians again, Galla Pla-
cidia wanted Paulinus to attend the council. In her letter to him, she warned 
him of possible violence, and the potential seizure of the Lateran Basilica, 
if the bishops did not resolve the matter quickly. Galla Placidia, moreover, 
made her status clear by stating that she and Honorius had deposed the pre-
vious claimant to the papacy. They had, she wrote, now decided to wait until 
the bishops could select a new pope at Spoleto. Her message was clear: only 
her candidate could unify the Church as she and her brother had the power 
to appoint a pope.25

Galla Placidia believed her position as the emperor’s sister gave her the 
authority to determine the papal succession.26 Yet, it is doubtful that she acted 
alone in seeking to resolve this dispute. Honorius greatly respected her piety. 
She would not have corresponded with the African bishops or Paulinus of 
Nola without her brother’s consent. By writing to them, she helped to propa-
gate the belief that the Roman Emperor is the supreme authority over church 
and state.27 It looked like her candidate would soon become the new pontiff. 
Then, an unexpected event took place that forced her and her half-sibling to 
switch their allegiance.

On March 18, Eulalius defied Honorius’s order and entered Rome. He 
went to the Basilica of Constantine near the Colosseum where he planned 
to celebrate Easter, which occurred on March 30 of that year. Because this 
church was the site of his ordination, its priests and parishioners supported 
his claim to the papacy. Riots erupted between factions loyal to the two com-
petitors for the holy office. Symmachus did nothing because he feared remov-
ing Eulalius from Rome would anger Galla Placidia and Honorius.

Eulalius’s disobedience of an imperial order united Honorius, Galla 
Placidia, and Constantius III against him. The three agreed that the state’s 
authority was above the Church since Scripture decreed that God created 
government to maintain order. They decided to remove Eulalius from the 
city. Symmachus, acting on the emperor’s order, sent his police to occupy the 
Lateran Basilica where Eulalius was staying. Honorius confined Eulalius to a 
house outside Rome’s walls. When Easter arrived, the Bishop of Spoleto pre-
sided over the service in the Lateran Basilica in place of the pope.28

After much deliberation, the royal family made a decision. Honorius as 
emperor canceled the forthcoming council and, on April 3, 419 ce, declared 
Boniface the new pope. The schism was over. Galla Placidia had played a 
major role in the selection of a new pope, his removal from office, and the 
selection of his replacement. She is the only woman to have played such a 



114	 Empress Galla Placidia and the Fall of the Roman Empire

role in Roman history; future popes recognized her power and sought her 
guidance and support in determining matters of faith.

Because of the circumstances that led to him becoming pope, Boni-
face wondered whether he had any actual authority to govern the church. 
Consequently, he wanted Honorius’s assurance the royal family would never 
again interfere in a papal election or determine religious doctrine. Honorius 
wrote him a sharply worded letter telling him that the emperor could dictate 
Church policy and dogma.29 Boniface had to bow to Honorius’s will since 
the royal family had appointed him Bishop of Rome in place of a rival claim-
ant. When news that Honorius had chosen Boniface as the new Holy Father 
reached North Africa, Augustine responded that he was pleased because he 
thought the new pontiff would not interfere in local affairs as Zosimus had.30 
He and his friend Alypius were undoubtedly overjoyed they would not have 
to risk the perilous journey to Spoleto and potentially clash with Galla Pla-
cidia or her brother over which bishop should be appointed the next pope.

The election of Boniface was significant because a woman helped to se-
lect a pope. Galla Placidia’s letters to resolve the papal schism demonstrated 
that she was effectively Honorius’s co-regent. Eulalius’s defiance of Honorius 
shows her importance: he had disobeyed the emperor’s decree only because 
he believed he had her support.31 Nevertheless, despite the prominent role 
she had played in making Boniface pope, he proved no champion of gender 
equality. He issued a decree that no woman or nun should touch the conse-
crated altar cloth, wash it, or offer incense in the church.32 Yet, despite his 
dislike of women, Galla Placidia outranked him in political influence and the 
enforcement of religious doctrine. She zealously sought to root out all here-
tics in the Church, even those in the imperial family.

Rooting Out Heresy

History has been unkind to Galla Placidia’s spouse and her half-brother. 
They deserve much condemnation: neither proved worthy custodians of 
the important offices they held. Moreover, they were not very religious. The 
ancient chroniclers of the time praised her piety. Yet, the Christianity of 
her era was scarcely recognizable as the faith commonly practiced today. 
It was often indistinguishable from paganism. Many Christians believed 
evil spirits possessed persons, nature, and inanimate objects. Galla Placidia 
sought to purify Christianity of all pagan customs and beliefs. Yet, there was 
one important exception: she refused to allow anyone to harm barbarians, 
whether pagan or Christian. This became clear when, four years into her 
marriage, a man named Libanius made an unexpected visit to the imperial 
court at Ravenna.
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Libanius was one of the many wandering magicians who earned a living 
in the Late Roman Empire impressing sophisticated and unlearned folk alike 
by claiming to possess great spiritual powers. Although he was famous in 
Galla Placidia’s day, we know little about him. Constantius III hoped he could 
accomplish what the vaunted Roman legions had failed to achieve for over a 
century, namely the extermination of the barbarians. He offered the itinerant 
wizard a high sum for his assistance: pagan magicians, like Christian clergy, 
typically expected remuneration of their services. Honorius agreed with her 
husband’s plan. Their willingness to hire Libanius to kill all Visigoths shows 
how much they hated the barbarians. Galla Placidia vowed to stop them.33

Galla Placida publicly humiliated her half-sibling and spouse by insist-
ing upon a divorce. It was no idle threat because witchcraft was illegal; it 
was considered a form of treason. The ancient Romans feared sorcerers like 
Libanius could predict the death of an emperor, which could inspire unscru-
pulous persons to murder a ruler and claim that God’s had wanted him dead. 
To present this from occurring, Theodosius had issued an imperial edict in 
389 ce that required anyone aware of sorcery to drag the offender in public to 
the court for punishment.34

Because Honorius and Constantius III had supported Libanius, they 
were in defiance of Theodosius’s law against sorcery. This gave Galla Placidia 
legal grounds to end her marriage since Honorius had passed a regulation 
granting a woman the right to a unilateral divorce if her husband had a se-
vere character defect: the practice of paganism counted as a grave moral de-
ficiency. Consequently, Honorius and Constantius III had to order Libanius’s 
execution to show they were devout Christians who obeyed the law.35 Of all 
the events of Galla Placidia’s life, this incident is perhaps the most problem-
atic because it clearly shows she believed in the reality of pagan magic despite 
her claim to be an orthodox Christian.36 She also destroyed the pagan statue 
that had prevented Alaric from crossing to Sicily because she was convinced 
it had tried to kill her and the Visigoths.37 Galla Placidia not only became fa-
mous for her victory over Libanius, but also for her campaign to unify Chris-
tianity through the construction of monumental churches.

A Legacy in Stone

Galla Placidia’s legacy is visible to anyone who visits Ravenna today. Yet, 
when she lived there, it was largely a pagan city.38 She watched processions 
of idols in its streets. Although we do not know if she saw the violent chariot 
races that took place in its Hippodrome, many Christians did. Augustine’s 
best friend and fellow Christian, Alypius, became addicted to them when 
they lived together in Rome.39 Because of its pagan past, Ravenna was largely 
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devoid of Christian architecture and traditions. Placidia became determined 
to make it a major Christian center.

The most famous church Galla Placidia built in Ravenna honored 
Saint John the Evangelist. Unfortunately, most of this massive edifice is a 
twentieth-century reconstruction: aerial bombardment destroyed it during 
World War II. It was so impressive that the ninth century ce historian of 
Ravenna’s bishops, Andreas Angellus, praised her for erecting it. Galla Pla-
cidia placed a giant candelabrum of pure gold in it that bore her image and 
the inscription, “I will prepare a lamp for my Christ.”40 She also included her 
children in an honorific engraving she placed in the sanctuary and in the mo-
saic of the saint saving her and her family during a storm at sea. Galla Placidia 
frequently spent nights on her knees in this house of worship weeping and 
praying to God.41

Ravenna’s bishop, Peter Chrysologus (ca. 425–450 ce), was Galla Placid-
ia’s greatest supporter in the city. He was famous for his simple brief sermons; 
he did not want to bore his parishioners. In his first homily after his elevation 
to his ecclesiastical rank, he called her the mother of the eternal Christian 
Empire. Chrysologus also praised her holiness, her works of mercy, and her 
reverence for the Trinity (the traditional three aspects of God: Father, Son, 
and Holy Spirit).42 The “works” he praised her for are her churches. Among 
these was the Church of the Holy Cross (Santa Croce) she had built for the 
royal palace. Although it is no longer extant—the modern building on the 
site has no connection with her—one of its chapels survives. Called the Mau-
soleum of Galla Placidia, it is among Ravenna’s most popular tourist attrac-
tions.43 Yet, the name is misleading because her body was never placed inside 
it (this book’s final chapter reveals the location of her burial). She dedicated 
this edifice to Saint Lawrence; the Roman Emperor Valerian had killed him 
in 258 ce for practicing Christianity. The United Nations Educational, Scien-
tific, and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) recognizes this building as one 
of the world’s greatest cultural treasures.44 The beauty of Galla Placidia’s mo-
saics inside it even inspired the American songwriter Cole Porter to compose 
his tune “Night and Day.”45

Lawrence is one of the most venerated Christian saints. Because the mo-
saic Galla Placidia placed in the Church of the Holy Cross did not include any 
names, some experts have suggested it depicts another saint. One scholar has 
proposed it is a portrayal of the Spanish martyr Saint Vincent who perished 
during the reign of the Roman Emperor Diocletian around 304 ce. Pagans 
also roasted him on a red-hot gridiron; it was apparently a popular way to 
kill prominent members of the faith. Since Pope Leo I (440–61 ce), Galla 
Placidia’s theological ally, preached a sermon about Lawrence in honor of his 
feast day, the traditional identification of the saint as Lawrence is certainly 
correct.46
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Galla Placidia constructed other churches in Ravenna, such as the Ba-
silica Ursiana (it is now the site of a modern building) and a church for Saint 
Stephen at nearby Ariminum (Rimini).47 She also spent considerable money 
repairing the Basilica of Saint Paul-Outside-the-Walls in Rome after a light-
ning strike had damaged it. Her projects also included at least one secular 
edifice there. Known as the Portico of Placidia, it was a colonnade lined with 
shops.48 Her fame even spread to the Middle East when she commissioned 
mosaics for the Church of Santa Croce in Jerusalem.49

During Galla Placidia’s sojourn in Ravenna, her niece, Singledia, had a 
dream. Saint Zacharias, the father of Jesus’ cousin John the Baptist, begged 
her to erect a church in the city to honor him.50 Galla Placidia agreed to build 
it; her workers purportedly finished it in thirteen days. The same year some-
one discovered the purported corpse of Zacharias, John the Baptist’s father, 
and the bones of the first Christian martyr, Saint Stephen, in Palestine.51 To 
show that she was blessed like the biblical saints, Galla Placidia placed a large 
chalice in her new sacred edifice with an inscription engraved on its rim con-
taining her name.52 Many revered her during her lifetime because of her sup-
port of the Church and her retinue of so-called “living saints.”

Galla Placidia’s Saints

The first qualification to become a saint is to die. Nevertheless, through-
out history many pious Christians have received the unofficial moniker “liv-
ing saint.” Several of these wonderworkers sought Galla Placidia’s assistance. 
She played a major role in the creation of the cult of saints to honor them: 
the veneration of their bones, desiccated bodies, and physical possessions.53 
Her ownership of such objects brought an influx of pilgrims, whose money 
filled the Church’s coffers, as well as lined the pockets of local merchants. 
Through her patronage of holy men, Galla Placidia became so famous that 
many Christians regarded her too as a living saint.

Galla Placidia had a close relationship with a holy man named Germa-
nus of Auxerre. Many regarded him as a saint during his lifetime.54 He had 
begun his career at her son’s court as the governor of Brittany on the northern 
coast of France, opposite England. Trained as a lawyer, Germanus developed 
a close rapport with its inhabitants. They elected him their new bishop in 418 
ce. While this may sound rather unusual, during the Late Roman Empire few 
Christians had any theological training. Parishioners with money and an ed-
ucation were often ordained as priests or bishops against their will. Ambrose, 
whom Galla Placidia had watched preside over her father’s funeral, was one 
of the most prominent examples. He was a popular governor of north Italy. 
When the city of Milan’s bishop died, a mob grabbed him, took him to the 
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baptismal font, and proclaimed him a bishop.55 Yet, although such ordination 
stories were common in Galla Placidia’s time, today’s Church would not rec-
ognize Ambrose and many of his contemporary bishops as legitimate holders 
of their sacred offices because of their lack of theological training. Many were 
not actually Christians.

Ambrose, like many Christians of the time, had postponed baptism. 
Although this may sound odd, Christians in the Late Roman Empire had a 
magical understanding of this central rite of the Christian faith. Christians 
believed the magical waters of baptism literally washed away all transgres-
sions; consequently, it was best to wait as late as possible and continue to 
sin. Many Christians chose to delay it until just before death to enter heaven 
without the taint of any sin. Even Ambrose’s protégée, Augustine, was in no 
hurry to request baptism to avoid committing sins that could potentially send 
him to Hell. Yet, despite their unusual Christian beliefs and violent behavior, 
Germanus, Ambrose, and Augustine were all renowned for their asceticism. 
The Catholic Church declared them saints.56

Germanus was famous for his simple and pious lifestyle. He gave his 
possessions to the poor, undertook lengthy fasts, and ate only coarse barley 
bread. Because of his passionate defense of the faith, Pope Celestine I (422–32 
ce) sent him to Britain in 429 ce to battle heresy on the island. While there, 
he commanded an army and defeated invading Saxons and Picts. When bar-
barians attacked the city of Armorica, Germanus saved it by grabbing the 
leader’s horse, turning it around, and ordering him to leave. The shocked 
chief and his raiders abruptly departed. Famous for these and many other 
deeds, Germanus also purportedly had the power to heal and expel demons. 
Among the most important Christians to visit Ravenna, he came there be-
cause he needed Galla Placidia’s help.

Germanus had a problem. Some residents of his diocese had revolted 
against Honorius’s officials. Aetius had sent Alans to punish them; he also 
had increased the region’s taxes. The area’s population had begged Germanus 
for help. Despite his fame as a man of God and an imperial agent, he was 
reluctant to petition Honorius in Rome on their behalf. Rather, he went to 
Galla Placidia to plead for a royal pardon for his parishioners. She agreed to 
intercede with her brother to help them.

Germanus did not want anyone to know about his trip to Ravenna. He 
planned to meet Galla Placidia in secret. He rode a mule accompanied by a 
few followers to prevent anyone from recognizing him. The journey was nev-
ertheless difficult, as Galla Placidia knew firsthand. Germanus had to cross 
the Alps that she had traversed several times with the Visigoths to reach Italy. 
When he arrived, Ravenna’s citizens recognized him. Now that his visit was 
no longer a secret, Galla Placidia refused to allow him to enter the city with-
out an imperial welcome. She and Bishop Chrysologus met him in person. 
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Galla Placidia served Germanus a vegetarian meal on a silver dish since holy 
men of the time avoided meat. He immediately distributed the food to the 
poor, sold the platter, and doled out the proceeds to the needy. Germanus 
then presented Galla Placidia with a wooden plate and a loaf of coarse barley 
bread. She coated the dish with gold to preserve it for veneration. Galla Pla-
cidia also saved and treasured the bread, which supposedly had the power to 
heal.

Ravenna’s citizens came out in droves to see Germanus. They sur-
rounded him like a modern celebrity and demanded that he perform a mir-
acle. He complied by expelling a demon that had tormented the adopted son 
of a court eunuch. Soon afterward, Germanus became fatally ill. Galla Pla-
cidia comforted him at his bedside. He asked her to return his body home for 
burial. When he died, she embalmed his corpse with spices, provided cloth-
ing for his interment, and arranged for the transport of his remains to Gaul. 
Unfortunately, she and Chrysologus fought over his earthly possessions. The 
two eventually agreed to divide them; in the words of Germanus’s biographer, 
the Western Roman Empire took one portion and the episcopate the other.57 
Galla Placidia kept Germanus’s little box of holy relics while Chrysologus re-
tained his cloak. Although these objects increased Ravenna’s fame as a site of 
pilgrimage, Germanus was the not the most important of the so-called living 
saints to have visited Galla Placidia there.

A hermit named Barbatianus made Ravenna famous when moved to the 
city to be near Galla Placidia. Few today know the remarkable story of their 
close relationship, which sculptors and artists commemorated for centuries.58 
The two had met in Rome when she was living in the Imperial City. When 
Barbatianus and an influential Christian named Timothy arrived, she, Hono-
rius, and her son sent them many gifts.59 These wandering ascetics had come 
from Antioch in Syria. While in Rome, both had purportedly performed 
many miracles and healed the sick. Galla Placidia summoned them to a pri-
vate meeting. Unfortunately, Timothy died before he could see her. Some 
pious women coated his body with incense and honey since they regarded 
him as a saint. Timothy’s tomb on the Vatican Hill became the site of mira-
cles: veneration of his physical remains could purportedly heal the sick and 
expel demons. Barbatianus went into a depression at the loss of his friend. He 
disappeared; Galla Placidia became determined to find him.

Galla Placidia’s agents searched the city of Rome for Barbatianus. They 
located him in the Catacombs of Callixtus living among the graves of the 
popes (it is now a popular tourist attraction). He was reluctant to emerge 
from his hiding spot but thanked her men for her interest in his welfare. Her 
envoys convinced Barbatianus to visit her. When he met Galla Placidia he 
said, “Peace to you, Empress Galla Placidia, the handmaiden of Christ, and 
victory for your son, the emperor.” She asked him to heal one of her servants 
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who suffered from an eye disease: he returned to his cell, prayed, and God re-
sponded to his petition. Barbatianus performed many other miracles for her 
in Ravenna such as restoring an injured foot, healing a man of lung disease, 
and making medicine from figs to cure a fatal fever.

Galla Placidia and Barbatianus became so close that he moved to 
Ravenna to be near her. He became her confessor, interceded to God on her 
behalf, and performed miraculous cures for her. Barbatianus also helped her 
consecrate the church she had built to fulfill her vow to Saint John the Evan-
gelist. The problem was that houses of worship needed sacred relics to be-
come places of pilgrimage. Because she had constructed the church to honor 
Saint John, she needed an object that had belonged to him. She asked Bar-
batianus to obtain a holy relic. After spending several nights praying, Saint 
John appeared to him. John then visited Galla Placidia that night and handed 
her his sandal. She placed it in the church, which was now a sacred edifice 
for the veneration of the saint. Two fourteenth century ce depictions of the 
event—one an illustration in a manuscript; the other carved above the portal 
of the church of Saint John the Evangelist—portray Galla Placidia, Barba-
tianus, Saint John, and the famed shoe.60

Many Christians believed the miracle of the sandal made Galla Placidia 
a saint. As late as the fourteenth century, the faithful claimed prayers directed 
to her healed the sick. The Italian artist Niccolo Rondienelli (1450–1510), who 
hailed from Ravenna and knew the tale of the miraculous footwear quite well, 
depicted Saint John giving Galla Placidia his shoe in one of his paintings. 
Today, few know the tales of her miracles and those of her close companion, 
Barbatianus, or that Christians once revered her.61

Barbatianus spent his final days in Ravenna. When he became fatally 
ill, Galla Placidia and Chrysologus arranged for his burial there. She built a 
magnificent tomb for him next to the altar in her Church of Saint John the 
Evangelist. Her close relationship with him gave her unprecedented influence 
over the royal court. Unfortunately, her acts of piety and her association with 
so-called living saints did not improve her toxic family situation.
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A Miserable Marriage

Galla Placidia’s husband was miserable. He hated politics; he was a phys-
ical wreck. A recurring nightmare that he would die seven months into his 
reign tormented him.1 Six months had passed since Honorius had, at Galla 
Placidia’s insistence, appointed him co-emperor. Unfortunately, Constantius 
III’s time on the earth was indeed up. On September 2, 421 ce, he succumbed 
to pleurisy. She was a widow for the second time. Her spouse had served as 
co-emperor for only seven months.

Constantius III left Galla Placidia with two small children and mas-
sive debt. It is unknown whether she ever loved him; there is no evidence 
she mourned for him. Her major concern was to find some way to keep her 
two-year-old son, Valentinian III, alive until he could assume power as the 
western Roman emperor.2

Trying to Survive

Honorius’s attitude towards Galla Placidia changed after her husband’s 
death. Their relationship caused much alarm. According to Olympiodorus, 
they frequently kissed one another on the lips in public. Rumors of an il-
licit relationship between them quickly spread.3 Many Romans thought it was 
possible because, in the Roman Empire’s early decades, the Emperor Caligula 
purportedly had an incestuous relationship with his sisters.4 Unlike this in-
famous ruler, we know nothing about Honorius’s sexuality. Although he had 
been married twice, he had no children. It is tempting to speculate that he 
had some physical impediment that prevented him from consummating his 
marriages, or that he suffered from some psychological aversion to women.5 
The latter is a distinct possibility, for after openly displaying his love for Galla 
Placidia he despised her.

The growing estrangement between Galla Placidia and Honorius forced 
the rich and powerful to take sides in the looming conflict between them. 
Some of her closest attendants betrayed her by spreading rumors that she was 
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not loyal to the Western Roman Empire. Street brawls erupted in Ravenna 
among her partisans and those of Honorius. Several citizens took advantage 
of the turmoil to allege that Constantius III had unlawfully seized their prop-
erty, which gave them the legal right to make claims against her estate.6 Her 
greatest adversary was a power-hungry patrician named Castinus. He wanted 
her late husband’s position as Master of the Army.7 Honorius felt he had no 
choice but to give it to him because the Western Roman Empire’s survival was 
in danger.

Enemies All Around

Immediately after the death of Constantius III, the Western Roman Em-
pire went through a period of great turmoil. Several barbarian tribes annexed 
portions of Honorius’s kingdom. Spain was in danger of falling as the Vandals 
attacked Roman settlements there. Honorius ordered Castinus to undertake a 
military expedition against them in 422 ce. Galla Placida’s ally, Boniface, par-
ticipated in it; however, he held a position subordinate to Castinus. These two 
men despised one another. Boniface abandoned Castinus during this cam-
paign and went to Africa. It was a blatant act of disloyalty. Honorius did not 
punish Boniface because he needed him in his army to protect the Western 
Roman Empire from almost constant barbarian attacks.

Castinus was jealous of Boniface and wanted to eliminate him. For now, 
he was powerless to deal with Boniface because rebellious tribes of Vandals 
were threatening Europe. Fortunately, the Visigoths, because of the treaty 
they had made with Galla Placidia’s late husband, agreed to help Castinus 
fight them. With their military support, Castinus besieged the Vandals at the 
city of Baetica, in southern Spain. After defeating them, he foolishly mis-
treated his Visigoth auxiliaries. They betrayed him at the Spanish port city of 
Tarragona, which resulted in the loss of this valuable locale for the Western 
Roman Empire.8 After this event, Galla Placidia convinced Honorius to ele-
vate Boniface to the position of Count of Africa: the supreme military com-
mander of the continent and the most powerful Roman official there.9 He was 
in the perfect position to support her should anyone try to harm her in Italy.10

Unlike Castinus, who had no prior experience in military matters before 
he assumed command of Roman forces, Boniface was a veteran of many cam-
paigns, He was highly regarded as a warrior and known for his commitment 
to justice. Olympiodorus says that he was a man cast “in the heroic mold.”11 
Even Bishop Augustine praised his “good reputation.”12 Although Boniface 
had wounded her first husband, Athaulf, Galla Placidia had forgiven him. She 
realized that he was the strongest man in the empire. The two formed an al-
liance. In addition to Boniface’s support, Galla Placidia still had her Visigoth 
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bodyguard and money from the properties her father had given her. She also 
inherited her second husband’s private guard. She was in a strong position at 
the court. Yet, Castinus rebuked her by refusing to cooperate with Boniface 
to protect the Western Roman Empire.

Honorius had a minor victory at this time, although it happened by 
chance. His campaign against the Vandals in Spain had forced the Roman 
usurper Maximus to flee the region. Imperial forces captured him.13 Galla 
Placidia’s enemies used the occasion to spread additional rumors about her 
loyalty to the West. Riots again erupted in Ravenna between her support-
ers and her foes: some of her Visigoth followers even fought Romans in the 
streets. Honorius became paranoid: he believed his half-sister and her bar-
barian allies were poised to take over the Western Roman Empire. Conse-
quently, he stripped her of the title Augusta and expelled her from Ravenna.14 
She and her two children were homeless.

A Homeless Empress

Galla Placidia and her guard of Visigoths, and likely some Germans in 
her household, along with her servants, carried what possessions they could 
and, in the spring of 423 ce, left Ravenna.15 She decided to seek refuge in 
Constantinople where she still owned the estates her father had given to her 
as a child. The problem was that she was now a private citizen expelled by the 
Western Roman Emperor as a potential traitor. Therefore, she was certain her 
relations in the Eastern Roman Empire would give her sanctuary.

Galla Placidia decided to head south to Rome before she sought ref-
uge in Constantinople.16 The city had changed greatly since the Visigoths 
had captured her there. A Gallic nobleman named Rutilius Claudius Nama-
tianus wrote a poem about his return to the city after Alaric had sacked it. He 
was surprised the government had rebuilt many of its public buildings and 
churches and removed all traces of its destruction.17 Despite his optimistic 
account of the Western Roman Empire’s ability to recover from Alaric’s dep-
redations, the number of poor citizens on the government dole in the city 
shows otherwise. It had declined from 200,000 to 120,000. Many had died 
or fled. Alaric’s destruction had robbed the city of much of its lower class, its 
talent, and its ethnic diversity as well. It was never the same.18

Galla Placidia’s friends and colleagues, even those in the Senate who had 
sought her permission to execute Serena, were afraid to help her. Boniface 
remained her sole supporter; unfortunately, he was in Africa. It is uncertain 
how long she stayed in Rome. While there, she wrote to Boniface asking for 
his assistance and waited for his response. He sent her money and began to 
work for her restoration as empress.19 His ability to cut off Rome’s grain sup-
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ply made him a formidable ally in her struggle against Honorius. Now con-
fident she and her children were safe, she departed Italy for Constantinople. 
Because of the potential threat Boniface posed to his kingdom, Honorius had 
no option but to allow Galla Placidia and her family to leave Italy unharmed.

An Unwelcome Guest

Galla Placidia returned to Constantinople for the first time in nearly 
thirty years. The city had changed greatly since her youth. The Eastern Roman 
Emperor Theodosius II had built its great walls in response to Alaric’s siege of 
Rome (they are still there). This massive defensive structure is four and a half 
miles in length (over seven kilometers), fourteen feet thick (over four me-
ters), thirty-five feet high (nearly eleven meters), with ninety-six towers and 
double walls. It kept all attackers at bay until 1453 ce when Turkish cannon 
blasted a hole through them. Later renamed Istanbul, it has been a Muslim 
city since that time. Fortunately, the technological limitations of Galla Placid-
ia’s time made it impossible for any barbarians to breach its defenses. The sea 
was its only vulnerable location. Theodosius II realized this and increased the 
size of the imperial fleet. He also fortified the harbor to prevent approaching 
Huns from doing to Constantinople what Alaric had done to Rome. He did 
not want to end up a prisoner like Galla Placidia had.20

When Galla Placidia arrived in Constantinople, she found that the 
women of the imperial family held prominent positions in the royal court. 
Theodosius II had promoted his sister, Pulcheria, and his wife, Aelia Eudocia, 
to the rank of Augusta. Pulcheria had played a major role in selecting his 
spouse, Aelia Eudocia. She was a perfect wife for the twenty-year-old em-
peror when they wed in 421 ce; she was highly educated and knew much 
of Homer and the Odes of the Greek lyric poet Pindar by heart.21 Despite 
her prodigious learning, many questioned her fitness to marry the emperor 
because her father was an esteemed pagan philosopher from Athens. Never-
theless, she consented to baptism to wed Theodosius II. Eudocia became a 
devout Christian and took the name Athenaïs. One year after her marriage 
when she gave birth to a daughter named Licinia Eudoxia, Theodosius II gave 
the child the title Augusta. This meant all the women of the eastern court, 
baby included, outranked Galla Placidia.22

Soon after she had arrived in Constantinople, Galla Placidia discovered 
that Pulcheria was the actual ruler of the Eastern Roman Empire. Theodo-
sius II had taken power there fifteen years earlier when he was only seven 
years old. When he celebrated his thirteen birthday, Pulcheria, then fifteen, 
proclaimed herself his regent and became known as the “emperor’s guard-
ian.” She oversaw his education; made him study the military arts, including 
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swordsmanship, and court etiquette. He did nothing without consulting her. 
Because of her authority, Galla Placidia realized she had to win over Pul-
cheria if she wanted to place her son on the Western throne. Despite their 
differences, she found that her eastern relations shared her devotion to the 
Christian faith. She decided to use religion to gain influence at the court.

Pulcheria earlier had forced her younger sisters, Arcadia and Marina, 
to take vows of virginity. They worshipped together daily and fasted every 
Wednesday and Friday. Under the spell of these influential women, Theodo-
sius II became a devout Christian. Later, in 421–22 ce, he started a war with 
the Sassanid Empire of Mesopotamia when its ruler persecuted its Christian 
minority.23 Realizing the importance that Christianity played at the court 
of Constantinople, Galla Placidia decided to join Pulcheria and her sisters 
in their prayers. As she had done in Ravenna, she spent lavishly to support 
churches in Constantinople.24 Through her acts of piety, Pulcheria began to 
trust Galla Placidia. Nevertheless, Theodosius II still refused to back her son’s 
claim as the successor to the throne of the Western Roman Empire.

Theodosius II decided to take advantage of Galla Placidia’s misfortune 
by making an alliance with Castinus. He did this to prevent her from regain-
ing her former position in the Western Roman Empire. Boniface reacted by 
preventing a few grain ships from sailing to Italy as a warning to Theodosius 
II. Because commercial trade in the Mediterranean provided much of the lu-
crative revenues of the Eastern Roman Empire, Boniface could cripple Con-
stantinople’s economy if he wished.25 This forced Theodosius II to treat Galla 
Placidia well. Nevertheless, although she was now safe, it was inevitable that 
the power struggle between Castinus and Boniface would lead to civil war. 
Then an unexpected event took place that united the Eastern and the Western 
Roman Empires and brought her to power.

The End of an Age

Everything changed for the entire Roman Empire when, on August 27, 
423 ce, the thirty-eight-year-old Honorius died of dropsy. Few of his con-
temporaries mourned his passing. Historians regard his rule as one of the 
most disgraceful periods in Roman history.26 The army had lost at least half 
to two-thirds of its men in various military disasters, leaving the Western 
Roman Empire with insufficient resources to protect itself from barbarian 
threats or civil war.

Theodosius II was in the southern Turkish town of Pisidia when Hon-
orius expired. Pulcheria proclaimed him the ruler of the Western Roman 
Empire. While Honorius’s court buried him in the family’s mausoleum in 
St. Peter’s Basilica, Theodosius II took clandestine steps to take control of 
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Europe. He moved troops to Dalmatia to prepare for an invasion of Italy. For 
several months he was the sole ruler: the last time in history that a single per-
son governed both halves of the Roman Empire. Unfortunately, the Western 
Roman Empire rejected his claim that he was its monarch.27 Consequently, 
Theodosius II knew he had to take Honorius’s kingdom by force. Unfortu-
nately, he was not alone.

Several prominent individuals in the Western Roman Empire had taken 
advantage of Honorius’s death, and the absence of Galla Placidia and her 
son, to position themselves to take power in the Western Roman Empire. 
Castinus was among the most important of these ambitious office seekers. He 
had assumed her late husband’s former position of supreme commander of 
the army (magister utrisque militiae), which gave him control of the infantry 
and cavalry necessary to rule the West. Although his rival Boniface was the 
military tribune in Africa and commander of the troops stationed there, he 
could not help Galla Placidia take control of Italy.28 Because Castinus was in 
Europe, and in command of the military, Theodosius II appointed him consul 
for the year 424 ce. For now, Castinus governed the Western Roman Empire 
on behalf of Theodosius II. Galla Placidia was furious.

Theodosius II’s appointment of Castinus as consul was a public renunci-
ation of Valentinian III’s claim to the throne. He had promoted the powerful 
general to avert civil war, and to keep Galla Placidia’s son from assuming 
power. Nevertheless, Theodosius II had failed to consider the problems her 
supporter Boniface in North Africa could cause. With his military force of 
Romans and auxiliaries from the local populations under his command, Bon-
iface controlled the Western Roman Empire’s grain supply and much of the 
Eastern Roman Empire’s commerce. Theodosius III thought the combined 
armies of the Western and Eastern Roman Empires would stop Boniface 
from threatening him. Then, Castinus changed everything when he placed 
a civil servant named John (Johannes) on the Western throne and threat-
ened the Eastern Roman Empire. Only Galla Placidia was willing to fight the 
usurper and kill him.
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Warrior Queen

In 425 ce, Galla Placidia went to war. Her two children accompanied 
her. Theodosius II, the ruler of the Eastern Roman Empire, stayed at home. 
Galla Placidia was thirty or thirty-one years old when she joined the east-
ern army to fight the usurper John. She planned to assassinate him and take 
control of the Western Roman Empire as its monarch. Even Theodosius II 
supported her quest to become the first female appointed by men to rule any 
part of the Roman Empire.

Consolidating Power

Galla Placidia’s unexpected rise to power occurred because Theodosius 
II had failed to realize the considerable opposition to him in the Western 
Roman Empire. In 432 ce, the Senate in Rome proclaimed a civil servant 
named John the new emperor to replace the recently deceased Honorius.1 
Castinus was behind this shocking move. The extant accounts imply he did 
this because Theodosius II had vacillated in making any important politi-
cal appointments in the Western Roman Empire. Castinus thought placing a 
usurper on the throne would allow him to control the West’s military and po-
litical institutions. The Senate acquiesced to his plan and accepted his choice 
of John as the new emperor. They did so because they too did not want an 
eastern monarch governing them.

Castinus and the Senate had underestimated Galla Placidia. They 
never imagined she would lead an army against the Western Roman Em-
pire to seize power. Theodosius II had no choice in the matter. When he 
heard that Castinus and the Senate had proclaimed John the new emperor, 
he feared the Western Roman Empire’s vast army, which included sizable 
barbarian contingents, would attack Constantinople. With no one in the 
West to turn to for help, Theodosius II decided that only Galla Placidia 
could save him and the Eastern Roman Empire. He was willing to let her 
govern half the Roman Empire alone in exchange for her political support. 
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First, he had to mend their relationship before he could ask her to risk her 
life to remove his rival.

Theodosius II took several public actions to honor Galla Placidia. He 
posthumously recognized her late husband as an Augustus. This act was sig-
nificant because it restored the royal titles Honorius had taken from her and 
her son: she was once again an Augusta and Valentinian III a nobilissimus 
(“most noble”). Theodosius II also struck coins in her honor bearing her 
name, Aeila Placidia Augusta, to show his support for her rule in the West. 
Now that she had regained her imperial rank, Galla Placidia could once again 
wear a jeweled crown, a purple robe of royalty, and a pearl diadem. She was 
no longer an ordinary citizen: prominent citizens had to humble themselves 
before her. Men had good reason to fear her because of what Theodosius II 
did next for her son.

On October 23, 424 A.D., Theodosius II promoted the five-year-old Val-
entinian III to the rank of Caesar.2 This title, named in honor of Julius Caesar, 
traditionally designated the successor to the throne. Although it had fallen 
into abeyance, Theodosius II decided to revive it for the occasion. Many were 
astonished he did this rather than give Galla Placidia’s son the expected rank 
of Augustus. By reinstating this obsolete title, Theodosius II was appointing 
Galla Placidia as the actual ruler of the Western Roman Empire until her 
son came of age.3 The famed historian Edward Gibbon commented that this 
unprecedented arrangement made Galla Placidia, Pulcheria, and Eudoxia the 
three women who governed the Roman world.4 Unfortunately, Galla Placidia 
would have to fight to obtain her kingdom because Theodosius II had no 
intention of taking up arms to help her.

Theodosius II had nothing to lose in backing Galla Placidia as Hon-
orius’s successor. If Valentinian III died in the forthcoming war against 
John, Theodosius II, as the eastern monarch, would inherit the western 
throne. Yet, Galla Placidia turned out to be as shrewd a politician as Theo-
dosius II was. She apparently feared he would not keep his word and pos-
sibly try to undermine her or her son. To secure her dynasty’s future, she 
proposed that when Valentinian III came of age he wed his half-second 
cousin, Theodosius II’s daughter, Eudoxia.5 Although this union would 
make Eudoxia an Augusta of the Western Roman Empire, Theodosius II 
realized that Galla Placidia would dominate Eudoxia as she did her son. 
It would also give Galla Placidia and Valentinian III more power because 
the marriage would force Theodosius II to protect the Western Roman 
Empire for his daughter’s sake.

Theodosius II consented to Galla Placidia’s proposal. Nevertheless, he 
had one condition. He demanded she give him the long-contested region of 
Illyricum, which included much of the Balkans and Greece.6 She accepted this 
request, although the loss of this land would significantly reduce the Western 
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Roman Empire’s size. Nevertheless, Theodosius II offered to delay the transfer 
of this territory until her son had married his daughter. As a further measure 
to ratify their alliance, Theodosius II, at the end of 424 ce, named Valentinian 
III Caesar his colleague and fellow consul. When John heard the news, he re-
taliated by appointing himself consul for 425 ce.7 It was a public declaration 
of war against Galla Placidia, her son, and the Eastern Roman Empire.

John, an Honest Usurper?

John was an excellent monarch during the eighteen months (423–425 ce) 
he ruled as the Western Roman emperor.8 He was remarkably open-minded; 
he tolerated all forms of Christianity. To fight clerical abuse, he placed the 
clergy under the jurisdiction of secular tribunals instead of their bishops. 
This made senior priests subject to the same laws as ordinary citizens.9 Nev-
ertheless, we should be skeptical of these and other favorable descriptions of 
John’s brief reign because men wrote them.

The ancient chroniclers of the Roman Empire were reluctant to docu-
ment the achievements of women who violated traditional gender distinc-
tions.10 In an age when men considered women unqualified to hold military 
or civil office, she became the actual sovereign of the Western Roman Em-
pire. Galla Placidia commanded the army, executed her opponents, made 
and implemented laws, and determined the royal succession. Although the 
ancient sources and modern scholars do not emphasize her military activ-
ities, she was a warrior queen who chose and demoted the generals who 
fought her battles. These are unprecedented deeds for a woman in any pe-
riod of history.

John faced many problems during his short reign. An uprising of sol-
diers at Arles, and a Visigoth attack on the city in 425 ce, greatly weakened 
him. It is plausible that the latter incident occurred at the request of Galla Pla-
cidia; many barbarian tribes were still loyal to her.11 Boniface was her greatest 
supporter. He blocked the grain shipments from Africa destined for the city 
of Rome to convince its citizens to oppose John.12

Despite his considerable administrative skills, John was a poor military 
strategist. He sent the German general Sigisvult to North Africa to destroy 
Boniface’s army. This left his territory with too few troops. Then, Theodosius 
II rebuffed the embassy John sent to Constantinople hoping for some recon-
ciliation and recognition of his status in the West. John realized that war was 
imminent; he feared the force Galla Placidia was amassing, He looked to the 
barbarians for help. John accomplished this by turning to one of the most 
powerful men in Roman history for help—Flavius Aetius.
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Rival Generals

Flavius Aetius is among the most remarkable personalities of the ancient 
world. Of mixed Scythian and Italian heritage, he was so prominent among 
the Roman aristocracy that Alaric had asked the Romans to send him to the 
Visigoths as a hostage. This request took place when the Visigoths made a 
peace treaty with Stilicho, six years before Alaric sacked Rome. Approxi-
mately four years later, the Romans sent Aetius as a captive to the Hunnic 
king Uldin. His experiences living among two of the largest and most power-
ful barbarian tribes had so toughened him that few soldiers could match his 
endurance or talents.

Aetius was an expert equestrian, a skilled archer, proficient with the 
lance, and able to tolerate hunger and thirst for lengthy periods with little 
sleep. He became famous for rushing towards the enemy during battle to en-
courage his men to fight. Married twice, his second wife was Gothic royalty. 
The two had a son named Gaudentius. Aetius’s many alliances with barbar-
ian tribes made him indispensable for any western ruler.13 Unfortunately for 
Galla Placidia, he supported John. Even worse, he was friendly with the Huns.

Because John had considerably fewer military resources than Theodosius II 
at this time, he sent Aetius to the Huns to ask for their assistance in fighting Galla 
Placidia’s forces. John gave him a considerable sum of gold to convince them to 
support him. They agreed. The plan was for the Huns to attack Galla Placidia’s 
forces from the rear while John’s imperial troops mounted a frontal assault. With 
the greatest Roman soldier now in his employ, John had a good chance of defeat-
ing the eastern army preparing to march towards Italy to kill him.

Theodosius II and Galla Placidia had a man in charge of their army who 
shared many of Aetius’s talents. His name was Aspar; he was Master of the Sol-
diers in the Eastern Roman Empire. Of Alan and Gothic descent, his father, 
Ardaburius, had served as a legionnaire in her father Theodosius the Great’s 
forces. Aspar had a lengthy record of service in the eastern court. He later be-
came an important figure after the fall of the Roman Empire when he served as 
tutor to the Gothic ruler Theodoric the Great.14 John and Aetius knew he was a 
formidable opponent. Yet, despite his renown, Aspar was in a unique position 
for a Roman general. Although he was the military leader of the invasion force 
to eliminate John, a woman and her young son outranked him. Nevertheless, 
he was willing to risk his life to put Galla Placidia on the Western throne.

Galla Placidia: The Warrior Empress
Galla Placidia and her children likely rode in a large four-wheeled coach, 

which was the customary means of transport for dignitaries, when they ac-
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companied Aspar and the imperial forces on their campaign to kill John. A 
remarkable map known as the Tabula Peutingeriana helps us to reconstruct 
the most probable route she and the eastern army traveled to reach Italy. It 
is the sole surviving Roman roadmap. Produced in the first century bce and 
updated in the third or early fifth century ce, it depicts all major roads, signif-
icant cities, and geographical landmarks of Galla Placidia’s time.15

Galla Placidia’s army likely travelled for sixty days to cover the nearly 
1,129 miles (c.a. 1,818 kilometers) from Constantinople to reach Ravenna.16 
Somewhere along the way, she divided her force into land and naval units. 
Aspar and the cavalry planned to attack the eastern Italian city of Aquileia. 
His father, Ardaburius, and the infantry embarked on waiting ships to launch 
a surprise assault against Ravenna, where John had established his headquar-
ters. Galla Placidia and her children accompanied Ardaburius. They did so 
because this was the safest means of transport since John’s forces would likely 
set up an ambush on the road. Unfortunately, it turned out to be the most 
dangerous option.

Aspar reached Aquileia before its occupants had time to establish any de-
fenses. He captured it without a fight. The fleet was not as fortunate. A storm 
destroyed many of Ardaburius’s transports. This was the occasion when Galla 
Placidia prayed to Saint John the Evangelist for help.17 She had begged him for 
assistance because he had helped her father defeat the usurper Eugenius in 
394 ce. A storm smashed the armada on the Dalmatian coast; it was the third 
time she had survived a shipwreck. John’s men were on the beach waiting to 
kill or capture Galla Placidia and the survivors. They took and imprisoned 
Ardaburius and many of his men. Galla Placidia, her family, and a few others 
somehow managed to escape. They eluded John’s forces and reached Aspar 
in Aquileia.

John’s soldiers took Ardaburius to Ravenna because they thought its 
well-built defensive walls and impenetrable swamps would protect them from 
Galla Placidia’s army. They apparently planned to hold him there as a hostage 
to exchange for concessions. But they were unaware that she had many loyal 
followers inside the city. One of her anonymous partisans smuggled a mes-
sage to Aspar listing the best places to attack. A shepherd guided his soldiers 
through the marshes. Aspar claimed the man was an angel; he was likely a 
traitor who had offered to help Galla Placidia in exchange for considerable 
financial remuneration. Once Aspar’s men reached Ravenna’s walls, some of 
John’s soldiers opened its gates to Galla Placidia’s invading force.

Aspar captured Ravenna after a brief scuffle. Defectors handed over 
John to Galla Placidia’s troops, thereby ending his short reign. Unfortunately, 
the victorious army began to loot the city. Although it is uncertain whether 
Ardaburius or Aspar tried to stop them, it is probable that the eastern gener-
als did not care about a western city they had risked their lives to save for a 
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woman. Castinus fled during the confusion. He disappears from the histori-
cal record.18

Theodosius II received the news of John’s defeat in the safe confines of 
Constantinople. He celebrated it with a church service and games in the Hip-
podrome. Because she had overseen the military campaign, this gave Galla 
Placidia the sole right to determine John’s fate. She placed him on an ass, 
paraded him through the city’s chariot stadium, and had professional actors 
mock and beat him. As the highlight of the celebration, she ordered him and 
many of his supporters decapitated.19

Aetius soon afterwards arrived at Ravenna with an army of nearly sixty 
thousand Hunnic mercenaries. Apparently unaware of John’s recent death, he 
immediately attacked Aspar’s units. Both sides lost a considerable number of 
men in the battle. Once Aetius realized he had no patron, he threatened to 
unleash his Huns against the Western Roman Empire unless Galla Placidia 
granted him and his men amnesty. She agreed since she needed Aetius and his 
military force of skilled Roman and Hunnic warriors to defend her kingdom.

According to ancient Roman custom, victorious generals received the 
title Imperator (“Commander”) on the field of battle. Although Galla Placidia’s 
nearly six-year-old son, Valentinian III, was technically the highest-ranking 
male on the expedition that had defeated John, he did not deserve any hon-
ors. His mother had been in charge and had nearly perished during the cam-
paign; consequently, she had determined John’s fate. Yet, a female could not 
receive a military tribute. For that reason, the army proclaimed the young 
Valentinian III Valentinian Caesar Imperator Augustus to celebrate her vic-
tory over John’s forces.20 His new title technically gave him the right to rule 
alone. Yet, everyone knew his mother was the actual monarch of the Western 
Roman Empire. Nevertheless, it was an important honor since it guaranteed 
that he would succeed her.

Although Galla Placidia had fought John to attain power, she realized 
she needed to thank Theodosius II for his assistance. She minted coins at 
Aquileia depicting Valentinian III Caesar, alongside Theodosius II Augustus. 
Other coins with her portrait alone contain her title Augusta and the name 
Galla Placidia on them instead of the preferred Eastern form, Aelia Placidia. 
She then closed the mint and transferred its dies to Rome to manufacture 
these coins there.21 This act was significant since the minting of currency was 
a sign of a legitimate ruler: her coins were legal tender throughout the entire 
Roman Empire.

Before she left Aquileia for Ravenna, Galla Placidia, on July 9, 425 
ce, punished the church for supporting John. She revoked the laws grant-
ing bishops broad judicial powers in the territories under their jurisdiction. 
This nullified the actions some clergy had taken during John’s reign.22 It also 
demonstrated to the clerics that she was above them; it was an implicit threat 
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that they should never again back a usurper seeking to replace her family or 
disagree with the woman who had played an instrumental role in selecting 
the pope. Lest any of the bishops disagree with her rulings, she issued these 
laws in the names of her son and Theodosius II making them officially bind-
ing upon all Romans.

After Galla Placidia and her retinue had reached Ravenna, she removed 
John’s partisans from their positions. She then traveled to Rome with Val-
entinian II for the traditional triumphal procession to celebrate an emperor’s 
military victory, which would have included a humiliating parade of bound 
captives for the crowd to mock and abuse.23 They likely rode in Honori-
us’s golden chariot that had once belonged to her father. Theodosius II had 
planned to attend but fell ill at Salonica; he returned to Constantinople for 
medical treatment. He promoted Helion, the Master of the Offices, to the 
rank of Patrician to preside over the ceremony in his place.

On October 23, 425 ce, Helion placed the royal diadem on the head of 
Galla Placidia’s six-year-old son, making him the Western monarch. Coins 
minted to celebrate the occasion depict the victory of the two rulers over the 
tyrant John. Galla Placidia gave her daughter, Justa Grata Honoria, the title 
of Augusta. She also issued coins to honor Honoria that depict her wearing a 
royal crown.24 Having successfully fought for the throne, Galla Placidia now 
had to save the Western Roman Empire from its approaching end.
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Ruler of the Romans

For twelve years, from 425 to 437 ce, Galla Placidia was the successor 
of Augustus, Constantine the Great, and her father, Theodosius the Great. 
Recognized as the actual ruler of the Western Roman Empire, she held this 
unprecedented position until her son, Valentinian III, turned eighteen, on 
July 2, 437 ce. Then, for the next thirteen years until her death, she guided 
him and helped him govern the Western Roman Empire. This was the age of 
women.

Female Piety and Rule

While Galla Placidia led the Western Roman Empire, Pulcheria pre-
sided over the Eastern Roman Empire. Both were descendants of Theodosius 
the Great. Having raised her brother, Theodosius II, Pulcheria governed his 
realm until he came of age. Once in power, Theodosius II merely affixed his 
signature to her documents. According to one story, she once mockingly gave 
him a contract making his wife, Eudoxia, her slave. When Theodosius signed 
it without reading it, Pulcheria rebuked him for his lack of attention to his 
job.1 Many men were jealous of her power. The most prominent was the Arch-
bishop of Constantinople, the famed John Chrysostom. Known for his ora-
torical skills and his denunciations of women and sin (he saw little difference 
between them), John vehemently denounced her from his pulpit. Pulcheria 
retaliated by deposing him. After his death, she ironically turned his remains 
into relics for the church to display, making him a saint.2

Pulcheria’s subjects almost considered her a living saint because she had 
taken a vow of perpetual virginity.3 At her urging, her brother had sent much 
of his wealth to Jerusalem to support the churches there. The money had fi-
nanced the placement of a gold cross atop Golgotha, the site of Jesus’ crucifix-
ion. Jerusalem’s archbishop had been so thankful for the gift that he had sent 
Pulcheria the right arm of the first Christian martyr in the New Testament, 
Saint Stephen.4 When his bones arrived, Pulcheria had a vision in which the 
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saint acknowledged that God had answered her prayers. An unusual ivory 
box made to commemorate the event, now in the treasury of the Trier Cathe-
dral in Germany, depicts only her receiving the holy relics with outstretched 
arms while holding a cross. Its design was intended to show that Saint Stephen 
had blessed her alone.5 Many Romans attributed the Eastern army’s later 421 
ce military victory over the Persians to Pulcheria’s piety. When Theodosius 
II minted coins to commemorate the twentieth anniversary of his elevation, 
he included portraits of Honorius and Pulcheria on them.6 This left no doubt 
to all that a woman governed the Eastern Roman Empire. Galla Placidia was 
her counterpart in the Western Roman Empire; however, she exerted more 
power than her relations in Constantinople did because she ruled Europe and 
North Africa alone.

A Tarnished Reputation

Ancient and modern historians have underestimated Galla Placidia’s 
political and military impact in the Western Roman Empire during the 
twelve years (425–437 ce) she governed it as regent for her son. The Roman 
historian and Galla Placidia’s modern biographer Stewart Irvin Oost, for 
example, writes, “one can hardly hold that she decisively altered, or affected, 
the fate of the Roman state or society.” He believes Aetius largely deserves 
the credit for her successes.7 Edward Gibbon, in his epic Decline and Fall of 
the Roman Empire, claims she was jealous that Valentinian III held impe-
rial power. He opined that “the character of that unworthy emperor grad-
ually countenanced the suspicion that (Galla) Placidia had enervated his 
youth by a dissolute education and studiously diverted his attention from 
every manly and honorable pursuit.”8 Procopius similarly blamed her for 
instructing her son in an “effeminate manner” that filled him with “wicked-
ness from childhood.”9 The renowned historian of the Late Roman Empire, 
J.B. Bury, recounted her reign in a section of his book he titled, “Beginnings 
of the Dismemberment of the Empire.” He attributed her few accomplish-
ments to her beauty.10 Cassiodorus even claimed the Roman Empire had 
fallen because of Galla Placidia’s inept policies and her weakening of its 
military.11

Not everyone had a negative assessment of Galla Placidia’s reign in an-
tiquity. The anonymous compiler of the Gallic Chronicle described her con-
duct as “irreproachable.”12 Cassiodorus even emphasized that she was greatly 
concerned for her son’s welfare, which is a remarkable statement from a man 
who did not like her.13 Ravenna’s bishop, Peter Chrysologus, extolled her piety 
and regarded her as the mother of the Western Roman Empire.14 She had 
earned the respect of many other prominent Christians—including men the 
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Church still considers saints—and accompanied troops in battle to take pos-
session of the Western Roman Empire. As regent for her son, she ruled as em-
peror, fought off numerous threats, preserved the Western Roman Empire, 
and faced many internal dangers as well. These are all major achievements 
for a man of the time; they are unprecedented for a woman and demonstrate 
that Galla Placidia made major contributions to the history of Western civili-
zation. And she also had played a major role in the selection of a pope.

Those who judge Galla Placidia harshly fail to consider the political con-
ditions the late Roman Empire. Oost states that she failed partly because she 
was a woman: she could not command the armies of the West in person.15 A 
recent feminist biography of her emphasizes that she reflected the paradoxes 
of femininity: she had the theoretical right to appoint men at will but was 
subject to the authority of the generals who commanded her army.16 Yet, she, 
and not Theodosius II, fought John for the throne. Those who have blamed 
her for the decline and fall of the Western Roman Empire failed to recognize 
that it would have ended no matter who governed it. Yet, it did not collapse 
during her lifetime.

An Empire in Decline

A remarkable book provides some insight concerning the insurmount-
able problems Galla Placidia faced when she became de facto ruler of the 
Western Roman Empire. Known as the Notitia dignitatum (“List of Posi-
tions”), it is the official register of the Roman civil and military units.17 Her 

Depiction of Roman soldiers from the Column of Trajan, Rome (113 C.E.). This 
relief shows soldiers engaged in various camp activities with their commander 
standing to the right (Free-Images.com).
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father had ordered this inventory just before his death to help Honorius and 
Arcadius rule.

The most valuable section of the Notitia Dignitatum is the chapter titled 
Distributio Numerorum (“Distribution of the Army Units”), which records 
the locations of the Roman army divisions. A comparison of this document 
with other texts from the period reveals that almost fifty percent of the West-
ern Roman Empire’s army had disappeared between the time Galla Placidia 
celebrated her seventh and thirty-second birthdays, from approximately 395 
to 420 ce. This was largely because of the numerous campaigns against the 
barbarians, especially the Visigoths.18 Nevertheless, battle casualties alone 
cannot account for this decline. Rather, desertion, the possible disbanding 
of rebellious military units, and the loss of tax revenues had decimated the 
military.19 Few Romans wanted to serve in the army and the state could no 
longer pay those who did.

Despite the many problems she faced in defending the Western Roman 
Empire, Galla Placidia inherited a military of substantial size. The Notitia 
Dignitatum shows that the Western Roman Empire’s army during its final de-
cades of existence was immense. It consisted of almost a half a million troops. 
Nearly seventy thousand legionnaires served in units of skirmishers and cav-
alry, which constituted the West’s rapid reaction force. They could move any-
where to deal with trouble: they were the special forces of their time. There 
were also elite divisions trained in river warfare, intelligence, and archery. Yet, 
the army’s size did not make the Romans feel safe.

The irony of Galla Placidia’s time was that the much smaller Roman army 
of the past was more effective in dealing with internal and external threats. 
Her generals had to use fewer men to confront the barbarian threats than 
their predecessors had. This was because the Western Roman Empire had 
adopted a new military strategy in the deployment of its vast forces: it had 
largely abandoned the frontiers to protect the major population centers in its 
interior. Consequently, when invasions occurred along the Western Roman 
Empire’s borders, the Roman army was unable to gather all the soldiers it 
needed in time. Yet, when they arrived, the imperial forces often proved of 
little value.

Warfare in the Late Roman Empire had undergone a dramatic change 
since the death of Galla Placidia’s father. Generals preferred blockades and 
sieges in lieu of direct combat; they were afraid of losing men in battle with 
the barbarians. Aetius had to stretch his limited resources to keep order in the 
Western Roman Empire since threats were everywhere. Countless insurrec-
tions, invasions, and past civil wars had devastated much of Gaul. Portions of 
it were now self-governing and ruled by aristocrats. These officials were re-
luctant to part with their wealth to replenish the rapidly diminishing imperial 
coffers.20 Despite these problems, the most skeptical observer must conclude 
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that the Western Roman Empire did quite well during Galla Placidia’s tenure. 
She saved it by putting together a formidable team of rivals who hated one 
another.21

A Team of Rivals

Galla Placidia placed three strong-willed generals in charge of her mili-
tary: Aetius, Boniface, and Felix. The historian Procopius called Boniface and 
Aetius the “last of the Romans.”22 He gave them this title to reflect the passing 
of an age because he believed they personified the values that had created and 
preserved the Roman Empire but were now lost: strength, honor, and loyalty. 
Galla Placidia needed these two powerful men to retain power. Yet, she real-
ized they despised one another. She trusted Boniface to keep Africa calm and 
come to her aid if needed while Aetius and his barbarian allies helped her 
protect Europe. Both men quickly demonstrated they were highly qualified 
for their jobs. Unfortunately, we cannot say the same of Felix.

We know little about Felix. His full name was Flavius Constantius Felix; 
his wife, Padusia, was Galla Placidia’s friend. The lack of any references to him 
leading campaigns suggests that he was a politician and not a career soldier. 
Nevertheless, she placed him in charge of Italy’s defenses.23 We are uncertain 
why.

Felix quickly became a problem for Galla Placidia. In 425 ce, a man 
named Barnabus hacked to death Patroclus, the Bishop of Arles. Patroclus 
was one of her favorite ecclesiastical officials. Many Romans believed Felix 
had orchestrated the murder. He also purportedly had a deacon of Rome 
named Titus assassinated. None of the extant accounts explain Felix’s obses-
sion with murdering clerics. His behavior is surprising since he was suppos-
edly pious; he and his wife had donated a mosaic to the Lateran Basilica in 
Rome. Galla Placidia was willing to overlook his crimes because he somehow 
had managed to convince the Huns to leave Pannonia, located in portions of 
modern Hungary and adjacent countries

The Romans living in areas threatened by the Huns regarded Felix as 
their savor. Others thought he had accomplished this diplomatic feat only 
to increase his power. He appears to have made concessions with the Huns 
largely to undermine their longstanding relationship with Aetius and not to 
protect Galla Placidia and the Western Roman Empire.24 Whether Galla Pla-
cidia felt compelled to leave Felix in office out of fear or necessity is unknown. 
There was no doubt he wanted to usurp Aetius’s position. The problem for 
Galla Placidia was that Felix was unwilling to risk his life for the Western 
Roman Empire, or her.

Unlike Felix, Aetius had demonstrated his courage on many occasions. 
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Galla Placidia greatly ad-
mired his military abili-
ties and his respect for the 
barbarians.25 Neverthe-
less, despite his friendship 
with many Gothic and 
Hunnic leaders, Aetius 
was ready to fight any bar-
barian tribe that threat-
ened the Western Roman 
Empire. He had saved the 
city of Arles from a siege 
by the Visigoth king The-
odoric I. Aetius also had 
recovered territory along 
the Rhine from the Salian 
Franks. As his victories 
increased, so did his fame. 
Although Galla Placidia 
did not completely trust 
him since he had fought 
for the usurper John 
against her, she had no 
choice but to appoint him 
Master of the Soldiers in 
Gaul because of his con-
tinued military successes. 
She also felt she could use 
him to weaken Felix.26 
Unfortunately, Aetius did 
completely respect her 
because she was a woman.

Galla Placidia sent 
Aetius on important mis-
sion to Spain to make 
peace with the Sueves. 

The bishops there tried to take advantage of the situation to broker their own 
treaty. They asked Aetius to protect them during the negotiations; he agreed 
to do so. This was a major violation of protocol since Aetius and the bishops 
had not consulted her or her son in advance.27 Aetius clearly knew royal eti-
quette and intended to insult her. Nevertheless, Galla Placidia chose to over-
look his deliberate diplomatic insult.

Felix, Galla Placidia’s Consul (428 C.E.) and 
magister utriusque militae in Italy (425–429 C.E.) 
(Clio20/Free-Images.com).
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Galla Placidia’s toleration of Aetius’s insolent behavior was not a sign of 
weakness. Rather, it was simply a matter of realpolitik. His friendship with 
several barbarian tribes gave him much political power.28 Because Theodo-
sius II was paying the Huns to stay away from Constantinople and its ter-
ritories, it was doubtful he would help the West if they invaded Italy. If she 
deposed or assassinated Aetius, his Hunnic friends would likely attack her 
kingdom in retaliation. Aetius was the perfect person to help her preserve 
the territorial integrity of the Western Roman Empire. Nevertheless, she was 
angry with him for not getting along with Boniface.

Boniface was a skilled warrior who had successfully repelled hordes of 
barbarians. Sometimes he fought them with large armies; many times, he at-
tacked them with a few men; on one occasion, he had fought them in single 
combat. In addition to his military prowess, he had a reputation for treating 
all citizens fairly. Once, a peasant had complained to him that a barbarian 
ally was having an affair with his wife. Boniface followed the woman the next 
day, verified the charge was true, cut off the lover’s head, and gave it to her 
husband.29 This is how good men applied justice and demonstrated virtue in 
Galla Placidia’s day.

Despite Boniface’s longstanding support for Galla Placidia, she was con-
cerned about his religious beliefs. He had married a former Arian Christian 
named Pelagia.30 Despite her purported embracement of orthodox Christian-
ity, the couple had an Arian priest baptize their daughter. This made Boniface 
a heretic in the eyes of many Christians. Because Arians rejected the belief in 
the Trinity (The Father, Son, and Holy Spirit) since they believed Jesus was a 
human, Boniface was technically not an Orthodox Christian and in defiance 
of the Pope’s teachings.31 Although she had played a major role in selecting 
the current pope, Galla Placidia’s association with Boniface and followers of 
Arius’s teachings, known as Arianism, undoubtedly made many Romans sus-
picious of her religious beliefs. Some of her subjects undoubtedly wondered 
whether she was a closet Arian. Even if not true, any suspicious that she har-
bored Arian sympathies had the potential to divide the Western Roman Em-
pire and start a religious civil war.

In addition to the threat the rivalry between Felix, Aetius, and Boniface 
caused for the stability of the Western Roman Empire, Galla Placidia had 
to contend with hostile senators who wanted to undermine her authority. 
Although this venerable institution had lost much of its influence after the 
creation of the Roman Empire during the late first century bce, it was still 
an influential body. Many of its members had supported the usurper John. 
She realized she could not punish them without starting a civil war. Conse-
quently, she had a document read in the Senate that reaffirmed its traditional 
authority. As an additional effort to appeal to its affluent members and other 
rich Romans, she issued several edicts on their behalf.
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Galla Placidia granted landowners the right to collect the taxes from 
their estates.32 This gave them the legal authority to obtain revenues through 
any means necessary. She also banned peasant farmers from volunteering for 
imperial service to escape their bondage; they were under the authority of 
their masters and officials, doomed to toil the land until death. Provincial 
governors could no longer impose compulsory service or force contributions 
from senators: everyone else was subject to their whims.33 Although she rec-
ognized the rights of the Senate as the chief lawmaking body, Galla Placidia 
also exercised her authority in the legislative sphere.

A Female Lawgiver

In November of 426 ce, Galla Placidia issued her most famous contri-
bution to legal jurisprudence. Roman law was so vast and complicated that 
corrupt judges could search for a prior flawed ruling to validate an unjust 
sentence. Galla Placidia created a hierarchy of precedents to bring a mea-
sure of equity to the legal system. Known as the “Law of Citations,” it was 
a remarkable achievement for its time.34 It decreed that if a magistrate was 
uncertain how to decide a case, and could not find any relevant past verdict, 
he had to follow the decision of the famed Roman jurist Papinian (142–212 
ce). If Papinian had failed to address the issue in question, then a judge could 
make his own ruling.35 Because courts were corrupt and legal studies were 
in decline, her reform brought equality to the judicial process for all citi-
zens.36 Her code also had the advantage of selecting the best jurist for judges 
to follow. One modern legal scholar remarked that it is reminiscent of the 
strict doctrine of precedent in modern English law, which requires a judge 
to follow the decision of a higher court regardless of the qualifications of its 
officials or their rulings.37

Galla Placidia also passed some laws that contain a mix of discrimina-
tory and liberal statutes. One, issued on April 7, 426 ce, penalized the wills 
and bequests of deceased apostates; it was intended to show her loyalty to 
orthodox Christianity. Yet, it is remarkably modern because it protected chil-
dren of Jewish and Samaritan converts to Christianity by allowing them to 
inherit estates.38 Through this legislation, she stopped devious relatives from 
stealing money and property from these vulnerable orphans. She also allowed 
mothers to inherit the possessions of their dead children.39

Galla Placidia’s contributions to western jurisprudence became import-
ant to all Romans when, in 429 ce, Theodosius II announced to the Senate 
of Constantinople that he planned to produce a new law code. He appointed 
twenty-two scholars to collect all imperial precedents issued since Constan-
tine the Great. They labored for nine years to produce a vast compendium of 
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over sixteen books containing more than 2,500 legal rulings. Known as the 
“Theodosian Code,” it was the first time since 449 bce that the Roman gov-
ernment had attempted to publish its laws.40 It became the official law code of 
the Eastern and the Western Roman Empires in 438 ce. Galla Placidia made 
a unique contribution to this project as much of her legislation, including her 
Law of Citations, was included in the final version of this legal anthology. All 
Romans had to obey her laws. Her greatest problem was now convincing gen-
erals to follow her commands for the benefit of the Western Roman Empire.

Dissension among the Generals

Galla Placidia was unable to ease tensions between Aetius, Felix, and 
Boniface. Felix was jealous of Aetius’s success at Arles; both were envious of 
Boniface’s close relationship with her. In 427 ce, Felix accused Boniface of 
disloyalty. Because she had nominated Felix that year as consul and to the 
rank of Patrician for the following year, he was technically Boniface’s superior. 
He took advantage of his position by ordering Boniface to return to Italy.41

We are uncertain why Galla Placidia had promoted Felix to such a high 
position when Boniface was the only general she trusted. Although Aetius 
had fought for the Empire, he also had waged war against her forces when he 
supported the usurper John. Yet, she needed both generals to help her retain 
power and preserve what was left of the Western Roman Empire. Boniface 
in North Africa was too far away to be of immediate concern: she had to 
continue favoring Felix and Aetius because they were in Italy with her. She 
certainly realized that at two of her generals would go to war against one 
another. This would force her to eliminate one of them. The sources indicate 
that she clearly favored Boniface in this struggle for power. He unfortunately 
undertook a course of action that left her no choice but to abandon him.

Felix’s order for Boniface to return to Italy also meant that he had to 
travel to Ravenna to give an accounting of his actions to Galla Placidia. Bon-
iface worried that once he left Africa, Felix would charge him with some 
fictitious crime. A guilty sentence for powerful officials customarily meant 
execution. He also likely feared Felix’s agents would murder him on the road 
to Ravenna before he could plead his case to Galla Placidia. Convinced he 
had to remain in Africa with his legions to stay alive, Boniface refused to obey 
Felix’s summons. He was now guilty of treason since he had defied an agent of 
the empress. Galla Placidia had to order Felix to punish him.

Felix sent three generals, Mavortius, Gallio, and Sanoeces, with troops to 
North Africa to fetch Boniface. They besieged him there in a fortress. What 
happened next is uncertain. It appears that Sanoeces betrayed his two col-
leagues and killed them; someone then murdered him. Boniface certainly 
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arranged the deaths of these men.42 He had the motivation, the opportunity, 
and clearly no other choice.

Galla Placidia sent additional troops to North Africa under the com-
mand of Count Sigisvult to investigate the murder of her three generals. He 
held the position of comes rei militaris, commander of a military unit or post. 
Although Sigisvult was likely a Visigoth, this was not what caused many to 
mistrust him. Earlier, he had fought alongside the usurper John against Bon-
iface. He and Boniface both had forces of Goths loyal to them; the Romans 
now fought their civil wars with large armies composed of sizable barbarian 
units.43 Despite his problematic past, Galla Placidia trusted him. She likely 
chose him because of his barbarian heritage. Although many questioned her 
decision to send him to Africa since he had once sided against her, some Ro-
mans were more troubled at her selection of Sigisvult for the mission because 
of a person who accompanied him.

Sigisvult had brought along an Arian bishop named Maximinus.44 While 
in North Africa, the cleric had a series of debates with the famed Augustine, 
who was quite angry at his presence. A battle between two opposing Roman 
armies on the continent, Augustine warned, would leave the region’s citizens 
vulnerable to hostile barbarian incursions.45 Galla Placidia, however, had a 
reason for sending a sending Maximinus to North Africa and for allowing 
Sigisvult to give him time to debate with senior clergy. She wanted the Arian 
bishop to accompany the expedition to win over Boniface’s wife, Pelagia.

Galla Placidia had likely met the Visigoth princess Pelagia after Ala-
ric had captured her when he had sacked the city of Rome. The two women 
became friends. Because Galla Placidia had lived among the Visigoths, it is 
plausible that she had adopted the Arian view that Jesus was merely a man 
into whom God’s spirit had entered. If so, then she either renounced her ear-
lier belief or kept it hidden throughout her life. Even if she had abandoned 
Arian Christianity, she was likely supportive of its followers since her beloved 
Visigoths still embraced this form of the faith. Given her knowledge of the 
Arians and her possible clandestine support for some of Arius’s controversial 
teachings, Galla Placidia thought she could use Pelagia to convince Boniface 
to bow to her will. She was mistaken; Boniface was no longer willing to risk 
his life to keep Galla Placidia in power.46

Boniface appears to have threatened Galla Placidia to save his life. He 
purportedly invited the Vandals in Spain to invade her kingdom.47 Led by a 
charismatic leader named Gaiseric, the Vandals were preparing to leave Eu-
rope to establish a new homeland in the grain-rich provinces of North Afri-
ca.48 If Gaiseric decided to conquer the Western Roman Empire, she could 
face simultaneous incursions from Vandal forces and Boniface’s North Afri-
can legions. Consequently, Galla Placidia decided to make peace with Boni-
face to save the Western Roman Empire.
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Galla Placidia sent her official Count Darius to North Africa to prevent 
Boniface and Sigisvult from fighting one another. Boniface realized he had 
to support Galla Placidia to survive. Consequently, Darius was successful in 
negotiating a truce with Boniface. Augustine was so pleased that he praised 
Darius for destroying war with peace.49 It appears that Galla Placidia’s con-
cerns about the Vandals likely helped Darius in his mission; Boniface shared 
her fear that the Vandals would try to capture North Africa. The two agreed 
to cooperate and fight Gaiseric, who had replaced the Visigoths as the great-
est threat to the Western Roman Empire. Unfortunately, Galla Placidia’s army 
was unprepared to confront the Vandal horde.
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The Vandal Horde

Gaiseric was the perfect man to lead the Vandals, even though his ap-
pearance was deceiving for a warrior. The Gothic historian Jordanes says 
that he was of moderate height and lame due to an accidental fall from a 
horse. Today we would likely consider him an introvert since he rarely spoke.1 
His disdain for luxury earned him the respect of other Vandal chiefs. They 
agreed to put aside their differences and unite under his leadership. Gaiseric 
quickly transformed the Vandals from disparate groups of warring tribes into 
a united and formidable military force that threatened the existence of the 
Western Roman Empire. Instead of attacking Europe, he decided to move 
his followers to North Africa where food was plentiful. Galla Placidia now 
considered him the most dangerous man in the world.

The Vandal Migration

Gaiseric led one of the greatest mass movements of barbarian tribes in 
history. The Vandals’ migration to the southern coast of Spain terrified Hon-
orius and Theodosius II. Galla Placidia feared Gaiseric, now poised to sail 
to North Africa, would soon control Rome’s grain supply and the Mediter-
ranean trade routes. Even Theodosius feared the Vandals would attack the 
Eastern Roman Empire. He and Galla Placidia passed laws decreeing capital 
punishment for anyone caught teaching the Vandals how to construct ships.2 
It was a futile effort since the Vandals could easily acquire such skills from the 
many ports in Spain they now occupied.

Gaiseric needed at least 1,000 ships to transport his 80,000 Vandals from 
Spain to North Africa. Galla Placidia’s empire had only 300 vessels. It ap-
peared that he would never achieve his goal of reaching the continent. But 
Gaiseric possessed a superior intellect that allowed him to overcome what the 
Romans considered an insurmountable obstacle.

Realizing the logistical impossibility of obtaining sufficient transports, 
Gaiseric thought of a way to lessen the distance to reduce the number of 
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crafts he needed. He moved his band to the narrowest point between Eu-
rope and North Africa at the Spanish city of Tarifa, opposite the Moroccan 
port of Tangier. The distance between the two was only thirty-eight miles 
(sixty-two kilometers). A boat could make the journey there and back in less 
than twenty-four hours. By shortening the trip, Gaiseric could continuously 
ferry the Vandals across the Mediterranean in a flotilla day and night.

There was another reason Gaiseric chose to sail from Tarifa. It minimized 
the chance Boniface would attack him when he arrived. This was because of 
the peculiar way the Romans had divided the administrative provinces of 
North Africa. Gaiseric planned to sail to the Roman district of Mauretania 
Tingitana. Although it was in North Africa, Roman officials in Spain, and not 
Boniface, oversaw its administration and defense. The Count of Tingitana 
had 5,000 to 7,000 men at his disposal to repel the invading Vandals; how-
ever, the major task of his sentries was to pursue troublesome nomads, not 
fight attacking hordes of armed men. Because the Roman officials could not 
assemble all their soldiers in one place quickly, the Vandals could expect no 
serious opposition when they arrived.3

In May 429 ce, Gaiseric prepared his followers to cross the Strait of Gi-
braltar. When they arrived at the designated point of departure, they quickly 
outnumbered the Roman forces on the coast.4 Honorius’s officials were pow-
erless to stop the Vandals from departing Europe on ships. In June, Gaiseric 
and his 80,000 followers arrived in North Africa. They immediately began 
marching east towards Carthage, the administrative center of the prov-
ince. Traveling on foot, horse, and carts, they moved at a slow pace of over 
three-and-a-half miles (nearly six kilometers) per day. Gaiseric’s men killed, 
pillaged, and plundered everything in their path: villages, farms, animals, and 
people.5 An inscription discovered at the city of Altava, 430 miles (700 kilo-
meters) from their landing point, dated August of 429 ce, records his attack 
there.6 Four years earlier, the officials of a nearby town had erected an inscrip-
tion praising their new emperor, Valentinian III, whom they had called the 
“brightest star” of the earthly realm “under the guardianship of the illustrious 
(Galla) Placidia.”7

Boniface and his 35,000 soldiers were unable to stop the Vandal on-
slaught. The situation worsened for the Western Roman Empire when an un-
known number of Visigoths residing on the continent joined Gaiseric. Some 
sources claim they were the entourage of Boniface’s wife, Pelagia. The defec-
tion of these barbarians with a knowledge of Roman provincial administra-
tion in the region increased Gaiseric’s power and resources.8 When Boniface 
confronted Gaiseric’s army, the Vandals and their allies greatly outnumbered 
his Roman forces.

Boniface lost the battle; he fled with his surviving soldiers to the city of 
Hippo. Gaiseric besieged it by land and sea for over a year. The priests inside 
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the city led prayers for divine deliverance. Most notable among them was 
Augustine, its bishop. He and the other trapped clerics had much to fear; 
the Vandals wanted revenge against them for their persecution of Arians for 
adopting what Augustine and other bishops considered a heretical form of 
Christianity.9 As the foremost Christian of his era, Augustine was the Van-
dals’ prime target. Before Gaiseric’s army arrived, terrified bishops through-
out North Africa had asked him whether they could flee the approaching 
Vandals. Augustine wrote a letter to them stating they could allow their con-
gregants to run away from danger; however, he ordered all bishops to stay 
with their churches.10 With the army of the Western Empire powerless to pro-
tect them, Augustine expected the clergy to set an example by trusting in God 
and face the Vandals. His words were not idle rhetoric, for he led by example.

Augustine chose to remain in Hippo likely knowing that he would per-
ish there. He died during the third month of Gaiseric’s blockade of the city, on 
August 28, 430 ce.11 It is unknown whether he succumbed to the terrible con-
ditions inside its walls: disease, lack of food, constant attacks, extreme stress, 
or numerous unspeakable and unrecorded horrors. Hippo’s population was 
too weak to resist; the Vandals were ready to capture it. Then, Gaiseric and 
his army unexpectedly departed to find food. During their absence, Boniface 
and his men escaped, leaving Hippo’s citizens to fend for themselves.

Trouble at Home

Galla Placidia was unable to stop the Vandals from capturing much of 
North Africa’s grain supply. Then, a new worry diverted her attention from 
the Vandal threat. The rivalry between Felix and Aetius remerged, threat-
ening to destabilize the Western Empire. Aetius believed Felix was plotting 
against him. He resolved to survive by acting first and eliminate Felix. Galla 
Placidia could no longer keep them apart; she feared civil war was a possi-
bility. To preserve the Western Roman Empire, she decided that one of them 
had to die. She decided to sacrifice Felix.12

Galla Placidia’s decision to keep Aetius as her leading general in Italy 
was a logical choice. He had the backing of most soldiers in the Western army 
while Felix’s partisans were largely in the royal court. Aetius, moreover, like 
Galla Placidia, had a substantial unit of private bodyguards largely comprised 
of barbarians. These men not only had sworn an oath of allegiance to the 
emperor, but to Galla Placidia and Aetius as well.13 This made Aetius partic-
ularly dangerous for, if Galla Placidia opposed him, his security force would 
likely fight against Roman soldiers and her barbarian guard to protect him. 
Felix, in comparison, was less of a physical danger to her. His quarrel with 
Boniface had forced her to send troops to North Africa. This campaign had 
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so weakened Boniface that he was unable to defeat Gaiseric. Yet, Boniface was 
in North Africa fighting the Vandals to protect the Western Roman Empire’s 
grain supply. Meanwhile, Felix had never risked his life on her behalf.

Galla Placidia was certainly responsible for Felix’s death. Our sources 
from this time do not recount how she arranged his assassination. She clearly 
conspired with Aetius in secret to kill him. They first worked together to gain 
the confidence of Felix’s commanders. On the appointed day, Aetius traveled 
to Ravenna with troops to denounce Felix in public. Felix’s men mutinied, 
presumably responding to some agreed upon signal, rose up, and killed him, 
along with his wife, Padusia, and a church official.14 According to tradition, 
the soldiers murdered them on the steps of the Basilica Ursiana near Galla 
Placidia’s palace. It is possible they were fleeing there hoping she would give 
them sanctuary; it is doubtful either knew she had ordered their execution.15 
The assassination of Felix unfortunately put the West’s survival in peril as it 
left two powerful men who hated one another in charge of its armies. Civil 
war between Aetius and Boniface was almost certain. Unfortunately, Galla 
Placidia had a greater worry. The Western Roman Empire was bankrupt.

Galla Placidia had insufficient money to finance another invasion of 
North Africa. She passed an emergency law on April 29, 431 ce, authorizing 
the collection of more taxes.16 Yet, even with these newly acquired sums, she 
lacked the necessary money to pay for the defense of the Western Roman 
Empire. With Gaiseric poised to seize her grain supply in North Africa, Galla 
Placidia appealed to her nephew, Theodosius II, for help.

Salvation from the East

Gaiseric’s capture of Hippo led Theodosius II to worry that the Vandals 
would threaten his Mediterranean trade routes.17 Theodosius II also feared 
that Gaiseric would unite with the Huns and besiege Constantinople. This 
would be easy for them to do if the Western Roman Empire fell. Conse-
quently, Theodosius II concluded it was better to help Galla Placidia fight the 
Vandals in North Africa before they reached his capital. In 431 or early 432 
ce, while she was attempting to recruit additional troops to invade the con-
tinent, Theodosius II sent his general, Aspar, to join her assault force. Their 
combined armies reached Hippo, which was again under siege. Gaiseric re-
pulsed both armies along with the remnants of Boniface’s legions. Then, if the 
legends of the time are true, a chance encounter occurred that would later 
change history.

During the fighting for control of Hippo, the Vandals had captured a 
soldier in Theodosius II’s army named Marcian. He had served in an elite unit 
of officers that protected the emperor. Although he was an obscure prisoner 
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facing certain death, eighteen years later he became the Eastern Roman Em-
pire’s ruler (450–457 ce). According to legend, Gaiseric saw some unspeci-
fied omen that warned him Marcian would become the next monarch. The 
superstitious Vandal was so afraid of angering the gods that he agreed to re-
lease Marcian. However, he made Marcian vow never to attack the Vandals.18 
Eastern Orthodox Christians later declared Marcian a saint for convening the 
Council of Chalcedon (451 ce), which debated the relationship between the 
Trinity (the Father, the Son, and the Holy Spirit).

If the pagan gods had protected Marcian, they cared little for North Af-
rica’s Roman population. Aspar and Boniface refused to risk additional men 
in another futile effort to save Hippo. Gaiseric’s forces sacked and burned it. 
Augustine’s library of theological writings somehow managed to survive the 
Vandal depredations, ensuring that his legacy would continue to shape Chris-
tian thought to the present day.19

Troubles in Europe	

While Boniface was attempting to halt the Vandal advance in North Af-
rica, Aetius fought to suppress several barbarian revolts throughout Europe. 
Although the records of this time are incomplete, a partially preserved doc-
ument sheds much light on his efforts to save the Roman Empire. A Latin 
rhetorician named Merobaudes wrote it. Born in southern Spain to a general 
of Frankish origins, he had served as a senator and a senior general (magister 
militum) there. His writings show that many in the Western Roman Empire 
considered Aetius their only hope of salvation from the barbarian threats.20

Merobaudes’s poetic praise of Aetius is an important historical docu-
ment because it includes an extensive list of the general’s victories. This in-
ventory also reveals the extent to which barbarian tribes had annexed much 
of the Western Roman Empire’s territory. Aetius fought successful campaigns 
in Gaul from 425 to 429 ce. He also pushed the Visigoths out of Arles in 425 
or 426 ce, and retook lands along the Rhine River the Franks had captured 
in 427 ce. After succeeding Felix as military commander in Italy, he defeated 
other tribes and quashed several rebellions. He pursued Visigoth bandits near 
Arles and, in 432 ce, defeated the Franks.21 Despite this impressive catalog of 
triumphs, he and Galla Placidia realized they could not expel Gaiseric and 
the Vandals from North Africa while fighting barbarians in Europe.

Gaiseric also recognized he had a problem. He could neither expel the 
Romans from North Africa nor build a nation there while fighting invading 
forces from the Western and Eastern Roman Empires. Consequently, he and 
his Alan allies decided to negotiate a truce. Galla Placidia and Valentinian III 
gave Gaiseric parts of Maurentania and Numidia in exchange for peace. This 
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was a major concession since these lands made up nearly the entire western 
half of Roman territory in North Africa. Galla Placidia appointed her official 
Aspar, who had concluded the treaty with Gaiseric, consul and stationed him 
at Carthage to guard the region.22 In the meanwhile, Aetius had to deal with 
new threats.

Aetius sent his envoy Count Censorius to Spain to prevent the Goths 
from forming an alliance with the Sueves. Bishop Hydatius accompanied 
him.23 They were successful in convincing the Sueves to halt their attacks. 
Because of his numerous victories on the battlefield, Galla Placidia appointed 
Aetius consul for 432 ce. Yet, Galla Placidia did not trust him. She feared he 
was a threat to her son becoming the emperor. Consequently, she decided to 
betray him and replace him with her most trusted ally, Boniface.

In 432 ce, while Aetius was in Gaul, Galla Placidia recalled Boniface to 
Italy.

She elevated him to the rank of patrician, which meant that he was now 
Aetius’s superior.24 Civil war between Aetius and Boniface was imminent. 
Nevertheless, Galla Placidia felt she had to risk plunging the West into chaos 
to keep her son on the throne.

Boniface verses Aetius

Aetius refused to accept his demotion. He gathered his troops to fight 
Boniface. They met at Rimini, near Ravenna. Boniface’s son-in-law, Sebas-
tian, was there. The 432 ce battle between Aetius and Boniface, known both 
as the Battle of Ravenna and as the Battle of Rimini, was among the most 
dramatic encounters in Roman history. It pitted two experienced command-
ers and their armies against one another. With identical training and don-
ning the same armor, it was difficult for the combatants to distinguish their 
comrades from their enemies. During the confrontation, Boniface and Aetius 
fought a duel. Boniface and his forces were victorious. Aetius surrendered. 
Galla Placidia allowed him to retire to his estates in Italy. She and Boniface 
likely agreed this was the only way to prevent the remaining troops loyal to 
Aetius from mutinying. A few months after Aetius’s demotion, everything 
changed for the worse.

Aetius had wounded Boniface during their clash. Before the advent of 
modern antibiotics, slight cuts were often fatal. Boniface likely suffered a slow 
and excruciating death from an infection.25 When it became clear he would 
not survive, Galla Placidia appointed his son-in-law, Sebastian, to his post of 
senior general (comes et magister utriusque militiae).

Sebastian attempted to assassinate Aetius. Now desperate to save his life, 
Aetius fled to Rome. Failing to find support there, he traveled to the Balkans 
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to seek refuge with the Huns.26 His friend, the Hunnic king Rua (Rugila), 
offered to help him regain his former rank. To ratify their treaty against Galla 
Placidia, Aetius offered to send his son, Carpilio, to live among the Huns as a 
hostage. When Galla Placidia received news that Aetius had made an alliance 
with Rua, she panicked. She and Sebastian tried to use her connections with 
the Visigoths to obtain reinforcements to fight Aetius and his Hunnic allies. 
Unfortunately, the Visigoths feared the Huns would invade their territory if 
they helped Galla Placidia. Now desperate to save the Western Roman Em-
pire, she felt she had no option except to betray Sebastian and restore Aetius 
to his former position.27 She undoubtedly knew this was effectively a death 
sentence for Sebastian.

After Galla Placidia stripped Sebastian of his rank, he vowed to oppose 
the Western Roman Empire he had loyally served. He became the leader of a 
band of pirates and raided the Dardanelles, the narrow strait and major wa-
terway in present-day Turkey and the Sea of Marmara. Sebastian later trav-
eled to Constantinople to seek refuge at the eastern court. Denied asylum 
there, he wandered throughout Europe in a futile search for a place to live. 
After reaching Spain, he sailed to North Africa to join the Vandals. Gaiseric 
murdered him.28

Now that Aetius was safe, he did something so unexpected it shocked 
everyone. He wed Boniface’s widow, Pelagia.29 If the ancient accounts of their 
relationship are factual, Boniface had asked Aetius to marry his wife while he 
was dying.30 It is probable that both felt Galla Placidia had betrayed them. The 
two apparently wanted revenge: Boniface desired to weaken her while Aetius 
hoped to gain control over her Empire through Pelagia. Whatever led Aetius 
to marry Pelagia, she became his greatest supporter. Aetius now inherited 
Boniface’s wealth, property, bodyguard, and soldiers. He also had the backing 
of the Huns and many Visigoths. This complicated Galla Placidia’s situation 
since Pelagia was a Visigoth princess. Even the Visigoths who served Galla 
Placidia would be reluctant to oppose her if she tried to harm her or her new 
spouse. Because Valentinian III was approaching the age when he would rule 
on his own, Galla Placidia now feared Aetius would kill him.

Governing for the Regent

Valentinian III had the title of emperor but little authority. Because it 
was too dangerous for him to leave Italy, he remained in Ravenna. He spent 
much of his time attending meetings. They were noisy occasions during 
which court sycophants shouted as many as 245 acclamations of praise for 
him that lasted nearly forty minutes.31 These incessant tributes were import-
ant because they gave him a measure of protection from Aetius. Few would 
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harm Valentinian III because many Romans believed that to overthrow the 
emperor was to reject God’s earthly representative. He and his mother de-
cided to assert their authority to convince their people to end the Western 
Roman Empire’s longstanding Vandal war despite the cost.

Galla Placidia and her son sent a court official named Trygetius to North 
Africa to negotiate a treaty with Geiseric.32 Trygetius was successful in his 
mission. Many rejoiced when, on February 11, 435 ce, Gaiseric signed an-
other peace accord with the Western Roman Empire. Galla Placidia agreed 
to recognize Gaiseric as the head of a Vandal kingdom in North Africa. This, 
Galla Placidia thought, was the only way to protect Italy’s grain supply. She 
encountered no opposition to relinquishing Roman territory to barbarians 
since many in Europe no longer cared that the Western Empire was rap-
idly shrinking. Her people only desired peace. It is also doubtful that Aetius 
wanted to lead another invasion of North Africa to oppose Gaiseric. Unfor-
tunately, trouble in Gaul prevented him and Galla Placidia from celebrating 
the end of the Vandal war.

Trouble in Gaul

The year 435 ce was difficult for Galla Placidia. The Burgundians were 
occupying deserted agricultural areas in Europe.33 Elsewhere in Gaul, a man 
named Tibatto led a group of peasants known as the bagaudae: they were 
brigands who looted and pillaged the countryside. Bishop Hydatius states 
they caused much devastation in Spain until the early 440’s ce.34 The Ro-
mans had inadvertently created these marauders. The continued withdrawal 
of Roman administration and protection from many provinces beginning in 
the fifth century ce had left peasants helpless. In desperation, many of them 
ceased paying taxes and renounced the Western Roman Emperor’s authority. 
This discontented throng gathered into roving bands and demanded protec-
tion money from local inhabitants.35

While bands of the bagaudae continued to murder and plunder their 
fellow Romans throughout Gaul, barbarians began to ravage the remainder 
of the Western Roman Empire: Visigoths in Gaul; Franks, Burgundians, and 
Alammani in the Rhine and Alpine regions; Suevi in Spain; Vandals and Alans 
in North Africa. Hostile tribes now controlled Britain. Aetius was unable to 
contain these threats. In desperation, Galla Placidia reassigned an elite force 
of 28,500 men normally under the emperor’s authority to fight as ordinary sol-
diers in the provinces.36 With the assistance of these units, Aetius crushed the 
Burgundians and forced their king to sign a peace treaty with the West. Only 
Italy, Sicily, and South-East Gaul remained under Galla Placidia’s control.37 Lit-
tle was left of the Western Roman Empire; everyone knew its end was near.
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On September 6, 435 ce, Galla Placidia honored Aetius by bestowing 
upon him the ancient title Patricius, which was one of the highest honors 
in the Roman Empire.38 Unfortunately, he had little time to celebrate. The 
chief of the Burgundians and the Visigoth king Theodoric made an alliance: 
they vowed to destroy what was left of the Western Roman Empire. Visigoths 
besieged Narbonne, where Galla Placidia had married Athaulf. Aetius was 
unable to relieve its beleaguered citizens because many of his units were sup-
pressing a new uprising of the bagaudae in Gaul. Then, the situation became 
worse. Theodoric convinced Gaiseric to renounce his treaty with Valentinian 
III. To strengthen their pact, Theodoric sent his daughter to North Africa 
to marry Gaiseric’s son, Huneric.39 Now that the Visigoths were in league 
with the Vandals, barbarians were ready to seize the Western Roman Empire. 
Galla Placidia and Aetius turned to the Huns to defend their homeland from 
these and other threats. Unfortunately, the Huns demanded an exorbitant 
price for their services.40

The Hunnic king Rua requested lands along the River Save in Pannonia, 
located today in Hungary, Austria, and portions of the neighboring countries. 
The Huns had occupied the region until Galla Placidia sent Felix there in 427 
ce to evict them. In exchange for the creation of a Hunnic state in part of the 
Western Roman Empire, Rua agreed to fight the Burgundians to save Galla 
Placidia’s kingdom. Before the combined Roman and Hunnic army set out, 
trouble kept the Roman commander Litorius and his troops from joining the 
force. He had to battle the bagaudae; he captured their leader, Tibatto. Then, 
the Visigoths besieged Narbonne; many of Galla Placidia’s former Visigoth 
friends were certainly among those attacking and killing Roman citizens 
there. Narbonne was about to fall. Litorius rushed to save the city.

Sometime in late 436 ce, or possibly early 437 ce, Litorius arrived at 
Narbonne. Through a strategic maneuvering of his troops, he trapped the 
Visigoths between the city’s walls and their siege line. His army slaughtered 
them. Litorius was a skillful tactician. He had ordered his men to carry dou-
ble rations. The soldiers distributed these provisions to the survivors inside 
the city. Despite his victory, there was little to celebrate.

Something terrible had occurred during Litorius’s march to Narbonne. 
He had to sacrifice Romans to save the city. This was because many Huns in 
his army had left their ranks to plunder villages and murder Romans. Lito-
rius had allowed them to pillage nearby villages and keep their plunder so 
they would remain in his army. His decision cost the lives of untold numbers 
of Roman civilians in the province. A Gallic senator named Eparchius tried 
to protect them; he had friends on both sides of the conflict because he had 
been a military commander in Gaul. After local Romans defeated the ren-
egade Huns in Litorius’s army near Clermont, Litorius and his allies saved 
Narbonne. Rua soon arrived with his Hunnic force in Gaul to help Aetius. 
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Together they killed a purported 20,000 Burgundians, including their king. 
This victory is the subject of the celebrated Germanic folk legend known as 
the Ring of the Niebelung, which became the source for the epic poem the 
Nibelungen. (The famous German composer Richard Wagner used it as the 
basis for his marathon four-opera cycle, Der Ring des Nibelungen, “The Ring 
of the Nibelung”).41

Despite these military successes, new troubles emerged that the Western 
army could not contain. Other tribes were on the move. The Visigoths were 
rebelling in Gaul while the Sueves renewed their attacks in Spain. Aetius sent 
an unnamed general to defend Spanish territory. He forced the Sueves and the 
Franks to submit to Roman rule. Aetius and his Hunnic allies were unable to 
defeat the Visigoths. In desperation, Aetius recruited additional Huns. With 
these reinforcements, he pushed the Visigoths to Bordeaux. Nevertheless, 
the Romans suffered considerable losses. On his return to Italy, Valentinian 
III, likely at the request of Galla Placidia, erected a statue in Aetius’s honor.42 
Then, the Western Roman Empire enjoyed a brief respite from trouble to cel-
ebrate a royal wedding.

A Royal Marriage

In 435 ce, Valentinian III turned sixteen. He was two years beyond the 
legal age of marriage, and one year before he had to enter military service.43 
Although Galla Placidia’s regency was about to end, she continued to pre-
serve the Western Roman Empire by advising him until her death. She had 
taken an important step to secure his future when she had betrothed him to 
Licinia Eudoxia, the only child of Theodosius II. Galla Placidia undoubtedly 
hoped the wedding would strengthen the partnership between the Eastern 
and Western Roman Empires and produce an heir who would rule both like 
her father had.

In 436 ce, Rufius Antonius Agrypnius Volusianus, a pagan member of 
Rome’s senatorial class, arrived in Constantinople. His mission was to ar-
range the marriage between Galla Placidia’s son and Licinia Eudoxia. Volu-
sianus’s niece and future saint, Melania the Younger, traveled from Jerusalem 
to visit him there. While in the city, he became fatally ill. She converted him 
to Christianity; a priest baptized him on his deathbed.44 Fortunately, he had 
received official permission from Theodosius II and his wife for the wedding 
to take place before his untimely passing. Theodosius II was happy. Galla Pla-
cidia’s joy at the impending nuptials, however, was somewhat diminished by 
the prospect that she would gain a daughter-in-law while losing a valuable 
portion of her empire.

Galla Placidia had agreed to give the region of Illyricum to Theodosius 
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II when her son wed his daughter.45 Since then, a complicating factor had 
emerged. Pope Sixtus III maintained that the area was part of the Western 
Empire and under the jurisdiction of his archbishop in Thessalonica. Nev-
ertheless, Galla Placidia decided to keep her promise to Theodosius II; she 
overruled the Pontiff.

Valentinian III arrived in Constantinople on October 21, 437 ce, accom-
panied by a vast retinue of prominent western officials and soldiers.46 There 
were two notable absences: Aetius and Galla Placidia. Both likely stayed in 
Italy to deal with the many barbarian tribes threating Europe.47 The wedding 
took place eight days after Valentinian III arrived. He was eighteen; Eudoxia 
was fifteen.48 Guests received a gold medallion with the inscription “with 
good fortune, for the marriage.” Although it depicts the newlyweds, it also 
contains a much larger portrait of Theodosius II. Another coin recognized 
the bride, with an inscription of well-being for the Eastern Roman Empire 
and good fortune of the Western Roman Empire. Theodosius II appointed 
Aetius and Sigisvult consuls. Although it was an honorary post in the East, 
Theodosius declared Merobaudes a patricus.49

Eudoxia arrived in Ravenna pregnant. She gave birth to a girl the 
following year. Her parents named her Eudocia after her maternal grand-
mother, the eastern empress Aelia Eudocia. As a reward for producing a 
child, Eudoxia received the title Augusta on August 6, 439 ce. Sometime 
between 439 and 443 ce, two to six years after her marriage to Valentinian 
III, Eudoxia gave birth to another girl. The parents named her Placidia after 
Galla Placidia.50

Eudoxia largely disappears from history following the birth of her 
children. A church in Rome named the Basilica Eudoxiana in her honor, 
constructed in 439 ce, is a prominent tourist attraction.51 It contains the 
chains purportedly used to bind the first pope, Saint Peter, during his im-
prisonment in the city. Eudoxia’s mother found them during her visit to the 
Holy Land. She gave them to her daughter and son-in-law when they visited 
Rome in 440 ce. The church later became the repository of Michelangelo’s 
famous statue of Moses with horns protruding from the top of his head.52 
Valentinian III and Galla Placidia undoubtedly visited this basilica often to-
gether since they were seldom apart for the remainder of her life. He needed 
her guidance, for old and new enemies of the Western Roman Empire were 
about to destroy it.
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Years of Turbulence

In the spring of 442 ce, the Western Roman Empire was approaching its 
end. Valentinian III and Theodosius II abandoned their planned joint expe-
dition against Gaiseric to fortify their capitals for an assault by approaching 
Huns.1 Each empire was now on its own. Even Gaiseric in North Africa feared 
the Huns would eventually invade the continent and destroy his kingdom. 
Galla Placidia knew they would soon reach Italy. The pagan Sibyl purportedly 
had predicted that during her son’s reign, the Vandal king Gaiseric would de-
stroy Rome because of the city’s “enormous avarice.”2 She certainly knew that 
the end of the kingdom she had preserved for her son to rule was imminent. 
The Huns were marching towards Italy to destroy the city of Rome. Galla 
Placidia had dreaded their inevitable arrival for most of her life. However, she 
could not have predicted the shocking consequences for her, her family, and 
the West when their leader, Attila, reached Italy.

Terror from the East

From 405 to 408 ce, barbarians seeking protection from the Huns began 
to overrun the Western Roman Empire. Some scholars believe the Huns, a 
nomadic people from Central Asia, came from Mongolia. They apparently 
had been thrust out of their homeland after conflicts with China’s Han pop-
ulation. As the Huns moved west, barbarian tribes fleeing their advance 
sought refuge in both halves of the Roman Empire: Vandals, Alans, Sueves, 
and Goths. These groups quickly came into conflict with Roman citizens who 
did not want them residing in their territory. With the Huns heading towards 
Europe, and North Africa lost to the Vandals, some Romans left Europe for 
the Middle East.3

Galla Placidia’s contemporary Jerome—legendary Christian priest, his-
torian, theologian, and biblical scholar—recorded the Huns’ onslaught from 
firsthand testimony survivors shared with him. Writing from the safety of 
Palestine, where he had taken up residence in Bethlehem adjacent to Jesus’ 
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birthplace to translate the Bible into Latin (the Vulgate), Jerome wrote this 
lament mourning the countless innocent civilians the Huns had murdered as 
they marched towards Italy:

The Roman world is in ruin. Yet, we hold our head high rather than bowing to them 
… in the past year the wolves—not just from Arabia but the entire north—were let 
loose upon us from the remote parts of the Caucasus and quickly overran these great 
provinces. How many monasteries did they capture? How many rivers did they cause 
to run red with blood? They besieged Antioch and many other cities on the Halys, the 
Cyndus, the Orontes, and the Euphrates Rivers. They dragged away many as captives: 
Arabia, Phoenicia, Palestine, Egypt, were held captive by fear.4

Jerome became quite upset after he received the news that his hometown of 
Stridon, on the border of Pannonia and Dalmatia near modern Slovenia, was 
among the cities the Huns had destroyed. An inscription found in the nearby 
city of Split records the passing of a woman thirty years of age; her husband 
and two children were still alive. It gives the date of her death, December 15, 
425 ce, and notes that Galla Placidia’s half-nephew, Theodosius II, was then 
ruler of the Eastern Roman Empire.5 This woman’s family inscribed on her 
tombstone that she was a “noble lady” to emphasize her plight: she had died 
as a refugee among the poor despite her wealth. Although she had ruled the 
Western Roman Empire, and was related to both emperors, Galla Placidia 
knew from personal experience that her royal status would not protect her 
from the approaching barbarian onslaught.

The Christian writer Callinicus of Rufinianae wrote a book known as 
The Life of Saint Hypatius that describes conditions in Europe at this time. 
His work shows that Jerome did not exaggerate the horrors of Galla Placid-
ia’s time. Although most barbarians wanted to live peacefully among the Ro-
mans, the Huns were different. They were so violent that everyone fled from 
them, causing great upheaval throughout Europe. Callinicus describes the 
Hunnic invasion around 440 ce in the capital of the Eastern Roman Empire, 
where Galla Placidia had lived for a time and her relatives still resided:

The barbarian nation of the Huns, which at that time was in Thrace, became so great 
that they captured over one hundred cities. Even Constantinople was in danger; every-
one was forced to flee from them. There so many murders and bloodshed that the 
dead could not be counted. They even captured churches and monasteries and killed 
many nuns and monks.6

The Huns were not only excessively cruel, but the Romans and Goths alike 
considered them almost inhumane monsters.

The Roman soldier and historian Ammianus Marcellinus served in 
many campaigns against the barbarians. His account of the Huns is the most 
astonishing section of his book: it undoubtedly terrified his audience. Mar-
cellinus describes them as uncivilized monsters:
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The Huns … have compact, strong limbs and thick necks, and are so hideous and 
deformed that they appear like two-legged animals … they do not use fire or put 
spices on their food. Rather, they eat wild roots and raw meat, which they warm by 
placing between their thighs while riding their horses.7

Strange tales of this fiendish horde spread throughout the Western Roman 
Empire long before the Huns reached Europe. The Romans were terrified 
now that they were nearby.

The Late Roman army was a shadow of its former glory and unprepared 
to fight the Huns. The frequent wars in the Western Roman Empire between 
360 and 410 ce had left insufficient time for training the army. Citizens in-
creasingly avoided military service. The West had no choice but to allow bar-
barians to enlist in the imperial legions to fill its vacant ranks. Aetius and his 
fellow officers now faced the prospect of fighting barbarians they had trained 
who, having returned home upon their discharge, joined invading relatives 
to help them destroy the Western Roman Empire. The prospect of meeting 
these men on the battlefield terrified Aetius, for little distinguished Hunnic 
and Roman soldiers. The Huns now looked and operated like professional 
Roman legionnaires: their infantry wore helmets and protective armor and 
carried small wooden or wicker shields while others served as mounted ar-
chers in battle.8 Aetius feared the Huns because they had mastered the art of 
siege warfare. He knew this made them unstoppable.

Galla Placidia’s relatives in Constantinople had warned her about the 
Huns. In 422 ce, while Theodosius II was in Persia fighting to protect its 
Christian minority from religious persecution, the Huns invaded the Eastern 
Roman Empire. Theodosius II abruptly abandoned his expedition, leaving 
Persia’s Christians to fend for themselves. When returned home, he found 
that the Huns had devastated much of Thrace in his absence.9 The Huns 
agreed to leave the East in exchange for an annual payment of 350 pounds 
of gold: Theodosius II agreed. To divert his subjects’ attention from this ex-
pensive and disgraceful concession, he erected a statue of himself with the 
inscription “everywhere and forever victorious” to celebrate his supposed de-
feat of the Huns and the Persians. Nobody appeared to challenge his blatant 
lie. Rather, everyone was happy he had found a way to convince the Huns to 
spare the Eastern Roman Empire.

The unintended consequence of Theodosius II’s settlement with the 
Huns was much death and suffering for Galla Placidia’s Western Roman Em-
pire. The Hunnic lords reasoned that if the eastern emperor could readily 
part with such vast amounts of wealth, her son could as well. Unfortunately, 
the Huns were more formidable than at any other time in their history. Their 
ruler, Attila, had united them into a single confederation bent upon destroy-
ing the Western Roman Empire. He found an ally in the most unlikely of all 
places—Galla Placidia’s family.
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The Scourge of God
Aetius was in no position to combat the Huns. The Sueves now con-

trolled much of Europe; Gaiseric had taken large portions of North Africa; 
the Visigoths had annexed sections of Gaul; the Franks were invading Roman 
territory in the remainder of Europe. Attila wanted to exploit the Western 
Empire’s misfortunes and threaten Italy while its armies were fighting else-
where. In 443 ce, he demanded Valentinian III pay him tribute.10 Valentinian 
III had to part with a considerable portion of his nation’s wealth and land to 
save the Western Roman Empire.

Valentinian III offered Attila territory in Pannonia, an unknown amount 
of money, and an honorary military post in the western army.11 Attila ac-
cepted. Aetius sent him a Latin secretary because his new title technically 
made him a friend and ally of the Western Roman Empire of equal rank with 
its Roman generals. An exchange of hostages took place to seal the pact: Ae-
tius’s son from his first marriage, Carpilio, was one of them.12 Although the 
treaty brought peace with the Huns, it was an economic disaster. In July of 
444 ce, Valentinian III announced that the payments to the Huns and other 
barbarian tribes, coupled with the loss of financially lucrative provinces in 
North Africa to Gaiseric, had depleted the imperial treasury. The Western 
Empire was bankrupt.13

Theodosius II realized that the West was in such a dire situation that 
he could no longer count upon its forces to protect his kingdom if the Huns 
invaded it. To guarantee the Eastern Roman Empire’s survival, he agreed to 
increase his annual tribute to the Huns to encourage them to pillage else-
where. Unfortunately, the Huns demanded more concessions. By 447 ce, the 
Huns had increased the East’s payment from 1,400 pounds to 2,100 pounds of 
gold.14 Then, fighting between Attila and his brother Bleda appeared to save 
the entire Roman Empire. It appeared the Huns would not invade Europe. 
When Bleda died under mysterious circumstances, Attila took control of all 
the Hunnic tribes as their sole leader and became determined to destroy both 
halves of the Roman Empire.15

Theodosius II decided to annul his treaty with the Huns, thinking that 
the succession dispute following Bleda’s death had weakened Attila. The fi-
nancial situation of the Eastern Roman Empire had improved, largely be-
cause peace in the Danube region had brought an increase in trade. In 442 ce, 
Theodosius II ordered a reduction of taxes in Constantinople.16 When Attila 
failed to convince Theodosius II to pay the Huns the demanded tribute, he 
vowed to send his Hunnic army to destroy the Eastern Roman Empire.

Attila invaded the Danube region and ravaged towns throughout the 
Balkans. He fought and killed the Roman general Arnegisclus, commander 
of the forces there. The Huns decimated much of the Eastern Roman Empire’s 
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army in battle. In 447 ce, Attila threatened Constantinople.17 Theodosius II 
likely did not worry, as the Hunnic siege equipment could not breach the 
city’s great walls. Then, Attila must have thought the gods were on his side 
when an unexpected event occurred that literally opened the city to his army.

God Against the Roman Empire?

On January 27, 447 ce, an earthquake destroyed Constantinople. Por-
tions of its walls along with fifty-seven of its defensive towers collapsed.18 The 
eastern capital was vulnerable to any army that wanted to capture it. Attila 
vowed to destroy it.

The morning after the earthquake, Theodosius II walked seven miles 
(approximately eleven kilometers) along the city’s streets, barefoot and clad 
in a simple tunic, to survey the ruins. His feet were bleeding. A large crowd 
of dignitaries and citizens followed him to the Hebdomon, which was a com-
plex that included the palace, two churches, a tribunal, and a large military 
parade ground.19 There, the gathered throng spontaneously chanted the Tri-
sagion—the invocation still recited by contemporary Orthodox Christians: 
“Holy God, Holy Mighty One, Holy Immortal One, have mercy upon us.”20 
Then, as the Huns were marching toward Constantinople, everyone got to 
work.

The praetorian prefect, Flavius Constantinus, led a frantic campaign to 
save the city. He quickly realized he had insufficient workers to repair the 
damaged walls before Attila arrived. Constantinus quickly thought of a solu-
tion—sports. He challenged the raucous fans of the city’s two great chariot 
teams, the Blues and the Greens, to compete against one another in rebuild-
ing the damaged defenses. They were normally difficult to control; they fre-
quently fought at the races. Yet, they so feared Attila that they agreed to work 
together to save Constantinople and their families. The two groups of sport 
enthusiasts finished the task in sixty days, thereby saving the city. A com-
memorative inscription still extant in Constantinople’s wall boasts, “Even 
[the goddess] Athena could not have built it quicker and better.”21

Attila’s army never reached Constantinople. He likely realized he could 
not capture the city without significant losses; its rebuilt fortification was too 
massive for him to breach. Rumors of a plague there provided a further in-
centive for him to stay away.22 Instead, he decided to ransack Roman territory 
in the Balkans. His army plundered seventy cities there. A few, such as Adri-
anople—site of the famed Visigoth victory over the Romans—managed to 
ward off his attack. The same was true for the city of Heraclea sixty miles from 
Constantinople, which Attila likewise failed to capture.

Theodosius II divided his forces between his three greatest generals: 
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Aspar, Ariobindus, and Arnegiscule. He ordered them to attack the Huns 
separately. The strategy did not work: the Huns continued to plunder cities 
and towns at will.23 Unfortunate residents of these raids were on their own 
as Theodosius II, the Eastern Roman Empire’s army, and local militias were 
powerless to protect them. Attila returned to the region of present day Hun-
gary only after he had stripped the Eastern Roman Empire of its supplies.

A priest from Gaul named Salvian wrote a book titled A Report on the 
Governance of God that includes a detailed description of life in Galla Placid-
ia’s Western Empire at this time. He complains about corrupt government of-
ficials who continue to raise taxes to fund endless wars against the Huns and 
other barbarian tribes. Salvian stresses that the poor bore the greatest burden 
because the rich, despite the barbarian peril, still managed to evade taxes and 
military conscription. Life was so terrible in Europe that some Romans fled 
to the barbarians for protection.

Salvian offered no solace to his anguished flock. He told them God was 
angry at the Western Empire: Christians had to accept their suffering as di-
vine chastisement.24 Isidore, the Archbishop of Seville (ca. 560–636 ce), be-
lieved the biblical prophet Isaiah had predicted the Western Roman Empire’s 
downfall at this time. He wrote that Attila was God’s “rod of divine anger” 
sent to scourge sinners.25 Attila knew these predictions of doom. According 
to later legend, when he met Lupus, the bishop of Troyes, he said, “I am Attila, 
the scourge of God.”26

An Untimely Proposal

In the year 449 ce, Galla Placidia, then fifty-six or fifty-seven years old, 
faced the most arduous period of her life. It was also a difficult year for the 
Western Empire. Attila’s army was approaching Rome; barbarians had taken 
Britain and North Africa; brigands and the Sueves were plundering Spain; 
the Gothic king Theodoric wanted to break his treaty with Valentinian III.27 
Then, Galla Placidia’s daughter nearly destroyed what was left of the Western 
Empire.

The West faced civil war unless Galla Placidia and Valentinian III could 
find a solution to the impending succession crisis. The problem was that 
there was no royal heir. Valentinian III and his wife, Licinia Eudoxia, had 
two daughters: Eudocia and Placidia. After fourteen years of marriage, it was 
unlikely the couple would produce a successor to the throne. It was prob-
able that Aetius or some ambitious general would seize power since only a 
male could officially rule. Although Galla Placidia had governed the Roman 
Empire alone for well over a decade, and continued to rule it through her 
son, none of her descendants possessed her leadership qualities. They had all 



162	 Empress Galla Placidia and the Fall of the Roman Empire

grown up in the royal court; she had spent her youth in barbarian camps and 
on battlefields. None had the fortitude to stand up to Aetius or oppose the 
empire’s generals and politicians. They knew nothing about the barbarians 
who were about to destroy the Western Roman Empire. It looked like her 
dynasty would end before her kingdom fell.

Galla Placidia realized that Aetius now had the same control over her 
son as Stilicho once had over her and her half-brother, Honorius.28 Although 
many believed the Western Roman Empire could not survive without Ae-
tius, Galla Placidia likely hoped he would perish fighting the barbarians. His 
death would remove what she believed was the greatest threat to her dynasty. 
Soldiers, if given the choice, would rally around Aetius should he try to stage 
a coup. If this took place, Aetius would execute her and her children to con-
solidate his base of power. Yet, despite her obsession with keeping her family 
on the throne, Galla Placida and her son made a terrible mistake that doomed 
their royal bloodline. They had mistreated her daughter—the only member of 
her family likely to produce an heir to the throne.

Galla Placidia’s daughter, Justa Grata Honoria, was the only member of 
the royal family who could give birth to a son to continue Theodosius the 
Great’s dynasty. The problem was that she was the unhappiest woman in the 
royal court. For reasons not explained in any of our surviving sources, Galla 
Placidia and her son refused to allow Honoria to marry. In 449 AD., Galla 
Placidia found out that Honoria was pregnant.29 The father of the child was 
a steward in charge of her business affairs named Eugenius. His status made 
the scandal worse: he was a slave. Because of his low position, many feared 
the two were plotting a coup.30

Valentinian III ordered Eugenius executed. Unfortunately, there was 
a problem with the sentence. The law mandated death by burning for any 
woman who secretly engaged in sexual relations with a slave; however, 
Roman men frequently had sex, both forced and consensual, with their slaves 
as was the accepted custom.31 Galla Placidia successfully pleaded with her son 
to spare his sister; he reluctantly agreed. Honorius and Galla Placidia stripped 
Honoria of her title of Augusta and banished her to Constantinople. Pulche-
ria kept her in isolation there until the royal family decided her fate.

Galla Placidia and Valentinian III realized they needed Honoria to con-
tinue the royal bloodline. They betrothed her to a senator named Flavius Bas-
sus Herculanus.32 Honoria refused to marry him. Then, she committed one 
of the most shocking acts in all of history. She proposed to Attila the Hun.

Honoria sent a trusted servant named Hyacinthus to Attila with a large 
sum of money and a gift.33 He secretly left Constantinople, traversed the 
Great Hungarian Plains, and located Attila’s encampment. Hyacinthus’s ap-
pearance shocked Attila: he wore royal silks, had broad hips and prominent 
breasts, spoke in a high-pitched voice, and constantly sweated. These were 
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the physiological consequences of castration before puberty; Hyacinthus, like 
many royal servants in the Late Roman Empire, was a eunuch.34 The message 
he bore stunned Attila and the Huns even more than his unusual physical 
features had. He claimed Honoria wanted to marry him. She also offered him 
a considerable down payment in gold if he prevented her forthcoming wed-
ding to Hercalanus. To prove the request was legitimate, Honoria had given 
Hyacinthus her signet ring to make the proposal legal. Attila accepted her 
token to make the engagement official.

Attila likely agreed to Honoria’s offer because Galla Placidia had mar-
ried a barbarian king. Valentinian III, moreover, had betrothed his daughter, 
Eudocia, to Huneric, the son of the Vandal king Gaiseric.35 Attila, therefore, 
saw no impediment to a royal marriage with Honoria. Twice, in 450 and 451 
ce, Attila sent messengers to the royal court demanding Honoria along with 
a dowry of half the Western Roman Empire.36 In the meanwhile, Valentinian 
III forced Honoria to become Hercalanus’s wife. Valentinian III appointed 
her new husband consul for 452 ce.

A Royal Funeral

As the Western Roman Empire approached its end, Galla Placidia began 
to reflect upon her time with the Visigoths. She wanted the body of her first-
born son, Theodosius, interred in Saint Peter’s Basilica. Although she and 
Athaulf had buried him over three decades earlier in Spain, Pope Leo I agreed 
with her unusual request.37 He did so not to comfort her; rather, he consented 
merely to assert his authority over Christendom. The ceremony would be a 
public declaration that Saint Peter’s remains in Rome made him Christianity’s 
leader; the Eastern Roman Empire still did not recognize the Pope’s religious 
authority over its territory.38 The pope, however, did not have the legal au-
thority to authorize the funeral.

Galla Placidia needed imperial authority to have her child’s corpse ex-
humed and transported from Barcelona to Rome. Although Valentinian III 
gave his consent, there is no record he attended the funeral.39 Pope Leo offici-
ated at the ceremony and interred the infant’s remains near Saint Peter’s tomb. 
She likely expected to rest with Theodosius soon because Attila was marching 
towards Rome and she was now quite ill.

Galla Placidia Helps the Pope

Although Attila remained a threat to the Western Roman Empire, Galla 
Placidia had to deal with another church controversy while the Huns were 
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marching towards Italy. When she and her family participated in the celebra-
tion of the Feast of Peter’s Chair in Saint Peter’s Basilica, Pope Leo I informed 
her of a grave theological situation in the East. Theodosius II had convened 
a council in 431 ce at the city of Ephesus, now in Turkey, to debate abstruse 
theological doctrine.40 It led to a spilt in Eastern Christianity that still exists. 
This fissure erupted largely because the bishops who attended it had con-
demned Nestorius, the Patriarch of Constantinople, who argued that Jesus’ 
mother, Mary, had given birth to Christ and not God.41 There was widespread 
public outrage at this teaching; most Christians at the time believed that Jesus 
was not only Christ, but God as well.42 Nestorius was doomed to fail in his ef-
fort to defend himself. His greatest enemy was not the Church but a member 
of the royal family—Pulcheria.

Sexist, intolerant, and prone to violence, Nestorius claimed Pulcheria 
had illicit lovers. He removed her image from above the altar of Constanti-
nople’s leading church and prevented her from receiving communion at the 
Easter service.43 The cleric had made a fatal error attacking her. During the 
gathering of bishops at the Ephesus council, Theodosius II supported his sis-
ter and sided with those who condemned Nestorius; he later exiled the cleric 
to Egypt. Leo I resented the eastern emperor’s involvement church affairs 
because he thought that only a pope could decide such doctrinal matters, 
authorize a church council, or exile heretics.

Although Pulcheria had defeated her theological rival, Nestorius, she 
soon lost all her power. Theodosius II’s sisters no longer had any influence 
over him. He forced Eudocia from the court; she moved to Jerusalem. Pul-
cheria remained in the palace; however, she no longer had any control over 
her brother. The eunuch Chrysaphius, a friend of Eutyches, now dominated 
Theodosius II.44 Tension with the Western Church increased, as Theodosius 
II no longer recognized the Pope’s leadership over Christians in his realm. 
Pope Leo asked Galla Placidia and the imperial family for help in asserting 
his jurisdiction over the Eastern Roman Empire’s churches.

Barbarian hordes threatened both halves of the Roman Empire. Yet, 
rather than working together, the Eastern and the Western portions of the 
Christian church continued to fight one another over abstruse theological 
dogma that few divinity students today understand. The debate was once 
again over the doctrine of Jesus’ incarnation. A monk in Constantinople 
named Eutyches, who happened to be a friend of Chrysaphius, began to 
preach that Jesus had only a single human nature. However, Jesus’ divinity 
overwhelmed his humanity, making him the Christ, the world’s savior. This 
meant that the Christ was made of the same substance as God; he did not 
possess a human nature. Although this teaching appears to make little sense, 
it had profound theological ramifications. It meant that Jesus as the Christ 
was derived from a heavenly source and not from Mary.45 The conflict quickly 
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turned into a struggle for supremacy: the Pope and Theodosius II disagreed 
over who was Christ’s chief representative on earth. The winner of this brawl 
would command the loyalty of all Christians, including the emperors.

Galla Placidia sent letters to Theodosius II and Pulcheria; Eudoxia did 
the same.46 In her correspondence, Galla Placidia emphasizes Leo’s authority 
over all Christians because he held Saint Peter’s remains.47 She tried to con-
vince Theodosius II that he had no legal or religious authority to convene 
a church council or determine theological doctrine. Only Leo, she insisted, 
could summon the bishops because Jesus had given Saint Peter the “keys of 
heaven.” This teaching, she asserted, is in the provisions of the Nicene Coun-
cil.48 It meant that the Pope determined doctrine and controlled membership 
in the church: he had the sole authority to determine if a Christian was a 
heretic.

Theodosius II disagreed with Galla Placidia’s logic. He responded with a 
missive insisting that the recent decisions issued at his Ephesus Council were 
theologically correct and in accordance with the Council of Nicea.49 Then, 
before Galla Placidia could send another letter to help the pope resolve this 
divisive religious debate over Jesus’s divine nature, she died.
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The Fall of the Western  
Roman Empire

Galla Placidia died in her sleep on November 27, 450 ce, as Atilla’s army 
approached Rome. She was approximately fifty-seven and had presided over 
the Western Roman Empire in various capacities for over twenty-five years.1 
Although we do not know the cause of her death, she must have been physi-
cally and emotionally exhausted. Her son buried her in the family crypt in St. 
Peter’s Basilica in Rome. The funeral marked the end of an era in the Western 
Roman Empire, and the Eastern Roman Empire as well.

A few months before Galla Placidia’s death, Theodosius II fell off his 
horse. In the age before the invention of stirrups, such equestrian accidents 
were frequent. Unfortunately, his tumble was serious; he injured his spine and 
expired two days later, on July 28, 450 ce.2 Galla Placidia’s son, Valentinian 
III, was now the only surviving male member of the House of Theodosius. He 
decided that he wanted to rule both halves of the Roman Empire.3 Unfortu-
nately, the Western Roman Empire was approaching its end. Twenty-six years 
and ten emperors later, it was a distant memory.4

The Aftermath

The fifty-one-year-old Pulcheria refused to let Galla Placidia’s son gov-
ern the Eastern Roman Empire. She proposed to a Roman general and wid-
ower named Marcian. He was the man Gaiseric had captured and released 
in 432 ce after some unrecorded omen had warned him that Marcian would 
become the Eastern Roman Emperor.5 Whether this influenced Pulcheria to 
choose him as her spouse is uncertain; however, she claimed Theodosius II 
on his deathbed had predicted that Marcian would succeed him.6 Pulcheria’s 
union to Marcian was a sham because she had taken a lifelong vow of celi-
bacy. She made him agree not to consummate their marriage. He consented 
to the unusual arrangement in exchange for the crown. When Valentinian III 
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heard that Marcian now ruled the Eastern Roman Empire, he wanted to go 
to Constantinople to remove him from power. Aetius convinced him not to 
do so.

Marcian stopped the Eastern Roman Empire’s payments of tribute to 
Attila. The Hun sent two embassies of Christian Goths to Constantinople and 
Rome: the first demanded Marcian hand over money; the second ordered 
Valentinian III to relinquish Honoria. Both missions ended in failure. The 
Hunnic king feared the highly experienced new soldier-emperor of the East-
ern Roman Empire could defeat his forces. Consequently, Attila decided to 
destroy Galla Placidia’s Western Roman Empire, now ruled by her weak son.

Attila formed alliances with the Franks, the Visigoths, and other tribes 
to conquer the Western Roman Empire. Aetius sought help from several bar-
barian leaders, including the Alan chief Sambida to whom the Romans had 
given lands in Gaul. Although the Huns had pressured Sambida to join them, 
he remained loyal to the West.7 Unfortunately, without Theodoric’s Visigoths, 
Aetius had insufficient soldiers to defeat Attila. The Western Roman Empire 
was certain to fall, but many believed God temporarily postponed its end.

Attila’s Invasion of the West

In 451 ce, Attila and his army of half a million men invaded Italy.8 His 
force included many tribes whose names and origins are obscure: Geloni from 
the Volga; Neuri and Bastarnae from Ukraine; Sciri from Odessa; Rugi from 
Pomerania; Bructeri from Wester; and Thuringi from Bavaria.9 Attila divided 
his vast army into smaller divisions to plunder cities and obtain provisions.

Aetius prepared to cross the Italian Alps to confront Attila in Gaul. He 
faced a major problem that frustrated his plan to defeat the Huns. A crop fail-
ure had caused food shortages throughout Europe.10 Consequently, he had to 
leave a significant part of his army behind to prevent riots. Then, his desper-
ate situation changed in his favor when his new emissary to the Visigoths, a 
man named Avitius, convinced Theodoric to join the Romans. Although The-
odoric had no inclination to oppose the Huns, he felt he had no choice since 
Attila’s vast horde was destroying much of his territory. With Theodoric’s 
Visigoths on his side, Aetius now had a good chance of defeating the Huns.

Aetius was a brilliant general. He had prepositioned supplies and equip-
ment throughout Gaul.11 This put Attila at a great disadvantage; his Huns and 
allies had to conduct lengthy sieges of towns to obtain food. Nevertheless, 
Attila was quite successful; his forays did not slow his advance. He attacked 
such important cities as Trier and Metz before unsuccessfully trying to cap-
ture Paris. Genevieve, the city’s patron saint, purportedly kept Attila’s forces 
away.12
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Aetius reached Orléans just as the Huns were ready to enter it. He de-
cided to make a strategic retreat to prevent Aetius from surrounding him. 
Attila captured Troyes while the Roman army pursued him. On June 19, 451 
ce, Aetius spotted Attila’s forces. The subsequent encounter between the two 
armies was one of the last major battles in Roman history. Despite its impor-
tance, we have no idea where it took place.

The Battle of the Catalaunian Plains

The legendary 451 ce confrontation between Aetius and Attila occurred 
at an unknown place the ancients referred to as the Catalaunian Plains.13 In 
1842 ce, a peasant discovered a skeleton with jewels, gold ornaments, and two 
swords at Pouan-les-Vallés (Aube) in north-central France. Many at the time 
believed this was the remains of Theodoric. Subsequent finds of bronze vases, 
weapons, and horse-trappings have convinced some this was the site of the 
famed encounter between the two greatest warriors of the time. Because the 
Romans and barbarians fought at many locations, we cannot be certain where 
Aetius and Attila tried to kill one another.

Jordanes records that the fighting took place on a flat plain with a ridge 
in its center. Aetius deployed his army to the west of the elevation; Attila and 
his men arrayed for battle east of the height.14 Attila positioned his most loyal 
men in the center of his line of troops; he assumed Aetius would do likewise. 
Aetius surprised Attila by using Hunnic tactics against him.

Because Aetius had spent time as a hostage with the Huns, he knew At-
tila would adopt the traditional Hunnic battle configuration and place his 
archers in the center of his formation. The task of these men was to confront 
advancing Roman soldiers armed with shields and swords. Aetius surprised 
Atilla by not following Roman custom: he commanded the left wing of his 
formation and placed his Alans in the center. When the battle began, Attila 
found himself facing Alan mercenaries armed with bows and arrows rather 
than Roman soldiers with swords and shields. Attila’s army momentarily 
paused when volleys of projectiles unexpectedly came towards them from 
the middle of the Roman line. This delay gave Aetius additional time to at-
tack Attila’s ranks. Then disaster occurred. Theodoric fell from his horse and 
landed upon a spear. His men panicked, trampling him as they fled.15

Theodoric’s son, Thorismund, did not know his father was dead. Later in 
the day, he led the decisive charge, forcing Attila and his men to flee. Aetius’s 
forces killed many Huns as they were wandering in the darkness trying to 
escape. Thorismund mistook Attila’s wagon lager for his camp. Attila’s men 
wounded him in the head and pulled him from his horse. Some of Thoris-
mund’s men rescued him. Aetius too lost his way, but he was fortunate to 
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stumble upon his Visigoth reinforcements rather than avenging Hunnic 
soldiers.

The next morning, Aetius and his men found Attila trapped in his camp. 
Aetius and Thorismund also realized Theodoric was missing. After an ex-
haustive search, the Romans found his body. They carried it away and hon-
ored him with songs while the Huns watched. Aetius’s men expected him to 
attack the vulnerable Attila. Then, to everyone’s surprise, Aetius went home.16

The Pope versus Attila

Attila now thought he could easily destroy the Western Roman Empire 
because Aetius and his men had given up. They were no longer willing to fight 
to preserve the Western Roman Empire; they were content to let God save it, 
if He wished. Attila was free to march into Italy unopposed. In late June, his 
forces reached the city of Aquileia. He had passed by it earlier because of its 
strong fortifications. Now, Attila excelled in the art siege warfare. There was 
no one to stop him.

After a three-month siege, the Huns were still outside Aquileia’s walls. 
Attila was ready to give up until he saw nesting storks carrying their young 
from the city. Convinced this was a divine sign of his forthcoming victory, 
he renewed his assault with greater vigor. Aquileia fell in late August or early 
September. Attila slaughtered its inhabitants.

If we are to believe Prosper Tiro’s account, Aetius contemplated leaving 
Italy to escape the Huns.17 Only shame kept him from doing so. He begged 
the Emperor Marcian in Constantinople to send reinforcements. Meanwhile, 
Attila captured and plundered many Italian cities. Priscus claims that when 
Attila entered Milan’s royal palace, he saw a portrait of Roman emperors with 
dead Scythians at their feet. Attila ordered an artist to add a depiction of 
himself to the painting seated on a royal dais with Roman sovereigns pouring 
sacks of gold at his feet.18

The Huns continued to destroy towns throughout Italy. According to one 
legend, Attila’s generals had urged him not to sack Rome. They believed the 
gods had cursed the city since Alaric had died shortly after he had plundered 
it.19 Attila had a major problem to overcome before he could besiege it. Fam-
ine and disease had prevented him from securing sufficient food for his men. 
Then, Marcian decided to help save the Western Roman Empire. He placed 
an officer name Flavius Aetius in charge of his forces.

The arrival of a second Flavius Aetius from the eastern court has con-
fused ancient and modern historians alike. Two inscriptions from Syria 
written after the death of the Galla Placidia’s general Flavius Aetius show the 
two commanders had the same name.20 Attila viewed the arrival of a second 
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Flavius Aetius as a bad omen. Fearing the gods had massed against him, he 
decided to leave Italy. His baggage train, booty, and prisoners greatly slowed 
down his march. This allowed the western Aetius to harass the retreating 
Huns from the rear while the eastern Aetius attacked them from the front. 
When Attila reached a tributary of the River Po in northern Italy, envoys 
from Valentinian III arrived. Then something inexplicable occurred that per-
plexes historians to the present day.

Pope Leo led the royal delegation that met Attila to beg him to leave 
Italy. Atilla considered Leo’s presence an honor. During the negotiation, At-
tila agreed to make peace with the Western Roman Empire if Valentinian III 
gave him land across the River Danube, Honoria, and considerable wealth. If 
not, he threatened to return and destroy the city of Rome as Alaric had. Then, 
after speaking with Pope Leo, Attila abruptly left Italy.21

Several ancient authors concocted fanciful stories to explain why Attila 
abandoned his quest to destroy the Western Roman Empire after meeting 
Pope Leo. According to one account, an angel in priestly robes with a sword 
threatened to kill him if he attacked Rome. The Renaissance artist Raphael 
painted this version of events in the Vatican’s papal apartments from 1512 to 
1514; it is a major tourist attraction.22

In 452 ce, Attila sent an embassy to Marcian warning him that he would 
sack his provinces the next year. Before he departed for the Eastern Roman 
Empire, Attila decided to add another wife to his sizable harem. He died 
during the wedding celebration. Some claimed he burst a blood vessel; others 
said he choked on his own vomit after he had passed out in a drunken stu-
por. His men buried him at a secret location. Three of his sons fought among 
themselves for his kingdom, thereby saving both the Western and the Eastern 
Roman Empires.23 Now that the Huns were no longer a threat, Aetius sent his 
Hunnic hostages home; the Huns reciprocated and returned Aetius’s son. Ae-
tius turned his attention to pacifying Spain. With the Western Roman Empire 
in chaos, he decided to seize power. Nevertheless, Galla Placidia from beyond 
the grave prevented him from doing so.

The End of Galla Placidia’s Dynasty

With Attila’s empire in shambles, and the tribes in Gaul pacified, Ae-
tius plotted to increase his power by determining the imperial succession. He 
wanted the emperor’s eldest daughter, Galla Placidia’s granddaughter Eudo-
cia, to marry his son, Gaudentius. This would make Aetius part of the The-
odosian family, and Gaudentius the next Western Roman emperor. Aetius 
planned to rule on his behalf like Galla Placidia had for her son. Galla Pla-
cidia’s daughter-in-law, Licinia Eudoxia, worked to frustrate Aetius’s plan. By 
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454 ce, she had convinced her husband that a member of Aetius’s staff named 
Majorian was best qualified to rule the Western Roman Empire. She proposed 
he marry their daughter, Placidia. Galla Placidia had arranged this union be-
fore her death to prevent Aetius from succeeding her son as emperor.24

The women of the royal family had underestimated Aetius’s influence 
over Valentinian III. Aetius forced Majorian to retire, move to his country es-
tate, and not marry the emperor’s daughter. According to one tradition, Aeti-
us’s wife, Pelagia, had played a role in removing Majorian from public office.25 
Now that Majorian was gone, Valentinian III consented to the betrothal of his 
daughter, Placidia, to Gaudentius. Then, another unexpected event occurred 
that altered the fate of the Western Roman Empire.

Many Romans feared Aetius’s growing influence. Having commanded 
the West’s army for twenty years, he had most of the powers of an emperor 
but not the royal title. His relationship with the Huns had been vital to the 
preservation of the Western Roman Empire. Now that the Huns were fighting 
among themselves and no longer a threat, many at the imperial court wanted 
to eliminate Aetius. Unfortunately, some prominent Romans were also plot-
ting to replace Valentinian III and end Galla Placidia’s dynasty. Of all those 
who hated the emperor and Aetius, none was more dangerous than a man 
named Petronius Maximus.

Petronius Maximus was a wealthy and influential Roman who loathed 
Valentinian III.26 Maximus had good reason to hate him. According to the 
historian Procopius, Valentinian III had fallen in love with Maximus’s wife. 
Valentinian III raped her. She told her husband; he vowed to kill the emperor.27

Enemies of Aetius convinced Valentinian III that he was plotting a coup. 
Valentinian III decided to murder Aetius in the royal palace away from his 
soldiers. On September 21 or 22, 454 ce, Aetius came to a previously arranged 
meeting to discuss imperial revenues.28 Valentinian III was on horseback. He 
jumped from his steed, accused Aetius of treason, and stabbed him. A eu-
nuch named Heraclius then struck Aetius in the head with a cleaver. Galla 
Placidia’s son ordered the body displayed in the forum. When Valentinian III 
sought public approval of the murder, an anonymous Roman told him “he 
had cut off his own right hand with the other.”29

Valentinian III gave Majorian a prominent military position to prevent 
any insurrection among the shocked troops. Then, Valentinian III surprised 
the army when he took direct command of the imperial forces. However, he 
had failed to realize that he had no standing among the soldiers since Aetius 
had led them for decades. Valentinian III regularly joined Aetius’s barbarian 
troops in their training exercises in an effort to win their support. He ap-
pointed two of them, Optila and Thraustila, his personal attendants. Unfor-
tunately, their loyalty extended only to their former general, and not to their 
current sovereign.
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Petronius Maximus, seeking revenge for the rape of his wife, convinced 
Optila and Thraustila to murder the emperor.30 They waited for him to join 
the troops for exercise. On March 16, 455 ce, after Valentinian III had dis-
mounted from his horse to practice archery, Optila struck him twice on the 
side of the head and killed him. The two assassins crowned Petronius Maxi-
mus the new monarch. There was no revolt: the army remained loyal to the 
memory of Aetius and did not lift a finger to defend Galla Placidia’s son.

The murder of the thirty-five-year-old Valentinian III ended the line 
of Theodosius the Great. Although he had many supporters, Maximus real-
ized that he had no lawful claim to the throne. Aetius’s soldiers, his barbar-
ian units, and some partisans of Valentinian III, regarded him as a usurper 
who was unqualified to lead. There is some evidence that part of the army 
supported a rival for the throne named Maximian, Aetius’s former atten-
dant.31 In a desperate bid to retain power, Maximus distributed money from 
the imperial treasury to influential Romans. Despite his best efforts to secure 
the loyalty of his citizens, it was impossible for him to purchase an imperial 
bloodline. Nevertheless, Maximus devised a plan he believed would stifle any 
opposition to his rule.

Maximus decided to portray his reign as the continuation of the Theo-
dosian dynasty. To accomplish this, he forced the empress Eudoxia, Valentin-
ian III’s widow, to marry him. He also made her daughter, Eudocia, break her 
engagement to Gaiseric’s son and wed his own son, Palladius. In a bid to win 
over the Senate, Maximus arranged for Valentinian III’s daughter, Placidia, 
to marry the influential senator Olybrius. His scheme worked: Maximus be-
came the next Western Roman emperor.32

The empress Eudoxia was unhappy as the wife of her former husband’s 
assassin. She was also angry that Maximus had made her daughter, who was 
also Galla Placidia’s granddaughter, wed his son to continue the Theodosian 
dynasty. Eudoxia also likely feared for her safety. In a desperate bid for sup-
port, she decided to imitate Galla Placidia’s daughter Honoria and seek assis-
tance from a barbarian. She appealed to Vandal king Gaiseric for assistance.

Eudoxia assumed that Gaiseric would help her since he had made a 
treaty with Aetius and Valentinian III. Unfortunately, Gaiseric believed the 
deaths of Aetius and Valentinian III voided his arrangement with Galla Pla-
cidia’s family. He decided to take advantage of the political turmoil there and 
destroy the Western Roman Empire.33

The End of the Western Empire

The Romans knew the end of the Western Roman Empire had ar-
rived when they spotted Vandal ships approaching the city of Portus, on the 
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Tiber River, where Rome’s officials stored the city’s grain shipments.34 Gai-
seric seized it and cut off much of Rome’s food supply. He also destroyed 
the city’s aqueducts to deprive its inhabitants of water. Many citizens fled the 
approaching Vandal onslaught. Maximus was among them; he tried to escape 
on a horse. When the crowd recognized their emperor leaving the city and 
abandoning them to the oncoming Vandal horde, someone hit him on the 
head with a rock. The impact threw him from his mount. Rioters decapitated 
him and tore his body apart.35

On June 2, 455 ce, Gaiseric entered the city of Rome without encounter-
ing armed opposition. Imperial legions guarding the gates had deserted their 
posts. Only one official confronted the Vandals—Pope Leo. The courageous 
leader of the Western church begged the Vandal leader not to sack Rome as 
Alaric had. Unlike Attila, Gaiseric had no respect for the papal office. Yet, he 
agreed to one concession. Gaiseric promised not to destroy the city or mur-
der its inhabitants if they surrendered. Leo agreed; the Romans opened the 
city’s gates to the Vandal forces. Gaiseric entered the city; however, he did not 
keep his promise to protect it and its inhabitants.

Gaiseric’s army plundered the city for fourteen days and killed count-
less of its inhabitants. He also captured many Romans and sold them for a 
large profit in North Africa’s slave markets. According to legend, Gaiseric also 
stole the religious artifacts Alaric had left behind. Gaiseric purportedly trans-
ported them to North Africa; their whereabouts remains a mystery.36

Gaiseric took the Empress Licinia Eudoxia, Valentinians III’s widow, 
and Galla Placidia’s grandchildren, Eudocia and Placidia, along with Aetius’s 
son, Gaudentius, captive. He brought them to Carthage.37 Once there, Gai-
seric forced Eudocia to marry his son Huneric. The Eastern Roman emperor 
Marcian unsuccessfully tried to obtain their release. He was unsuccessful. 
Placidia eventually married the senator Olybrius. Eudocia bore a son named 
Hilderic, who later became the last king of the Vandals.38

In 462 ce, after having been captives for nearly seven years, Gaiseric 
released Galla Placidia’s granddaughters, Eudocia and Placidia. He did so at 
the request of the new Eastern Roman Emperor Leo I (a.k.a. “the Thracian”; 
457–74 ce), who had paid a considerable ransom for them.39 They spent their 
remaining days in Galla Placidia’s estate in Constantinople. Placidia’s hus-
band, Olybrius, became emperor of the Western Roman Empire for a few 
months in 472 ce; however, he was merely a puppet ruler of a Roman general 
of Germanic descent named Ricimer. A few insignificant men claimed the 
title of Western Roman emperor until 476 ce when a soldier named Odo-
acer removed the last of them, a teenager named Romulus Augustulus, from 
office. Odoacer became the first barbarian king of Italy.40 The glory days of 
the Roman Empire were nothing but a distant memory. The barbarians now 
ruled Europe.
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Gaiseric’s sack of Rome marked the actual end of Western Roman Em-
pire. The Vandals destroyed most of its remaining monuments. Since then, 
the city’s forum has remained a ruin. Only a few traces of the buildings Galla 
Placidia knew are visible. None of the historical markers in the Forum, ad-
jacent to the famed Colosseum, mentions her; consequently, tourists learn 
nothing about her achievements or that she once ruled the Western Roman 
Empire. Few know her name. As for her physical remains, the church she 
spent much of her life protecting desecrated them.
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The Desecration of Galla 
Placidia’s Corpse

Honorius did something unprecedented that caused Galla Placidia to 
rebury her first child in Rome. He had constructed a circular domed build-
ing attached to the southern transept of the original St. Peter’s Basilica as his 
family’s crypt. Known as the Santa Petronilla, it contained the graves of Galla 
Placidia’s husband, Constantius III, her half-brother, Honorius, and his two 
wives, Maria and Thermantia.1 Honorius’s decision to construct this imperial 

Ceiling mosaic in the Mausoleum of Galla Placidia, Ravenna (Sibeaster/Free-Im-
ages.com).
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mausoleum adjoining the transept of St. Peter’s Basilica was significant. Al-
though today the papal tombs beneath this church are a popular tourist site, 
her family preceded the popes in placing their dead in proximity to Saint 
Peter’s remains.2

We know little about this mausoleum, which Honorius had built be-
tween 400 and 408 ce because Pope Julius II destroyed it in the sixteenth cen-
tury ce, the time of Michelangelo, along with most of the original St. Peter’s 
Basilica. He did so to construct the present church that sits atop of the site in 
today’s papal enclave known as the Vatican City. In 1544 ad, during the dem-
olition of the original sanctuary, workers discovered the burial of Honorius’s 
first wife, Maria. Her coffin contained nearly 180 items of jewelry, some with 
her name inscribed on them.3 We can assume that Galla Placidia buried her 
son Theodosius therein with similar treasures.

Although many tourists assume Galla Placidia rests in the mausoleum in 
Ravenna that bears her name, there is no ancient evidence that she was bur-
ied in it. She had built it to house Theodosius’s remains until she died. Then, 
she expected the infant’s bones to be moved to Rome to rest alongside her 
burial.4 When Pope Leo granted her request for her son’s coffin to be placed 
in St. Peter’s Basilica, there was no need for her Ravenna mausoleum. It was 

Drawing of the original St. Peter’s Basilica as it appeared in 1450 C.E. The two 
round buildings attached to the left side of the church are the Mausoleum of 
Honorius (top) and the Oratory of Saint Andrew (bottom). Galla Placidia was 
buried in the former structure until workers removed her grave and that of her 
son, Theodosius, on June 27, 1548 (Wikimedia Commons).
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put to other uses. The tradition that Galla Placidia was interred in Ravenna 
developed between the 840s and the 1260s ce to enhance the city’s prestige by 
creating a pilgrimage site in her honor.5

Galla Placidia undoubtedly spent her final years preparing her future 
burial spot adjacent to her firstborn son in the family’s mausoleum adjacent 
to Saint Peter’s Basilica, the Santa Petronilla. She certainly supervised the 
carving of her coffin. No expense would have been spared to prepare for the 
burial of a queen who had saved the Western Roman Empire. Unfortunately, 
neither she nor her son rested in peace.

On June 27, 1458, C.E., gravediggers dismantling the Santa Petronilla to 
erect the present St. Peter’s Basilica uncovered a marble sarcophagus weigh-
ing 832 pounds.6 It contained two cypress caskets adorned with eleven carats 
of silver; each had a cross on its lid showing they were Christian burials. The 
largest coffin contained the remains of an adult; the smaller held the bones 
of a child. A gold cloth weighing sixteen pounds covered both bodies. Those 
present assumed the adult was a male because of its splendid burial. They 
identified him as Constantine the Great, and the infant as one of his sons. Yet, 
Galla Placidia’s son is the only child buried in her family’s mausoleum. These 
remains are certainly those of her and her firstborn son, Theodosius. We do 
not know what happened to them.7 Perhaps Galla Placidia still lies some-
where beneath the floor of Saint Peter’s basilica close to the tomb of Saint 
Peter, beneath the high altar where the Pope presides over the mass. If so, al-
though her Church has forgotten her, countless Christians may unknowingly 
pray over her remains daily.
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